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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, each a “Director”)
of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

With the development of financial technology propelled by the interest
in and demand for fintech solutions, global investors began to look for
opportunities in this market. Fintech investments continue to rapidly
gain scale with a steady growth. In view of this, the Group optimised
the infrastructures supporting its core business, iAsia Online Systems
Limited, to enable more flexible and cost-effective applications for
various financial products and retail solutions in online trading, front-
end trading and back-office settlement systems. Going forward,
the Group is confident about the prospects of new technology and
innovation in the provision of financial services in Hong Kong. The
emerging fintech hub will accelerate the development of technological
companies and simultaneously boost the fintech ecosystem in Hong
Kong.

The introduction of Shanghai and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock
Connects (“Stock Connect”) in the past few years has enhanced
the connectivity and accessibility between the stock markets in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong. The expanded
list of stocks eligible for the Stock Connect offers international and
Hong Kong investors with direct access to most stocks traded in
the PRC, allowing institutional investors to execute their investment
strategies more flexibly, thus strengthening Hong Kong’s role as the
global hub for offshore Renminbi business. Followed by a broadened
investors’ database, the solid foundation of the Stock Connect will
offer our clients a broader investment scope and new investment
incentives, and the Group will also benefit from a larger investor base
and increased sales performance.

The improving business environment in recent years has provided a
great opportunity for the Group to generate business growth. As our
money lending business saw a steady upward trend and recorded
positive income, the Group will allocate more resources and recruit
more talents to further strengthen this segment performance.

Tapping into the future, the Group will continue to effectively allocate
its resources and diversify its investment portfolio. The Group will
strive for achieving sustainable growth through implementation of
cautious control policies to improve its risk management capabilities.
The Group will also keep on creating effective strategic plans to
maximise its growth and seeking new potential business opportunities
to diversify its business segments and risks.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREE

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
thanks to our shareholders, business partners and customers for their
continuous support and trust. | would also like to extend my gratitude
to all our staff for their dedications and commitment. We will endure
to make effort to deliver better performance for the benefit of our
shareholders.

Chan Wai Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2017 (“Year”), the Group was
principally engaged in the provision of financial trading software
solutions, provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services, provision of referral services, money lending business
and assets investments in Hong Kong. During the Year, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company held the license in respect of type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).
The Group’s provision of design and fitting-out services was regarded
as discontinued operations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of financial trading software solutions

During the Year, the financial trading software solutions business
division remained as the key source of income of the Group. The
segment revenue from external customers contributed by the Group’s
principal operating subsidiary, iAsia Online Systems Limited (“iAsia”)
amounted to approximately HK$51,455,000 (2016: approximately
HK$52,692,000), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$1,237,000 or 2.3%. As a result of the decrease in revenue, the
profit before tax generated by this business segment decreased
from approximately HK$20,996,000 in 2016 to approximately
HK$20,754,000 in 2017.

With the implementation of the Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”)
by the Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development
Council in 2017, financial institutions have begun to collect information
from investors and are expected to report to the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department in 2018 to facilitate the commencement of
information exchange by the end of the same year. iAsia has taken
the opportunity to enhance its system to comply with the CRS
requirements and to attract more customers, such as adding the
fields for jurisdiction of residence and Tax Identification Number. The
Group will grasp the opportunity and continue to look for potential
customers.

The transition of system interface from China Connect Open Gateway
to China Connect Central Gateway by the Stock Exchange requires
the customers of iAsia to upgrade their system interface by the
first quarter of 2018 so as to connect to the testing and production
environments of Stock Connect. iAsia will capture such business
opportunity and provide professional and reliable services to its clients
during the system upgrade process.

By focusing on the development and consolidation of its technology
strength, the Group will continue to explore new business opportunities
and increase our income streams from both existing and potential
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

Provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services

During the Year, the provision of other IT and internet financial
platform services business division contributed a segment revenue
from external customers and recorded a loss of approximately
HK$275,000 (2016: HK$1,226,000) and approximately HK$3,934,000
(2016: approximately HK$5,187,000) respectively. In order to improve
the sales performance of this business division, the Group started to
diversify the provision of other IT services, such as providing system
migration services to new customers, during the Year. The Group
will seize opportunities to diversify the client base of its other IT
services and internet financial platforms services business in order to
strengthen its competitiveness in the industry.

Provision of referral services

During the Year, no contract was made under the referral services
business division and no revenue was generated as a result (2016:
HK$2,500,000). The Group will keep exploring new business
opportunities, and identifying quality investments with good potentials
to attract clients to improve the financial results of this business
division.

Provision of corporate finance advisory services

On 13 October 2016, the Group and an independent third party
purchaser entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to dispose of 5,000,000
ordinary shares of Brilliant Corporate Finance Limited (“BCFL”)
(formerly known as “Nine Rivers Corporate Finance Limited”),
representing the entire issued shares of BCFL at the consideration
of HK$2,300,000, subject to adjustment according to the sale and
purchase agreement. BCFL holds the license in respect of type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO
and the completion of sale and purchase is subject to, among other
things, the approval from the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong in relation to the change of substantial shareholder of
BCFL. Following the lapse of the sale and purchase agreement, the
Group has decided to re-commence its provision of corporate finance
advisory services business. The Group is recruiting qualified staff to
re-commence its provision of corporate finance advisory services
business, and thus the results of operations of this business segment
previously presented in discontinued operations will be re-classified
and included in the results of continuing operations for all financial
periods presented in this annual report.

During the Year, no contract was made under the corporate finance
advisory services business division and no revenue was generated as
a result (2016: HK$330,000). A loss of approximately HK$1,000,000
(2016: approximately HK$1,399,000) was recorded as a result of the
administrative costs of operations of this business division.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Money lending business

During the Year, revenue derived from the money lending
business division amounted to approximately HK$4,519,000
(2016: approximately HK$935,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$3,584,000 or 383.3%. This business segment
recorded profit before tax of approximately HK$195,000 during the
Year (2016: approximately HK$577,000). The interest rate charged
to customers during the Year ranged from 8.0% per annum to 13.0%
per annum. No default event had occurred as of the date of this
annual report and no provision for the impairment of loans receivable
was considered necessary during the Year.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had advanced HK$26,590,000
to independent third party borrowers (31 December 2016:
HK$36,420,000). As most of the loans advanced to customers had
matured prior to the end of the reporting period, the total interest
income generated during the Year increased despite the decrease in
the total advanced loans receivable balance at 31 December 2017 by
HK$9,830,000 as compared to the balance at 31 December 2016.

The management believes that the money lending business can
generate stable revenue and profit to the Group and it is in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders (“Shareholders”)
as a whole to expand the money lending business and devote
more financial resources to this business. The Group will continue
to maintain a prudent credit control strategy so as to balance the
growth and risk management of its money lending business. The
management believes that money lending will remain a sustainable
business sector of the Group.

Properties investments

During the Year, the principal properties investments of the Group
were two retail shops located in the residential area of Siu Sai Wan,
Hong Kong. During the Year, rental income of HK$636,000 was
generated (2016: approximately HK$724,000).

In the future, it is expected that the portfolio of the Group’s properties
investment will generate stable recurring income and cash flows to
the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the investment
properties was HK$18,990,000, representing approximately 7.7% of
the Group’s total assets and approximately 36.2% of the Group’s total
investments (which was defined as the aggregate carrying amounts
of investment properties, investments in associates, investment in a
joint venture, available-for-sale investments and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss), at the end of the Year.

Securities investments

The Group’s securities investments portfolio comprised investments
in listed securities. During the Year, no dividend income from invested
securities was received (2016: HK$130,000). A net fair value loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$3,418,000 (2016: approximately HK$3,226,000) was recognised
from the Group’s securities investments. The volatile market
conditions have led to the fair value loss during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s securities investments
recorded as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at

31 December 2017:

Movements during the year ended
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31 December 2017
BE-2-tETACT-AL
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Number of Number of
shares held shares held
and % of total and % oftotal ~ Percentageto  Percentage to
share capital share capital the Group’s the Group’s
Carrying held by the Carrying held by the auditednet  audited total
amount as at Group as at amount as at Group as at assets as at assets as at
31 December 31 December Addition/ Realised ~ 31December ~ 31December 31 December 31 December
Description of investments 2016 2016 (disposal) gain/(loss) 2017 2017 2017 2017
RZB-7F R=8-t§
tZp=1-8 tZB=1-A s 3] YTS 3]
RZB-RE EN BEN  RIE-tE MCE-iE
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REf MEEE SRANESR (H&) W&/ (58 WEEE SRANESRL  FENEA SEENEAM
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TEn T TEn TR
(Approximate) ~ (Approximate] ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)
(#4) (8tén) (H4) (B4) (#4) (#4) (#4) (#4)
Xinhua News Media Holdings Limited ~ $1ZEB AR EIRARD 1978 8,600,000 (3,029) 1,051 - - - -
(Stock Code: 309) (Xinhua') noteg) ~ (BRIARS : 309) (I3 5 J) shares (0.63%)
.//%Jﬁ?'&/]
IR Resources Limited (Stock Code: 8186) [l é/ﬁﬁ F< (RERS : 1,363 23,500,000 5,339/2,143) (4559) - - - -
['R") (noted b) 8186)([ ,"/7/’/317/ shares (0.68%)
China -Walet Payment Group Limted ~ #E A% FEBERD 9,880 15,200,000 (8764) (1,116) - - - -
(Stock Code: 802) (‘China e-Walet) — (RIAR% : BOZWF ?z al) shares (0.65%)
(noted¢) (Hite)
Tianyun Interational Holdings Limted ~~ RBELEERBRAR (RO : 2,000 2,500,000 (1,849) (159) - - - -
(Stock Code: 6836) (Tianyun’) (note @)~ 6836) ([ K& J,"/?/fifd/ shares (0.25%)
Sino Vision Workdwide Holdngs Limted - &SR ARAR A 454 3,440,000 (4r9) % - - - -
(formerly known as ‘DX.com Holdings ~ (FFEDX com{ARAER A ) shares (0.15%)
Limited") (Stock Code: 8086) (*Sino’) (RIDASS - 8086) ([ 374 ))
(oted ¢) (W)
Universe Intemational Financial Holdings ~ £ B £ BERARLA - - 6.94818927) 1979 - - - -
Limited (Stock Code: 1046) (‘Universe’) Hﬂ% 1046) [ B%))
(note ] (W)
First Credit Finance Group Limited (Stoc 1 ﬁénﬂ%[ﬁ - - 18590/(19821) 1231 - . - -
Code; 8215) (First Credlt’) (note g) RiAHH - 8215 W
/%’Eg/
China Green (Holdings) Limited (Stock B BR& (1) ERAF - - 1,400/304) (1,006) - - - -
Code: 904) (‘China Green’) (note h) (RARE:o04)
([hESERR )W)
InvesTech Holdings Limited (Stock Code: - AIERARAA "V‘ﬁﬁi - - 1,390/(509) (887) - - - -
1087) (‘InvesTech’) fnote ) 1087 ‘(%H 1))
Tech Pro Technology Development Limited BRI EEEER A (RHRSE :
(Stock Code: 3823) (Tech Pro’) (note )~ 3823)([BE]) M) - - 8,960/(9,062) 102 - - - -
Hong Kong Exchangesand Clearing ~~ EAR ZREEFERD
Limited (Stock Code: 388) (HKEX) (RIARS: - 388)
(ote k) ([BER A k) - - 274/281) 7 - - - -
Bank of China Limited (Stock Code: 3988) #ESIRHARARRIMRE :
('B0C’) (nots ) 3988)([REURA ) Hizry) - - 212/210) @ - - - -
Total: @5 15,675 (12,057) (3418) -
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Notes:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Xinhua and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of cleaning
and related services for office buildings, public areas and residential areas,
provision of publicly broadcasting information and advertisements on television
screens services, provision of non-incineration medical waste handling
services for hospitals and provision of organic waste treatment and sale of
the by-products produced. The Group disposed of all its investment in Xinhua
during the Year and recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$1,051,000.

IR and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) forestry and agricultural
business; (i) financial services business; and (iii) resources and logistics
business. The Group disposed of all its investment in IR during the Year and
recorded a realised loss of HK$4,559,000.

China e-Wallet and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of biometric and RFID (a technology for data acquisition by way of radio
frequency between transponders and a host system) products and solution
services, internet and mobile application and related services. The Group
disposed of all its investment in China e-Wallet during the Year and recorded
a realised loss of approximately HK$1,116,000.

Tianyun and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of processed fruits products and fresh fruits. The Group disposed of
all its investment in Tianyun during the Year and recorded a realised loss of
HK$152,000.

Sino and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the businesses of
e-commerce and provision of online sales platform via its B2C foreign
trade e-commerce website, namely DX.com. The Group disposed of all
its investment in Sino during the Year and recorded a realised gain of
approximately HK$24,000.

Universe and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities brokerage
and margin financing, money lending, leasing of investment properties and
securities investment, video distribution and exhibition, licensing and sub-
licensing of film rights, trading, wholesaling and retailing of optical products,
watches and jewellery products. The Group disposed of all its investment
in Universe during the Year and recorded a realised gain of approximately
HK$1,979,000.

First Credit and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the money lending
business solely in Hong Kong through the provision of both secured and
unsecured loans to its customers, including individuals, corporations and
foreign domestic workers. The Group disposed of all its investment in
First Credit during the Year and recorded a realised gain of approximately
HK$1,231,000.

China Green and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the growing,
processing and sales of agricultural products, and production and sales of
consumer food products. The Group disposed of all its investment in China
Green during the Year and recorded a realised loss of HK$1,096,000.

InvesTech and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
network system integration including provision of network infrastructure
solutions, network professional services and mobile internet software of
office automation, and trading of telecommunications equipment. The Group
disposed of all its investment in InvesTech during the Year and recorded a
realised loss of approximately HK$887,000.

THBEWE S

MEREMBAREIRZNRERRAETANE  ARMETR
EEHEREERREERY - RENERFEAKE
HEMKES 2R - RBREHIENGEERENRR

RBRRHEEREDRERHEMEENEER - A
KENFAEENHEN 2 EPREWFFCERMEY

1,051,000/ 7T °

REREWNBRAREZMROME REEER ()RR
ﬁ%%ﬁ% &III ﬁ/ﬁ&%mu%ﬁ% K‘igﬁ’\imﬁ%ﬁ\ﬂ
TR 2 I E W IXE O B IR E184,559,000/8 7T °

FEEGREKBAREENBREEYWHA KT EH
BI(RFID) (—TE 7 589 85 23 B & 245 2 R M) 5T SR 1R Il
BT ERBAN RRY - EHARFHRERRERR
FEERS - AEBERFALERREERNEHIREN
RSO IR E18491,116,00078 7T

RELEMBAREERFMIKRERKIE KRN
HERES AEBERFAHERRBHEMERE LS
SEZREE152,0008 7T -

@R EMNBAREEREE FHBERRBEBEB2C
SNBE TR DX.comie it @ EIHEF A& - AEER
iﬂq.‘ﬁ%h"\%ﬁi&mi\ BRI A I B 15 B # 3R U2 £924,000

EFRENBAREENEESKLCRTERE - K
- REMERERFEFRE - BB REME - RE
&@?ﬁaﬁg;ﬁ&%l»/(&tgéuu ERRUBEERES -
o AEBERFRNHERBEFH2MPIRE W
1%5“}—,%”51 #5#91,979,0008 7T °

FE—EAREMBRAREZNEERBBNREETS -
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BIEAER c AEERFALERNE—EANZIRE
W RIS B IR EE 491,231,000/ 7T

TRgFERMRAMBARIENEEE MIRHEE
RERMREEREEEEERM - AKRERFALE
WG ER RN ERE WS E # I EE1,096,000
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BAREMBAREIZEXFREBERFAES 2R
HBEERERRATR  ARIERBRNAEZED
{ERB B EMAEHIARBEBEEERE -  REERFER
HE R B R 2 3018 B I 8715 B B 35 518 49887,0007%8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

Tech Pro and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of LED lighting products and accessories, provision of energy efficiency
projects services, provision of property sub-leasing services and operating a
professional football club. The Group disposed of all its investment in Tech Pro
during the Year and recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$102,000.

HKEX is a recognised exchange controller under the SFO. HKEX and its
subsidiaries operate the only recognised stock and futures markets in Hong
Kong. The Group disposed of all its investment in HKEX during the Year and
recorded a realised gain of HK$7,000.

BOC and its subsidiaries provide a range of banking and related financial
services, including commercial banking, investment banking, insurance, direct
investment and investment management, fund management and aircraft
leasing business. The Group disposed of all its investment in BOC during the
Year and recorded a realised loss of approximately HK$2,000.

The Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong will
remain volatile which may affect the performance of the Group’s
securities investments. The Board believes that the performance of
the securities investments of the Group will be dependent on the
financial and operating performance of the investee companies and
market sentiment, which are affected by factors such as interest rate
movements and performance of the macro economy. The Group will
continue to adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of
listed securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor
the performance of its securities investment portfolio.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017
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Other investments

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had the following material

investments:

(@

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TR BT B

Available-for-sale investments (“AFS”)

Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s AFS as at

31 December 2017:

Hiir&

"E

(a) TRHAERE([TRLHERE])

RAT R E R AR

Movements during the year ended 31 December 2017

BECE-LETCAST-DLEENED

RIZE—tF+-A=+—RH AEEFTIEKX

TXHEIIAERR -_B—F+-A=+—H

Net fair value Percentageto  Percentage to
change the Group’s the Group’s
Carrying transferred Carrying auditednet  audited total
amount as at toinvestment  amount as at assets as at assets as at
31 December Gain on Impairment revaluation 31 December  31December 31 December
Description of investments 2016 Disposal disposal loss reserve 2017 2017 2017
fa&E Ha5E
RIB-t§  HI3-tf
RZB-AF EZREER  W-®-tF TZASt-B tZREt-B
tZA=t-H RENATEE TZA=t-A fENEE EEUAEEN
REfL MEEE i HERE HEEE 2538 WEEE  FENEAL Bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T FERL T TEn FERL T
(Approximate) ~ (Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)
(#4) (#47) (#41) (§40) (#47) (#4) (#49) (#40)
China Parenting Network Holdings ~ #EI& R R ERAT 41510 - - (25,137) 6,450) 9923 48% 40%
Limited (Stock Cod: 8361) (RHRE - 8361)
(CPN') fnote ) ([hEERER )W)
(G&C International Healthcare (G&C International Healthcare 24,71 (25,500) 1,229 - - - - -
Group Limited (‘C8C") fnofed) ~ Group Limited ([ C8C))
()
Promising Social Media Private ~ Promising Social Media Private 3,500 - - (3,500 - - - -
Equity Fund (*Social Media Equity Fund ([ Social Media
Fund') fote i Fund ) (Hystii)
Bluestone International Investments - Bluestone International 1,250 - - - - 1,250 06% 0.5%
Co., Ltd (‘Bluestone”) (note iv) Investments Co., Ltd
(TBluestone ) A2t
Totel: & 70531 (25,500) 1,29 28,637) (6,450) 1,173

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

Notes:

()

(i)

(i)

This investment represented 16,538,000 shares of CPN (“CPN
Shares”), being approximately 1.61% of the total issued shares of CPN
as at 31 December 2017. CPN together with its subsidiaries (“CPN
Group”) operate an online platform focusing on the CBM (children,
babies, and maternity) market in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
and is mainly engaged in (i) provision of marketing and promotional
service and (i) e-commerce business. In view of the significant and
prolonged decline in the market value of CPN Share which fell below
its carrying amount during the Year, the fair value loss on CPN
Shares of approximately HK$31,587,000 was transferred to the
investment revaluation reserve of the Group in the statement of other
comprehensive income, of which approximately HK$25,137,000 was
impaired and reclassified from the statement of other comprehensive
income to the statement of profit or loss for the Year. As disclosed
in the third quarterly report of the CPN Group for the period ended
30 September 2017, the CPN Group will continue to provide users
with diversified services and be committed to upgrade in the mother-
child industry based on smart family lifestyle. The Company also noted
that CPN has resubmitted a formal application to the Stock Exchange
on 10 October 2017 for the transfer of the listing of its shares from the
GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company expects
that the Main Board trading platform will enhance the trading liquidity of
the CPN Shares and will ultimately contribute to increasing shareholder
value. As such, the Company will continue to hold the CPN Shares until
opportunities in realising its investment in the CPN Shares arise.

This investment represented 500 shares of C&C, being 5% of the entire
issued share capital of C&C, acquired by the Group at a consideration
of HK$24,271,000 in July 2016 pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement dated 18 July 2016. C&C and its group companies (“‘C&C
Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of contracted medical
schemes for integrated medical and healthcare check-up services.
The customers of the C&C Group are corporate clients, which have
engaged the C&C Group to provide the medical schemes mainly in
Hong Kong so as to allow the employees of such corporate clients
to seek medical and healthcare services offered by the network of
the C&C Group. C&C is an investment holding company. Premium
Healthcare (Asia-Pacific) Limited and its subsidiaries are the principal
operating subsidiaries of C&C. On 16 March 2017, the Group and
Major Bright Holdings Limited (as purchaser), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of New Ray Medicine International Holding Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 6108) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to acquire the Group’s entire
interest of C&C, being 5% of the issued share capital of C&C, at a
cash consideration of HK$25,500,000 (“C&C Disposal”). The Directors
considered that the C&C Disposal represented a good opportunity to
realise the Group’s return from the investment in the C&C. The C&C
Disposal was completed on 16 March 2017 and the Group ceased to
hold any interest in C&C. As a result, a gain on disposal of available-
for-sale investment of HK$1,229,000 was recognised during the Year.
Further details of the C&C Disposal are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 16 March 2017.

This represented the Group’s investment in Social Media Fund, which
is a private fund with investment focusing in the field of social media.
The Group subscribed for approximately 360 participating shares
(“Social Media Share(s)”) out of a total of 4,990,000 participating shares
available for subscription in the Social Media Fund at the offering price
of HK$9,723.399 per Social Media Share. Due to the uncertainty in the
prospect of this investment, it is considered that the probability to fully
recover the Group’s investment in Social Media Fund would be remote.
As a result, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in Social
Media Fund was fully impaired during the Year.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017

Bt -

(i

(i)

ZILE R B B A4S H916,538,000% A% 17 ([
HERBERN ) —E—tE+-A=+—
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(b)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(iv)  As at 31 December 2017, the Group held 6,250 shares of Bluestone,
being approximately 3% of the entire issued share capital of Bluestone.
Bluestone is an unlisted company principally engaged in the provision
of integrated financial services. Looking ahead, the Group anticipates to
capture capital gain through the disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in Bluestone when opportunities arise.

Except for the investment in CPN which is measured at fair
value, the remaining AFS are carried at cost less impairment. No
dividend income was received from the AFS during the Year.

Investment in an associate - Four Directions
Investment Limited (“FDIL”)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group held 100% interests in
DSE Cayman Limited (“DSE”), which in turn held approximately
26.87% equity interest in FDIL (together with its subsidiaries, the
“FDIL Group”). Through the investment in the FDIL Group which
are principally engaged in the provision of services in relation to
information technology, smartphone applications development
and digital marketing and the development of information
technology applications, the Group has expanded and diversified
its investment into the information technology industry in respect
of the development of smartphone applications.

During the Year, the loss of FDIL shared by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$7,229,000 (2016: share of
profit of approximately HK$2,190,000). Taking into account
the fact that the loss of FDIL for the Year was mainly due to
the provision of doubtful trade receivables, which is also an
indicator for the impairment assessment on the Group’s interest
in FDIL, as a result, an impairment on the Group’s investment
in FDIL of approximately HK$9,179,000 was recognised during
the Year. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to monitor
the operations of FDIL for the improvement of its financial
performance.

Update on profit guarantee

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
11 December 2015 (“FDIL Announcement”), pursuant to an
agreement dated 11 December 2015 (“FDIL Agreement”)
entered into among DSE, FDIL, Four Directions Holdings Limited
(“Seller”) and five individuals who were the then directors and
some of the then individual beneficial shareholders of the Seller
(“Guarantors”), (i) if the aggregate of the audited consolidated net
profits of the FDIL Group for the financial years ended 31 March
2016 and 31 March 2017 (“2016-2017 Aggregate Profit”) is less
than HK$23,451,196, the Guarantors and the Seller shall jointly
and severally refund to DSE an amount calculated in accordance
with the formula as disclosed in the FDIL Announcement (“2017
Refund”); and (i) if the amount of the 2017 Refund exceeds
the consideration payable by DSE to the Seller for its purchase
of certain FDIL shares in the amount of HK$6,662,333 (“Sale
Price”), the Seller shall pay the amount exceeded by way of
transferring such number of shortfall shares (“Shortfall Shares”)
to DSE calculated in accordance with the formula as disclosed
in the FDIL Announcement.

(b)

THBEWE S
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

(c)

Since the 2016-2017 Aggregate Profit of FDIL Group in the
amount of HK$16,992,785 was less than HK$23,451,196,
pursuant to the FDIL Agreement, the Seller has (i) paid DSE the
cash portion of the 2017 Refund in the amount of HK$6,662,333
(oeing a cap equal to the Sale Price of HK$6,662,333 stipulated
in the FDIL Agreement); and (ji) transferred to DSE 461 Shortfall
Shares (calculated in accordance with the formula as disclosed
in the FDIL Announcement), as the 2017 Refund in the amount
of HK$9,240,908 (calculated in accordance with the formula as
disclosed in the FDIL Announcement) exceeded the Sale Price
of HK$6,662,333.

Pursuant to certain reorganisation steps (“Reorganisation
Steps”) conducted by (i) DSE, (i) the Group (being the then
92.5% shareholder of DSE) and (i) an independent third party
(“Former Shareholder”, who was the then 7.5% shareholder
of DSE and a shareholder having direct interests in FDIL), DSE
repurchased from the Former Shareholder his shares in DSE on
29 March 2017, such that the Group held 100% of the entire
issued shares of DSE upon the completion of the Reorganisation
Steps.

In light of the Former Shareholder’s entitlement to the 2017
Refund (if any) through his interest in FDIL through DSE prior to
the Reorganisation Steps, and his direct interests in FDIL, DSE
passed on the relevant portion of the 2017 Refund to the Former
Shareholder as if he were a 7.5% shareholder of DSE.

Accordingly, the Group was entitled to 92.5% of the 2017
Refund, comprising (i) the cash portion of the 2017 Refund in the
amount of approximately HK$6,163,000; and (i) 427 Shortfall
Shares. As a result, a profit guarantee income of approximately
HK$6,163,000 was recognised during the Year. Further details
of the FDIL Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 11 December 2015.

Investment in a joint venture - Sky View Investment
Limited (“Sky View?”), and information on the
Contractual Arrangements of Rolaner International
Limited (“Rolaner”), its subsidiaries and Rong Lang (as
defined below) (collectively “Rolaner Group”)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group held 49% interest in Sky
View, which is the holding company of approximately 22%
interests in Rolaner acquired under the Rolaner Subscription
Agreement (as defined below).

During the Year, the Group shared the loss of Sky View
of approximately HK$19,202,000 (2016: approximately
HK$3,489,000). The loss of the joint venture primarily
represented (i) the impairment loss on its investment in Rolaner
recorded by the joint venture by comparing the recoverable
amount estimated using value-in-use with the carrying amount
of its interest in Rolaner; and (i) the operating losses of Rolaner
for the Year shared by the joint venture. In light of the market
potentials in the medical beauty industry in the PRC, the Group
will continue to hold its interest in Sky View and aim to enjoy the
economic benefits of the businesses of the Rolaner Group in the
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 20 February 2016, Sky View, Winrange Investments Limited
(“Winrange”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Amber Rose Holdings Limited (“Amber Rose”) entered into
an agreement (“Sky View Subscription Agreement”) for the
subscription of ordinary shares of Sky View (“Sky View Shares”)
by Winrange and Amber Rose respectively. Pursuant to the
Sky View Subscription Agreement, Winrange and Amber Rose
have agreed to subscribe for 390 Sky View Shares and 510
Sky View Shares at the subscription price of US$4,948,900
and US$5,151,000 respectively. Completion of the Sky View
Subscription Agreement took place immediately after its signing,
and Winrange has become interested in 49% of the issued
share capital of Sky View and Sky View became a joint venture
of Winrange and Amber Rose.

After completion of the Sky View Subscription Agreement, on
20 February 2016, Sky View, Rolaner, Ace Choice Ventures
Limited, Legend Cosmo Consultants Limited, Mr. Ren Lingfeng
(“Mr. Ren”), Mr. Chen Rong (“Mr. Chen”), 8R{Z BRI ( L&) A
RA 7] (“Rong Lang”, unofficial English name being Rong Lang
Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Limited) and #& B 48 4%
BRI E8)BR 2R (“Luo Lang”, unofficial English name being
Luo Lang Internet Technology (Shanghai) Co., Limited) entered
into an agreement (“Rolaner Subscription Agreement”),
pursuant to which Sky View had subscribed for 22,000,000
preferred shares in the share capital of Rolaner at the price
of US$10,000,000. Completion of the Rolaner Subscription
Agreement took place on 18 March 2016 and Sky View became
interested in approximately 22% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Rolaner. Rolaner is operating a mobile application “Mei
Li Shen Qi (=EE##28)”, one of the largest online communities
and e-commerce platforms with millions of users for the
medical beauty industry in the PRC, in which the Directors
consider to have great market potentials. Details of the Sky View
Subscription Agreement and Rolaner Subscription Agreement
are disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
21 February 2016.

The businesses operated by Rong Lang, the PRC operating
company in Rolaner Group, are operated under contract-based
arrangements and/or structures (“Contractual Arrangements”)
for the purpose of enabling Rolaner, as a foreign investor, to
control and benefit from such PRC operating company in the
foreign restricted businesses in the PRC. Set out below are the
details of the Contractual Arrangements.

(i) Particulars of Rong Lang and its registered owners
Rong Lang is a limited liability company incorporated
in Shanghai, PRC on 20 May 2013. The registered
shareholders of Rong Lang are Mr. Ren (holding 75% of its
paid-up capital) and Mr. Chen (holding 25% of its paid-up
capital). It has a registered capital of RMB1 million which
has been paid up.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

(i)

Description of Rong Lang'’s business activities

Rong Lang is primarily engaged in the mobile
application % B8 #8 28 (Mei Li Shen Qi), one of the largest
online community and e-commerce platform with more
than ten million users for the medical beauty industry in the
PRC. Rong Lang also operates the EEEEA U4 (Mei Li Mei
Website) at www.meilimei.com.

Foreign ownership of internet-based businesses, such as
those engaged in the provision of Internet information, is
highly regulated under current PRC laws. Foreign investors
are not allowed to own more than 50% of the equity
interests in a value-added telecommunications service
provider (except for e-commerce and certain other sectors)
and any such foreign investor must have experience
in providing value-added telecommunications services
overseas and maintain a good track record. However,
no written guidelines or implementing rules have been
publicly issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (HR2E A R HAME T /(= E/LE0)
(“MIIT”) to specify the criterion of the “good track record”. As
Rolaner does not have any experience in providing value-
added telecommunications services overseas and maintain
a good track record, it is unable to directly acquire any
equity interests of Rong Lang.

The Circular on Strengthening the Administration of
Foreign Investment in and Operation of Value-added
Telecommunications Business (€ {5 B 2= &6 B8 72 1 38
INER B EISEEEEBEIEMNBA)), issued by the
MIIT in July 2006, prohibits domestic telecommunication
service providers from leasing, transferring or selling
telecommunications business operating licenses to any
foreign investor in any form, or providing any resources,
sites or facilities to any foreign investor for their illegal
operation of a telecommunications business in the PRC.
According to this circular, either the holder of a value-
added telecommunication services operation permit or
its shareholders must directly own the domain names
and trademarks used by such license holders in their
provision of value-added telecommunications services.
The circular also requires each license holder to have the
necessary facilities, including servers, for its approved
business operations and to maintain such facilities in the
regions covered by its license. If the holder of the value-
added telecommunications business operating license
(BEBEEBFEETAE) (ICP License”) (also generally
known as the “Internet content provider license”) fails to
comply with the requirements and also fails to remedy
such non-compliance within a specified period of time,
the MIIT or its local counterparts have the discretion to
take administrative measures against such license holder,
including revoking its ICP License.
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(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As Rong Lang is also providing mobile applications to
mobile device users, Rong Lang may be required to obtain
other applicable operating permits in addition to the ICP
License. Hence, Rong Lang has submitted its application
for the ICP Licence with Shanghai Communications
Administration (/8 T3BEEIE/R). As at the date of this
annual report, the said application was completed and
Rong Lang had obtained the ICP Licence with effective

period from 29 December 2017 to 29 December 2022.

The Contractual Arrangements are designed specifically to
confer upon Luo Lang the right to enjoy all the economic
benefits of Rong Lang, to exercise management control
over the operations of Rong Lang, and to prevent leakages
of assets and values of Rong Lang to the registered
shareholders of Rong Lang. Luo Lang is not obligated
under the Contractual Arrangements to provide any
financial support to Rong Lang. Where losses occurred
to Rong Lang, Luo Lang will not share the losses
directly. In respect of any limited liability company, under
PRC Company Law (A &)%), it is a basic principle that a
shareholder’s liability in respect of a company is limited to
the registered capital for which it has subscribed. Hence,
even if a company incurs loss to the extent that it becomes
insolvent, its shareholder is not under any legal obligation
to bear any debt incurred by the company or provide
any additional capital to the company (unless otherwise
agreed by the shareholder). In the current case, there is
no shareholding relationship between Luo Lang and Rong
Lang, and similarly, there is no legal obligation for Luo Lang
to share any losses incurred by Rong Lang.

Notwithstanding the above, since Rong Lang is expected
to contribute revenue to Luo Lang by way of making
payment of service fee to Luo Lang under the Contractual
Arrangements, any loss incurred by Rong Lang will have
an adverse impact on its ability to make such payment and
hence indirectly affecting Luo Lang’s financial performance
on a consolidated basis.

Summary of the major terms of the Control Documents
of the Contractual Arrangements

The control documents under the Contractual
Arrangements are: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement; (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement; and (4) the Power of Attorney
(collectively, “Control Documents”).

(i)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
was entered into by and among Luo Lang, Rong
Lang, Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen on 20 February 2016.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, Rong Lang has agreed to engage Luo
Lang as its exclusive consultant and service provider.
Accordingly, Luo Lang shall provide business support,
technical services and consultancy services, including
without limitation all or any services which fall within
the business scope of Rong Lang. Pursuant to the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Rong
Lang shall pay to Luo Lang a service fee on a monthly
basis that equals to the entire monthly revenue of
Rong Lang, after deducting costs and expenses, tax
and other reserved expenditures as required under
applicable laws (save for the service fee payable to
Luo Lang thereunder). Thus, all economic benefits
of Rong Lang will belong to Luo Lang. In addition,
the parties to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement agreed, and Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen,
being all the registered shareholders of Rong Lang,
have confirmed that Luo Lang shall have the right
to manage the business of Rong Lang, dispose of
its assets and is not liable to any loss incurred by
Rong Lang. The parties have also agreed that Rong
Lang shall provide its audited financial statements (as
certified by an independent auditors firm acceptable
to Luo Lang) within 90 days from the date to which
the relevant financial year ends to Luo Lang, and Luo
Lang shall also be entitled to inspect the books and
records and obtain copies thereof if it so wishes. The
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for
an indefinite term commencing from the date of the
agreement, until it is terminated (i) according to the
applicable PRC laws or (i) by Luo Lang by giving prior
written notice. Rong Lang is not contractually entitled
to terminate the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exclusive Option Agreement

Luo Lang, Mr. Ren, Mr. Chen and Rong Lang have
entered into the Exclusive Option Agreement dated
20 February 2016, pursuant to which: (i) Mr. Ren
and Mr. Chen have irrevocably granted to Luo Lang
irrevocable and exclusive options to purchase by
Luo Lang or person(s) designated by it all or part of
the equity interest owned by them now or future in
Rong Lang (“Equity Option”), and such Equity Option
shall be exercised by Luo Lang in the manner and at
any time Luo Lang solely determines; (i) Rong Lang
has granted to Luo Lang irrevocable and exclusive
options to purchase by Luo Lang or person(s)
designated by it all or part of the assets (meaning
all the tangible and intangible assets of Rong Lang,
including without limitation the fixed assets, current
assets, equity interests in investments, benefits
under contracts) now or future owned by Rong Lang
(“Assets Option”), and such Assets Option shall be
exercised by Luo Lang in the manner and at any time
Luo Lang solely determines; (i) Luo Lang shall, to
the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations,
and when the PRC laws and regulations allow wholly
foreign owned enterprises to operate the business
of Rong Lang directly, Luo Lang shall exercise the
Equity Option and Assets Option as soon as possible.
In the event of the death and loss of civil capacity of
Mr. Ren or Mr. Chen, Luo Lang is entitled to, to the
largest extent permitted by PRC laws, exercise its
rights under the Exclusive Option Agreement with the
legal successor or personal representatives of Mr.
Ren or Mr. Chen; and (iv) the consideration for the
equity interest payable by Luo Lang under the Equity
Option shall be RMB100 or such minimum purchase
price permitted by PRC laws and regulations after
deducting the requisite taxes. The consideration
for the assets payable by Luo Lang under the
Assets Option shall be such minimum purchase
price permitted by PRC laws and regulations after
deducting the requisite taxes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen (as the registered shareholders of Rong
Lang) and Rong Lang have jointly and severally
undertaken, among other things, that they shall not
do or allow to be done (among other things as the
case may be) the following acts: amend the articles of
Rong Lang, alter its registered share capital or capital
structure, sell, transfer, charge or otherwise dispose
of the assets and legal and other benefits in Rong
Lang or create encumbrances thereon. Shall Rong
Lang be liquidated, Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen shall pay (or
procure the payment) to Luo Lang or its designee(s)
all residual values of Rong Lang. In addition, Mr.
Ren and Mr. Chen shall not without the prior written
consent of Luo Lang cause or allow any guarantee
or liability or loans to be incurred on Rong Lang, and
shall not make any dividends or distributable interest
to its shareholders. Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen have also
undertaken that they shall cause persons nominated
by Luo Lang to be appointed or removed as directors
and senior management of Rong Lang. In particular,
Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen jointly and severally confirmed
that they shall () on the request of the designee of
Luo Lang immediately and unconditionally transfer
their equity interests in Rong Lang and any priority
right of any shareholder of Rong Lang to purchase
such equity interest; and (i) maintain their citizenship
and nationality of the PRC.

Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen have also confirmed that the equity interests
in Rong Lang now and future do not fall within the
communal property (F[EBFZE) or inheritable property
(R4 %B1E ) of spouse and that such equity interests
can neither be severed nor inherited.

The Exclusive Option Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing from the date of the agreement,
until all the equity interests held by Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen are, pursuant to the Exclusive Option
Agreement, legally transferred to Luo Lang or its
designee(s).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Equity Pledge Agreement

Luo Lang, Mr. Ren, Mr. Chen and Rong Lang entered
into the Equity Pledge Agreement on 20 February
2016, pursuant to which Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen shall
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Rong
Lang to Luo Lang to secure the performance of all
their obligations and the obligations of Rong Lang
under the Contractual Arrangements. Pursuant to
the Equity Pledge Agreement, Luo Lang has a first
priority pledge on all of the equity interests in Rong
Lang held by Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen. Under the
Equity Pledge Agreement, if Mr. Ren and/or Mr. Chen
and/or Rong Lang breaches any obligation under
the Contractual Arrangements (among other things),
Luo Lang, as the pledgee, is entitled to request Mr.
Ren and/or Mr. Chen to transfer the pledged equity
interests to Luo Lang. In addition, pursuant to the
Equity Pledge Agreement, each of Mr. Ren and/
or Mr. Chen undertakes to Luo Lang, among other
things, not to transfer the interest in their respective
equity interests in Rong Lang and not to create any
pledge thereon without Luo Lang’s prior written
consent. In addition, they shall not alter the registered
capital or capital structure of Rong Lang and shall
execute further documents to pledge equity interest
they shall receive after the signing of the Equity
Pledge Agreement. The Equity Pledge Agreement
is for an indefinite term commencing on the date of
the agreement, until () all the services fees under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement are fully
settled and (i) all obligations of Rong Lang under the
Contractual Arrangements have been fulfilled.

Power of Attorney

Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen have severally issued a
power of attorney to Luo Lang on 20 February
2016, pursuant to which they irrevocably authorised
Luo Lang (including the successor or liquidator of
Luo Lang in the event of its liquidation) to exercise
all of their rights and powers as shareholders of
Rong Lang, including (i) rights to convene and
attend shareholders’ meeting and sign minutes or
resolutions; (i) rights to exercise voting rights in a
shareholders’ meeting including without limitation to
vote for resolutions for disposal, transfer, pledge or
dispose of all or part of their equity interests in Rong
Lang; (iii) rights to designate and appoint the legal
representative (chairman of the board), directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer (or general
manager) and other senior officers; and (iv) rights to
file documents with relevant governmental authorities
or regulatory bodies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETWRE S

(iv)  Manner of settlement of disputes which may arise from

(v)

the Contractual Arrangements

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the dispute
resolution clauses provide that any dispute arising from
the interpretation and implementation of the Control
Documents should first be resolved through negotiation,
failing which any party may submit the said dispute to the
Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (“SHIAC”) with a view to resolving the dispute
through arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules
of the SHIAC. The results of the arbitration shall be final
and binding on all relevant parties.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The PRC government may determine that the corporate
structure of the Rolaner Group or the Contractual
Arrangements is not or may not be in compliance with any
existing or future applicable PRC laws or regulations.

Rolaner and Luo Lang rely on the Contractual
Arrangements to control and obtain the economic benefits
from Rong Lang, the operating entity in the PRC, which
may not be as effective as in providing operational control
as direct ownership.

The registered shareholders of Rong Lang may have
conflicts of interest with the Rolaner Group, which may
materially and adversely affect the business and financial
conditions of the Rolaner Group.

The Contractual Arrangements between Luo Lang and
Rong Lang may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that Luo Lang or Rong Lang
owes additional taxes could substantially reduce the
consolidated net income of Rolaner and the value of the
Group’s investment in Rolaner.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of draft Foreign
Investment Law ({5MNEI1R B EEZ)) of the PRC and how
it may impact the viability of the current corporate structure
of the Rolaner Group.

And last but not least, the Group does not have control
over the Rolaner Group and will rely on Luo Lang to
exercise control over Rong Lang through the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and
regulations relevant to the Contractual Arrangements and
will take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s
interests in Rong Lang.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(vi)  Material change
The Directors confirmed that there has been no
material change to the Contractual Arrangements as at
31 December 2017.

(vii) - Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements
As at the date of this annual report, there was no
unwinding of any of the Contractual Arrangements or
failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangement are removed.

(vii)) Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual

Arrangements

As at 31 December 2017, the Group held 49% interest
in Sky View which in turn held approximately 22%
interest in Rolaner Group. This investment was recorded
as an investment in a joint venture as at 31 December
2017. During the Year, the Group shared the loss of a
joint venture of approximately HK$19,202,000 (2016:
approximately HK$3,489,000). As at 31 December 2017,
the book value of the Group’s investment in joint venture
was approximately HK$16,905,000 (2016: approximately
HK$36,107,000), representing approximately 6.9% of
the Group’s total assets and approximately 8.1% of the
Group’s net assets.

Discontinued operations - provision of property
management and property agency services, and
provision of design and fitting-out services

The business segment was disposed of by two separate disposal
transactions in December 2016 and February 2017 respectively.

On 1 December 2016, Wise Link International Limited (“Wise Link”)
and Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited (“Sino”) (formerly known
as DX.com Holdings Limited) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which Sino purchased and Wise Link sold all
the issued shares of Central Pearl Investments Limited (which directly
owned 100% of Full Profit Property Services Company Limited) at the
consideration of HK$20,000,000 (“Central Pearl Group Disposal”).
The completion of the Central Pearl Group Disposal took place on
1 December 2016. On 23 February 2017, the Group and Billion
Centrium Group Holdings Limited (“Billion”) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“Wise Link SPA”), pursuant to which Billion has
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Group has conditionally
agreed to sell the Group’s entire 51% interest in Wise Link at the
consideration of HK$9,800,000 (“Wise Link Group Disposal”). Wise
Link and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision
of design and fitting-out services in Hong Kong. Completion of the
Wise Link Group Disposal took place on 28 April 2017 and a gain
on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$7,588,000 was
recognised during the Year. As a result of the Central Pearl Group
Disposal and the Wise Link Group Disposal, the Group discontinued
its operations in the provision of property management and property
agency services and provision of design and fitting-out services.
Further details of the Central Pearl Group Disposal and the Wise Link
Group Disposal are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 1 December 2016 and 23 February 2017 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

The Wise Link Group Disposal constituted a connected transaction
of the Company. As at the date of the Wise Link SPA, Wise Link
was a 51%-owned subsidiary of the Company, while Billion was a
substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of Wise
Link by holding the remaining 49% of the then issued share capital of
Wise Link. Therefore, Billion was a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level under the GEM Listing Rules and accordingly,
the Wise Link Group Disposal constituted a connected transaction of
the Company. Since the connected transaction between the Group
and Billion was on normal commercial terms or better, the Wise
Link Group Disposal was exempted from the circular, independent
financial advice and Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant
to Rule 20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules, and was only subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, this business division contributed revenue of
approximately HK$4,160,000 (2016: approximately HK$18,900,000)
and profit after tax of approximately HK$8,250,000 (2016:
approximately HK$20,799,000) to the Group.

The Directors considered that each of the Central Pearl Group
Disposal and the Wise Link Group Disposal represented an
opportunity for the Group to realise its investment in the provision of
property management and property agency services, and provision
of design and fitting-out services business, so as to enable the Group
to improve its cash position as well as to reallocate more financial
resources to the Group’s other existing business segments.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Continuing Operations

Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$56,885,000
(2016: approximately HK$58,537,000), representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1,652,000 or 2.8% as compared to the last
financial year. The slight decrease in revenue was mainly due to the
decrease in sales of technology software systems, which was partly
offset by the increase in interest income generated from the money
lending business.

Gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$41,503,000 (2016: approximately HK$43,345,000), representing
a decrease of approximately HK$1,842,000 or 4.2% as compared to
the last financial year, which was in line with the decrease in revenue.
Gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was approximately
73.0% (2016: approximately 74.0%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$41,962,000 (2016: approximately HK$41,990,000),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$28,000 or 0.1% as
compared to the last financial year. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the decrease in overall operating expenses as a result
of continuous cost control measures, which was offset by the equity-
settled share-based payments for the share options granted by the
Company during the Year of approximately HK$8,278,000 (2016:
approximately HK$2,111,000). The equity-settled share-based
payments are non-cash in nature and will not have any immediate
impact on the cash flow and business operation of the Group.

Loss for the Year from Continuing Operations

The Group recorded a net loss after tax of approximately
HK$54,400,000 for the Year (2016: approximately HK$10,400,000),
which was mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i) the
impairment loss on available-for-sale investments of approximately
HK$28,637,000 (2016: Nil); (i) the impairment loss on investment in
an associate of approximately HK$9,179,000 (2016: Nil); (iii) the gain
on disposal of an associate of approximately HK$8,308,000 (2016:
Nil); (iv) the profit guarantee income in relation to an associate of
approximately HK$6,163,000 recognised during the Year (2016: Nil);
(v) the decrease in finance costs of approximately HK$5,783,000,
as compared with those incurred by the Group in last financial year;
(vi) the share of losses of associates of approximately HK$5,397,000
(2016: share of profits of associates of approximately HK$2,976,000);
and (vii) the share of loss of a joint venture of approximately
HK$19,202,000 (2016: approximately HK$3,489,000).

Discontinued Operations

Revenue generated from the Group’s discontinued operations for
the Year was approximately HK$4,160,000 (2016: approximately
HK$18,900,000), which was attributable to the provision of design
and fitting-out services in Hong Kong.

Profit from discontinued operations amounted to approximately
HK$8,250,000 for the Year (2016: approximately HK$20,799,000).
The financial results in the corresponding period in 2016 were
relatively outstanding because it had accounted for the net profit
generated from the provision of property management and property
agency services business, which was disposed of by the Group in
December 2016.

Profit from discontinued operations attributable to the Shareholders
for the Year was approximately HK$7,925,000 (2016: approximately
HK$12,568,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group held cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$148,616,000 (2016: approximately
HK$23,059,000). Net current assets amounted to approximately
HK$150,618,000 (2016: approximately HK$22,500,000).
Approximately 99.9% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, while the remaining were
denominated in Renminbi and United States Dollars. Current ratio,
which was defined as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities, was approximately 5.07 times (2016: approximately 1.33
times).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no outstanding bank and
other borrowings (2016: total borrowings with accrued interests
amounted to approximately HK$31,700,000). As at 31 December
2017, the gearing ratio of the Group, which was defined as total
borrowings divided by total assets, was not applicable due to
the absence of any borrowing undertaken by the Group as at 31
December 2017 (2016: approximately 10.7%).

TREASURY AND FUNDING POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to its treasury
and funding policies, and its financial and fundraising activities
are subject to effective management and supervision. The Group
manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to the
Shareholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the business
activities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group was exposed to any
significant foreign currency exchange risks.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2016: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2016: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any material charge
on assets (2016: Nil).

MATERIAL DISPOSALS

As at the date of this annual report, other than (a) the disposal of
subsidiaries set out in the section headed “Discontinued operations —
provision of property management and property agency services, and
provision of design and fitting-out services” of this annual report, and
(b) the disposal of 5% interest in C&C set out in the section headed
“Other investments” of this annual report, the Group had the following
material disposal transactions:

Disposal of an Associate - Ultimate Elite Investments
Limited (“Ultimate Elite”)

On 1 June 2017, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding with an independent third party in relation to
the disposal of the Group’s 40% interest in Ultimate Elite at a
consideration of HK$59,492,000 (“‘Ultimate Elite Disposal”), subject
to adjustments in accordance with the terms of sale and purchase
agreement. On 31 July 2017, the sale and purchase agreement
was entered into between the parties in relation to the Ultimate Elite
Disposal. The Ultimate Elite Disposal was completed on 28 August
2017 and the Group ceased to hold its entire interest in Ultimate Elite.
The consideration of the Ultimate Elite Disposal, after adjustment, was
HK$59,726,000. As a result, a gain on disposal of an associate of
approximately HK$8,308,000 was recognised during the Year. During
the Year, the profit of Ultimate Elite shared by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,832,000 (2016: approximately HK$786,000).
Further details of the Ultimate Elite Disposal are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 1 June 2017, 17 July 2017
and 31 July 2017.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have any
concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for the coming
year. Nonetheless, if any potential investment opportunity arises and is
identified in the coming year, the Group will conduct a feasibility study
and prepare implementation plans to consider whether it is beneficial
to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FHBEMWE S

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had shareholders’ equity
of approximately HK$207,774,000 (2016: approximately
HK$226,389,000). As at 31 December 2017, the capital of the
Company comprised ordinary shares only.

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 1 February 2017, the Company and Gransing Securities
Co., Limited (as placing agent) entered into a conditional placing
agreement (“210M Placing Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company had conditionally agreed to place through the placing
agent, on a best effort basis, up to 210,090,000 new ordinary shares
of par value of HK$0.005 each in the share capital of the Company
(“February Placing Share(s)”), to not less than six placees who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of and
not connected with the Company and any of its connected persons
or their respective associates, at a price of HK$0.146 per February
Placing Share (“210M Placing”). The February Placing Shares were
allotted and issued pursuant to the general mandate granted to the
Directors at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 12 January 2017. The nominal value of the February Placing
Shares was HK$1,050,450 and the net issue price was approximately
HK$0.142 per February Placing Share. The closing price of the
ordinary shares of the Company on the date of the 210M Placing
Agreement was HK$0.174 per share. Completion of the 210M
Placing is conditional upon the Stock Exchange granting the listing of,
and permission to deal in, the February Placing Shares to be placed
pursuant to the 210M Placing Agreement on or before 22 February
2017. On 20 February 2017, completion of the 210M Placing took
place in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 210M
Placing Agreement. Immediately after completion of the 210M Placing,
an aggregate of 210,090,000 February Placing Shares, representing
approximately 16.7% of the then issued share capital of the Company
(as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the February Placing
Shares), have been successfully placed to not less than six placees.
The Company received net proceeds of approximately HK$29.7
million from the 210M Placing. The Directors were of the view that
the 210M Placing represented good opportunities to broaden the
Shareholders’ base and raise additional funds at a reasonable
cost for itself. Up to the date of this annual report, net proceeds of
(i) approximately HK$15.2 million had been used for repayment of
interest-bearing borrowings of the Group; (i) approximately HK$11.0
million had been used for financing the money lending business; and
(iii) the remaining had been used for financing the general working
capital of the Group as intended.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2016: Nil).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017

BEXRRER

RZE—tF+ZA=+—08  FAEEZREER
#15207,774,000/ 7T ( ZZF— 7N © £9226,389,000
BIT) c MZZE—+F+-_A=+—H XAFELX
ERELER -

BRE—REERENRG
RNZZE—+F-_A—H AAREKRELHERA
AI(EARENRE)FI LB KHREHE([21ERE
Wl - Bt ARFEBRHREEBZEER
BIRBHEARE HE®E - & 5% 210,090,000 4% 2
AR EREEC.005E Tz F T @k ([ = A
BRERD ) T RIORANBEREA(BERESGRERS
BEANEABIRARRREAMEEEALTRFESE
FEZHBARREEMERECE=F)  BR=
ARERMGBIEEC. 146 ([21BREEEE]) - =
AREBRHMERBERN_S—+F—A+-B8R1T>
AR EFHIRE R TES 2 — ISR S k8
17 ° Z ARERMD 2 BB A1,050,450/8 70 « JFEETT
EBRAEBR-ABRERMNA0.1428 T - ARFZ
TEENR2VEREHHBH WM EAER0174
BT o B2 1EREEHARBIMN -_E—tF
AT ARZAILERB AR ERELLE =
ARERD EMEREE®R  ArEE - RZT—+
FZAZHA  21ERESERE21ERESHE
ZERRIEH TR - BH2ABRESERRKE &
$#210,090,00008 = A Fe E 1 (FHE R AR EE
BRITIRA (KR RET - ARERMNIER) 24
16.7%) EXNELE T LRANBEBA o AAFA
2118 HL & B IR ES P15 BUEF §E 429,700,000
TL o EERAABEESHEAFEEREER MRS
BRANABEFEINEENRW -BEEXRFRAL
FHSZIEF5EH » ()4915,200,0008 2 FATEEE AR
EEZEHBEE ¢ (i)#911,000,000/8 T E AEAE
BEEBEE  RiiBECEBTHREAEALER
2 REEECHE -

8=

EF RN TRABATORNEARS(ZF—
F ) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 61 employees (2016: 61).
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training. The
Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry practices
and individual performance and experience. On top of regular
remuneration, discretionary bonus and share options may be granted
to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as
individual performance. Total employee benefits expense, including
directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$36,571,000 for the
Year (2016: approximately HK$34,741,000).

The remuneration of the Directors are determined by the Board,
under the recommendation from the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company, with reference to the
background, qualification, experience, duties and responsibilities of
such Director within the Group and the prevailing market conditions.

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to
an ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on
10 September 2013 and the Board is authorised, at its absolute
discretion, to grant options to eligible participants including (a) any
full-time or part-time employee of any member of the Group; (b) any
consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (c) any director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of any member of the Group; (d) any substantial shareholder
of the Group; or (e) any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner or service provider of any member of the
Group. Details of share options granted and outstanding during the
Year are set out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme”
on pages 66 to 69 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational risks

The Group is exposed to the operational risks in relation to each
business division of the Group. To manage the operational risks, the
management of each business division is responsible for monitoring
the operation and assessing the operational risks of their respective
business divisions. They are responsible for implementing the
Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall report
any irregularities in connection with operation to the Directors and
seek for directions. The Group emphasises on ethical value and
prevention of fraud and bribery and has established whistleblower
program, including communication with other departments and
business divisions and units, to report any irregularities. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s operational risks, have been
effectively mitigated.
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FHBEMWE S

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to the credit risk, liquidity risk, market
risk (particularly equity price risk) and risk under Contractual
Arrangements, in which the details are summarised as follows:

Credit risk

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors closely monitor the
overall level of credit exposure, and the management is responsible
for determination of credit approvals and monitors the implementation
of the debt collection procedure to ensure that follow-up actions are
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk has been significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

The Directors has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements. In the management of
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s liquidity
risk has been effectively managed.

Market risk

The Group is exposed to the market risk, particularly, the equity price
risk mainly through its investments in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these investments. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s market risk has been effectively mitigated.

Risks under Contractual Arrangements

The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements formed under the Group’s interest in the Rolaner
Group. Please refer to the paragraphs headed “Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements” under “Other investments” on page 23 of
this annual report for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Widely recognised for being the pioneer in various global financial
indexes, Hong Kong has always been ranked as one of the world’s
key regions for the fintech (financial technology) industry. The Hong
Kong government has pledged tremendous support to the local
fintech start-ups, encouraged investments in the industry in order
to develop a more vibrant innovation and technology ecosystem in
Hong Kong. Benefitting from such benign economic conditions, the
Group foresees a prospering advantage of information technology to
the provision of financial services. With the auspicious opportunities
of innovative trading solutions inventions in the air, the Group will
thus strive to further strengthen its business in the provision of
financial trading software systems. The Group’s principal operating
subsidiary, iAsia, will continue running the core business of the Group.
By being financially prepared to enhance iAsia’s system, the Group
hopes to attract more customers with an enhanced system to seize
opportunities for business expansion and create higher returns.

The money lending business is another core business segment which
constantly generates income for the Group. In the coming future,
the Group will devote more financial resources to its money lending
business and aim for a better revenue growth. In order to achieve
sustainable business growth in this particular segment, the Group will
persist to implement a prudent credit control policy and pay attention
to credit risk in connection with corporate debts to balance the risk
management and growth of the Group’s money lending business.

Global economic recovery has strengthened and economic activities
will continue to prosper. The Group expects that the strong
momentum of growth in the financial market will carry on into 2018.
In the future, the Group will actively seize cooperation and acquisition
opportunities with more business partners in various fields to expand
its business scales and bring sustainable returns to the Shareholders.
The Group will continue to strive for excellence in its products and
services, in order to maintain its international competitiveness and
enhance growth potential in the fintech industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules (“CG Code”) as its code of corporate governance.
During the Year, the Company has complied with all the applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the deviations
mentioned in the section headed “Chairman and chief executive
officer” on page 37 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three
executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Wai Lung (who was appointed
on 8 June 2017), Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Ms. Lin Ting, two non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams (who was
appointed on 19 May 2017) and Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen,
and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Lam
Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi (who
was appointed on 8 June 2017). Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai retired as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 May 2017.
The Board was chaired by Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen from
1 January 2017 to 7 June 2017 and by Mr. Chan Wai Lung from 8
June 2017 to 31 December 2017 and as at the date of this annual
report.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors have any
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationship) with each other.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out on pages 48 to
52 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Functions and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the management
of business, strategic decisions and financial performance of the
Company for the best interests of the Shareholders. The Board has
established various Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good
faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (particularly those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

During the Year, ten Board meetings were convened to perform the
above mentioned duties and responsibilities and details of attendance
of each Board member are set out in the section headed “Attendance
of Directors at Meetings” on page 42 of this annual report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
the Board’s procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the day-to-day management authority,
administration and operation of the Group to the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Group, while reserving certain key
matters in strategic decision making for its approval. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
management needs to report back to and obtain prior approval from
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on behalf of the Group. During the Year, the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Group provided all members of
the Board with monthly updates pursuant to code provision C.1.2
of the CG Code while the Board regularly reviewed its arrangement
on delegation of authority and responsibilities to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.
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Directors’ appointment and re-election

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation of
the nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) of the Company
or by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed
term of one year subject to termination, among others, by giving not
less than one month’s written notice on the date of their appointments
and ended on 31 December of each year. Each of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors has been re-appointed for a
term of one year on the same terms commencing on 1 January 2018
and ending on 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive).

Currently, all independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a specific term pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code.
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung who has entered into a service contract with the
Company with a term of two years commencing from 24 June 2015
to 23 June 2017 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for the
period from 24 June 2017 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive).
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean who has entered into a service
contract with the Company with a term of two years commencing
from 26 September 2015 to 25 September 2017 (both days
inclusive), has been re-appointed for the period from 26 September
2017 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive). Mr. Zhong Shi
has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing
from his date of appointment on 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017
(both days inclusive), and he has been re-appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018
(both days inclusive). Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai who retired with effect from
18 May 2017, had entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from 26 September 2015, which
ended on the date of his retirement.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code. By
virtue of article 112 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board shall have the power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or as an additional Director provided that the number
of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the maximum number
determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
and all such retiring Directors being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election. Details of the Directors to be retired by rotation and,
where applicable, subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company will be contained in the circular
to be despatched to the Shareholders in due course. None of the
Directors who are being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, who was an independent non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
each of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee of the Company, retired as an independent non-executive
Director upon the conclusion of the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 18 May 2017. As a result, the Company had only
two independent non-executive Directors and two members in its
Audit Committee during the period from 18 May 2017 to 7 June
2017, the number of which fell below the respective minimum number
required under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Following the appointment of Mr. Zhong Shi as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 8 June 2017, the Company complied with Rules 5.05(1)
and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has been in compliance with
Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during
the Year. From 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017, the Company
had three independent non-executive Directors, representing at
least one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.
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Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set out in the CG Code.
Such policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board. Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on
meritocracy, and candidates shall be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Selection of candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision shall be
based on the merit and contribution the selected candidates could
bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee, from time to time,
oversees the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, and
reviews, as appropriate, the policy to ensure the effectiveness of
the policy and continues to give adequate consideration to these
measurable objectives when making recommendations of candidates
for appointment to the Board.

Chairman and chief executive officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the
role of the chairman was performed by Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen
(resigned as the chairman of the Board on 8 June 2017) followed by
Mr. Chan Wai Lung (appointed on 8 June 2017). During the Year, the
office of the chief executive officer of the Company remained vacated,
since the Company has not been able to identify a suitable candidate
for the position.

However, the Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the
Board from time to time and should any candidate with suitable
knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company will make
appointment to fill the position as appropriate.

Continuing professional development

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors shalll
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, each of the Directors received regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s business
and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the
Group operates, and was also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses. During the Year, each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung (appointed on
8 June 2017), Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Fung Ka Lok
Adams (appointed on 19 May 2017), Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen,
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, Mr. Zhong
Shi (appointed on 8 June 2017) and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (retired on
18 May 2017) participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by way of attending training or reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business, the GEM Listing Rules
or directors’ duties, and provided his or her training records to the
Company on a yearly basis.
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Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance and
indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of any legal action against the Directors that may
arise out of the corporate activities, so as to comply with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1. Audit Committee
The Company established the Audit Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference posted on
the websites of GEM and of the Company. Such written terms
of reference were revised and adopted by the Board on 29
December 2015 in accordance with the revised CG Code
taking effect on 1 January 2016. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are, among other matters, to review the Company’s
financial information, and to monitor the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems.

From 1 January 2017 to 17 May 2017, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr.
Yuen Shiu Wai. From 18 May 2017 to 7 June 2017, the
Audit Committee comprised two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling,
May Jean. From 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017 and as at
the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai
Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi. Mr.
Lam Kai Yeung has been the chairman of the Audit Committee
during the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting standards
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting
matters for the Year. The Group’s quarterly, half-yearly and
annual results for the Year have also been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, six Audit Committee meetings were convened
and the details of attendance of each Audit Committee member
are set out in the section headed “Attendance of Directors at
Meetings” on page 42 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code which are posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are, among other matters, to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management of
the Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy.

From 1 January 2017 to 17 May 2017, the Remuneration
Committee comprised an executive Director, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai. From 18 May
2017 to 7 June 2017, the Remuneration Committee comprised
an executive Director, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, and an independent
non-executive Director, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean. From
8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017 and as at the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai
Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi.
The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Yuen Shiu
Wai from 1 January 2017 to 17 May 2017 and by Mr. Lam Kai
Yeung from 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017 and as at the
date of this annual report.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management, and
reviewed and approved certain new remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate objectives and the
prevailing market conditions, assessed the performance of the
executive Directors and approved the terms of the executive
Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, seven Remuneration Committee meetings were
convened and the details of attendance of each Remuneration
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 42 of this annual
report.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year
are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code which are
posted on the websites of GEM and of the Company. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
other matters, to formulate nomination policy and make
recommendations to the Board on nomination and appointment
of the Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

From 1 January 2017 to 17 May 2017, the Nomination
Committee comprised a non-executive Director, Mr. Ng Wing
Cheong Stephen, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai.
From 18 May 2017 to 7 June 2017, the Nomination Committee
comprised a non-executive Director, Mr. Ng Wing Cheong
Stephen, and an independent non-executive Director, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean. From 8 June 2017 to 31 December
2017 and as at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling,
May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi. The Nomination Committee was
chaired by Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen from 1 January 2017
to 7 June 2017 and by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung from 8 June 2017 to
31 December 2017 and as at the date of this annual report.

During the Year, three Nomination Committee meetings were
convened and details of attendance of each Nomination
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 42 of this annual
report.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and diversity of the Board, reviewed the existing
Board Diversity Policy and its implementation and assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
the annual confirmations on their independence. The Nomination
Committee also reviewed the nomination procedures,
process and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship and made recommendations on the nomination and
appointment of new Directors.
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Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee
(“Compliance Committee”) on 10 September 2013 with written
terms of reference which are posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company.

At the date of this annual report, the Compliance Committee
comprises two executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Ching
Yee (chairman) and Ms. Lin Ting. The principal duties of the
Compliance Committee include:

®* to establish, execute and maintain the compliance and
corporate governance system of the Group;

® to support and provide instructions to ensure that each
business unit of the Group can establish, execute and
maintain its compliance and corporate governance system;

® to produce the compliance manual of the Group and keep
it updated;

e to conduct education and training programmes on
compliance for the Group, including compliance seminars;

e to monitor the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group; and

* to investigate compliance problems of the Group and take
appropriate measures when one arises (it may instruct the
relevant department(s) to deal with the problem depending
on its nature).

During the Year, the members of the Compliance Committee
have, from time to time, been monitoring the status of the
compliance and corporate governance system of the Group,
and the Compliance Committee was of the view that there
was no compliance issue of the Group which required the
Compliance Committee to resolve by way of a meeting.
Therefore, no meeting of the Compliance Committee was held
during the Year.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017

EREES
ARAR-B-—=FAA+ARIAREES
([amEEE))  HEEREEETINNGEM
RAD EVAB o

RAFHAY  ARZESEEMERITES
MEBEL L (EF) RMELL - ARZEEK
TERESR

o BV BTRERAEENARROEE
SAHIE

o XHRBLET  UBRRFAEEEGERES
BIRER - TR EA R R
EIamlE

o BHEAKEARTMETEES

o HMAKRBAREESITHEMBIRE
BRERERBLE

o  ERAKEAHRRAEEAGIENMRR
h53

o  HEAEEABRHERNHERAGREER
REVEEFEE(ZB R EREEEP%Z
MEMERIEME) -

RER ARZEEXEETHERAEES
REEEERNENRR  MEREZBEERR
AEBTMFEFHARTEGUGH T AR
MAEHRERE - Bt - ARZEENFALES
TS



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEREINRS

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT EEHESERENR
MEETINGS
Number of meetings attended/entitled to attend (note 1)
LR/ BREEEEREN)
Annual Extraordinary Audit Remuneration Nomination
general general Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings

Director g2 RRAFAE RRIsEIRE B3883  ENZS093  FMzReeE  Rezsedd
Executive Directors #Es
M. Chan Wi Lung (note 2) REELE() NATEH N/A TR 44 NA TR N/ATER NA R
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (note 3) WL LHs) 1 i 1010 NA TR 5/5 NATER
Ms. Lin Ting HEXT 1 0/t 1010 N/A R N/A R NATER
Non-executive Directors FHrES
M. Fung Ka Lok Adams (note 4) BERLE(H) NATEH N/A TR 55 NA TR N/ATER NAZER
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (nofe 5~ R&E %A (475) 1 1 1010 NATER N/ATER 33
Independent non-executive Directors B TES
M. Lam Kai Yeung (note 6) WEBLE(Hite) 01 o 810 6/6 202 NATEH
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FEIRT 11 0 Mo 516 6/7 33
Mr. Zhong Shi (note 7) BEREWT) NATEH N/A TR 34 33 202 NAZER
. Yuen Shiu Wai (note 8 REAREEW8) 01 o 34 33 23 1
Notes: Mt -

1.

Attendances of the Directors appointed/resigned/retired during the Year
were made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their
respective tenures.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung was appointed as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board with effect from 8 June 2017.

Ms. Lam Ching Yee resigned as a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 8 June 2017.

Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 19 May 2017.

Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen resigned as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 8 June 2017.

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung was appointed as the chairman of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 8
June 2017.

Mr. Zhong Shi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee with effect from 8 June 2017.

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai retired as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 18 May 2017.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditors’ responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial
period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Year, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors continue to
adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, PKF
Hong Kong Limited, is set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 79 to 85 of this annual report.

Change of auditor

With effect from 6 December 2017, PKF has resigned as auditor of
the Company due to its internal reorganisation which resulted in its
change of entity status from a partnership to a limited company under
the name of PKF Hong Kong Limited. Following the resignation of
PKF, PKF Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the new auditor
of the Company.

During the Year, the Board did not take a different view from the Audit
Committee on the appointment of external auditors.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
external auditors, for the audit and non-audit services provided
amounted to approximately HK$500,000 and HK$104,000
respectively. The non-audit services comprised fees for the taxation
review and for other reporting services.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017

LEYSE:2
EERGEMAEBGEMBRRNEL

EXFRENEUSEAVBHRRRAEENGS M
BRENEML  DEEEERAFHRBRAEER
ZHRNEBYPRNREERRERE - REAFE
MERAMBRERE  EFSCETENSITER
NIVABRER  (FHEE - X FAERHE N
i YERBEEKEEERUGAVTRE - B£8R
BERRM—YEBRLHEZLE  IREAEENE
E - RpIEREREFERLEMTETR - EFRE
HAEBREWBBREEERMSELE S
X BXTHBEAERAATEERARAFELE
ENZERERZEMHRERZEATHABRSE -

RABINBIZBE N ERER (BB ST ST
BRAFIMNEREATEHNAFTRETIZSS A B
ZEARE | —&f -

BELBED
RERBR(BFR)GMEBHAERENNER - &
HEBSOBABEXBERARARLAR/KE
RER(BE)GTMEBHAERQAMEHEART
BRER BTt FFZANBRER - RKE
RE[R(FR)BIMEBAEIR  KERBR(F
B)EEBIERARNCSEZERE AR ZEK
B

RER  BEFERREIMNIZBMERZZEEN
BR—H

BB 2 B &
RER - BIAREEINBZBE Rtz BR L IEE
RIS B NS T H 2 Bl £ 5 51149 /500,000/% 7T
K 104,000/87T * JEEZRF B IEHH =M MR
HIRBEER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of
the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

* to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

* to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

* to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code, reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, and reviewed and monitored
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements during the Year as well as the disclosures in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group include the identification of risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous
updating of mitigation measures, and the ongoing review of internal
control procedures to ensure their effectiveness. The Group has also
established organisational structure in such control systems, clearly
defining the power and obligations of each department in the Group,
in order to protect the Group’s assets against improper use and
ensure compliance with rules and regulations. Such risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has an internal control manual containing policies on
information disclosure which is applicable to all employees of the
Company and regularly reminded Directors and employees to properly
comply with relevant policies on inside information while notifying the
Directors (who are also the senior management of the Group) and
employees the latest guidance announced by the regulatory body
on such information disclosure from time to time to keep all of them
abreast of the latest information. In addition, the Board has in place
an internal audit function within the Group as required under code
provision C.2.5 of the CG code.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After risks
that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations are
identified by the management of the Company, the Board will perform
risk assessment by prioritising risks identified to determine key risks
exposed to the Group and discuss measures to mitigate such key
risks. Besides, existing risk mitigation measures are subject to regular
monitoring by the management of the Company, which will review
the Group’s risk management strategies, and report such results and
make appropriate suggestions to the Board.
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During the Year, to strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company has engaged an independent
professional adviser (“Internal Control Adviser”) to perform
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of certain
subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control system for the
Year. Such review is conducted annually. The scope of review
for the Year included procurement and expenditure cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle of certain operating subsidiaries.
The Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and areas
for improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from
the Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time. The
Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate and that nothing has
come to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are inadequate. The Board
have also considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices are
very important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence
and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The Group has
therefore made continued efforts to uplift the quality of its corporate
governance.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders, the potential
investors or the investment community (collectively, “Investors”) of the
Company mainly in the following ways:

(@ the holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary general
meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific purposes
and provide opportunities for the Shareholders and Investors to
communicate directly with the Board;

(b) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, circulars,
announcements and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as
required under the GEM Listing Rules and/or press releases of
the Company providing updated information of the Group; and

(c) the provision of the latest information of the Group on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

Pursuant to article 65 of the articles of association of the Company,
the annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings of the
Company called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called
by at least 21 days’ notice in writing. The meetings of the Company
other than an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general
meeting for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by at
least 14 days’ notice in writing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREQIWE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by requisition in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meetings to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries and proposals to
the Board

Shareholder(s) may send their enquiries and/or put forward proposals
to the Company, for attention of the Board or the Company Secretary,
by posting the same to Office P, 21/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, No. 3 On
Kwan Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kei Lam, the financial controller of the Company, is also
the Company Secretary. She has undertaken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge
during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change to the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (FR{E8E), aged 37, was appointed as an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board on 8 June 2017.

Mr. Chan has years of experience in business planning and
development. Mr. Chan has been a director of Draco International
Investment (Holdings) Limited (specialising in designing corporate
structures) since July 2013, an executive director of Element of
elLiving Hong Kong Limited since October 2013, the chairman of the
board of directors of Elite Pro-Management Limited (specialising in
business process outsourcing) since October 2015, and a director
of Draco Human Resources Management Limited since November
2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as a business development consultant
(FPEREER) by the Management Committee of the Haining Economic
Development Zone, Zhejiang Province, the PRC in April 2017. In
October 2017, he obtained his Honorary Doctorate in Business
Administration from Sabi University.

Ms. Lam Ching Yee (###%), aged 36, was appointed as an executive
Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours)
in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong in 2006. Ms. Lam is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has more than ten years of experience in the auditing and
accounting fields. Ms. Lam is currently the company secretary
and financial controller of Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited (“IE China”), a company listed on
GEM (Stock Code: 8081), whose interest in the shares of which fall
to be disclosed under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO.

Ms. Lin Ting (#k&), aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lin graduated from Shanghai University of Engineering Science
(/B ITREEMTAZ) with a Bachelor degree in Industrial Enterprise
Management in 1992. She has also obtained a master degree in
Technology Management in Information Technology from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004.

Ms. Lin was qualified as a project management professional by the
Project Management Institute in March 2014. Ms. Lin joined the China
Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (FEIEEfnz= AR E]) in August 1998 and
has served as deputy general manager of the business development
department since March 2009. She then joined Eastern Airlines
Logistics Co., Ltd. (FR7TMZEWRBR 2 E) in November 2012 as
the general manager of information department. Ms. Lin then served
as general manager in the logistics product department of China
Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (FRBIER F B AR AF]), a joint stock
limited company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose H
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 670), A shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600115)
and American depositary shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, Inc., and the holding company of Eastern Airlines Logistics
Co., Ltd., from April 2013 to June 2015. From 7 December 2015 to
22 June 2016, Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of
IE China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFEEHFT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams (J§&7), aged 41, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017.

Mr. Fung holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance
degree from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a Professional
Diploma in Financial Planning from the School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has
been a Certified Financial Planner of The Institute of Financial Planners
of Hong Kong since October 2005 and certified as a CFP by the
Financial Planning Standards Board (China) since February 2017. Mr.
Fung currently holds a license to carry out type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Fung was awarded The Gold
Standard of The Hong Kong Award for Young People by the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2000.

Mr. Fung is currently the vice chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Innovest Financial Group (consisting of Innovest Financial Group
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries), which is principally engaged
in asset management, wealth management, succession planning
and education and money lending business in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung
is the responsible officer of Innovest Asset Management Limited,
a corporation licensed to carry out type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO.

Mr. Fung was a private banker at RBS Coutts Bank Limited, Hong
Kong branch from June 2007 to October 2009, a sales director
of the business development department at OSK Securities Hong
Kong Limited and at OSK Wealth Management Hong Kong Limited
respectively from May 2010 to March 2011, a senior partner at Calibre
Asset Management Limited (a subsidiary of National Australia Bank,
Hong Kong) from March 2011 to April 2012 and a vice president of
the sales division at SHK Private — Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited
(currently known as Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited) from
April 2012 to January 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (R#%%%), aged 59, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 26 August 2016. He was the chairman
of the Board from 26 August 2016 to 7 June 2017.

Mr. Ng obtained the Certificate in Building Studies from the Vocational
Training Council in July 1983 and the Endorsement Certificate in
Building Studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly
known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November 1986. He is currently
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Ng had over 20 years of experience in the architectural industry
during which he has worked for various architectural firms responsible
for residential and commercial development projects in Hong Kong,
the PRC and Canada. From October 2003 to March 2013, Mr.
Ng worked in a subsidiary of Wang On Group Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1222), and his last position was design director. Since
March 2014, Mr. Ng has been the business development director of
Full Profit Property Services Company Limited (a former subsidiary
of the Company), which is principally engaged in providing property
management and property agency services in Hong Kong. From
22 April 2015 to 8 January 2016, Mr. Ng was an executive director
of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (formerly known as Jia Meng
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8101), a company listed on GEM.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (###F5), aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 24 June 2015.

Mr. Lam is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor degree of
Accounting from Xiamen University in the PRC in July 1990 and
a master degree in Business Administration from Oxford Brookes
University in the United Kingdom in July 2010. From August 2008
to June 2015, Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director
of Baytacare Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (formerly known as Northeast
Tiger Pharmaceutical Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 8197), a company
listed on GEM. From December 2014 to May 2015, Mr. Lam was
a non-executive director of Blockchain Group Company Limited
(formerly known as Ping Shan Tea Group Limited) (Stock Code: 364),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam
was an independent non-executive director of Hua Long Jin Kong
Company Limited (“Hua Long”, formerly known as Highlight China loT
International Limited) (Stock Code: 1682), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2014 to May 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFEEHFT

Mr. Lam has been executive director and the chief executive officer
of Hua Long since June 2017 and September 2017 respectively. He
has been an independent non-executive director of Starrise Media
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Silverman Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 1616), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since June 2012, an independent non-executive
director of Sunway International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 58), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since May
2015, an independent non-executive director of Holly Futures Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 3678), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since June 2015, an independent non-executive
director of Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited
(Stock Code: 8181), a company listed on GEM, since October 2015,
and an independent non-executive director of Kin Shing Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1630), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since May 2017. Mr. Lam is a licensed person
for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under SFO.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Z&4), aged 57, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 September 2013.

Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) at the City University of Hong Kong in October 2014.

From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for King
Fook Holdings Limited and her last position was director of sales and
brand development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January
2015, Ms. Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retail
director. Ms. Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-
profit charitable organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and from 2017 to
2018.

Ms. Lee has been an independent non-executive director of Prosten
Health Holdings Limited (“Prosten Health”), a company listed on GEM
(Stock Code: 8026), since February 2018.

Mr. Zhong Shi (%), aged 34, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 8 June 2017.

Mr. Zhong holds a Bachelor degree of Engineering in Electronic
and Information Engineering professions and a Bachelor degree of
Management in Business and Administration profession respectively
granted by the University of Electronic Science and Technology of
China (BFRHLAE), the PRC in 2005, and a Postgraduate Diploma
in Integrated and Practicing Management from The University of Hong
Kong in 2015. Mr. Zhong was qualified as a Financial Risk Manager
by the Global Association of Risk Professionals in April 2010 and
has completed the board secretary (2 B &#E )qualification training
organised by the Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC in September
2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong was an investment manager of Shanghai Acorn Campus
Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (B TEAIZKLEER(LE)EBRAR])
from August 2009 to October 2011 and was an investment supervisor
of Shanghai Leaguer Tsing-Yuan Venture Capital Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) ( LB & BREIZREEREG R
TE(BERAE)) from 2012 to 2013. He was the general manager
of Shanghai Kanghao Investment Management Consultancy Limited
(LBEEREEEFHRNBR2AA]) from January 2015 to December
2016. Currently, Mr. Zhong is the manager of Pingan Bright Fortune
Investment Management Co., Ltd.. Mr. Zhong has years of experience
in private equity and venture capital investment and has accumulated
extensive social network in these areas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEREIHWE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

We are delighted to present our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year ended 31
December 2017 (the “Year”). The purpose of the ESG Report is to
inform internal and external stakeholders of the Group about the
management policies and sustainable development strategies of
the Group. The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the
environment and enhancing the quality and safety of its working
environment, as well as providing quality services and products to its
customers.

REPORTING STANDARD

The principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency
were adopted in determining the content of this ESG report in
accordance with Appendix 20 “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” to the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Group was prepared in
accordance with all applicable code provisions set out in “Corporate
Governance Code” under Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, and
is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in
this annual report.

SCOPE OF THE ESG REPORT

Unless otherwise specified, the Year is defined as the year ended
31 December 2017. The scope of this ESG Report covers most of
our principal segments, including the provision of financial trading
software solutions, provision of other IT and internet financial
platforms services, money lending business and assets investments.

CONTACT INFORMATION

If you have any opinion or recommendation on this ESG Report,
please send it to us at the following address:

Office P, 21/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1,
No. 3 On Kwan Street, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
DEVELOPMENT

While promoting our business growth, we pay attention to our
environmental and social responsibilities. To make our investors
and stakeholders properly informed for assessment, the Company
sets out below its efforts to minimise its negative influence on the
environment, promote its employees’ well-being and contribute to the
community during the Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

We believe that professional talents, innovative technology and high
quality services are the foundation to build up our corporate values.
At the same time, we are committed to becoming an eco-friendly
corporation that helps to reduce the impacts of its operations on the
environment.

OUR PEOPLE

It is our employees who make our Company a success. As at 31
December 2017, we had 61 (2016: 61) employees in total, including
46 (2016: 45) male staff members and 15 (2016: 16) female staff
members. Given that our business is information technology related,
male staff members would normally be more than female staff
members. Nevertheless, we are committed to hiring employees
without taking into consideration of nationality, gender, age, family
status and other facts irrelevant to competencies and qualifications of
the candidates during the recruitment process.

Our total workforce by age as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as
follow:
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Percentage of Year 2016 ZENFHLA 46% 41% 8% 5%
Percentage of Year 2017 ZE—EFHLA 53% 31% 13% 3%

We treat all of our employees equally and with respect and dignity.
We believe that we can better attract and retain talents through high
labour standards, fair treatment, and safe and harmonious working
environment.

1. Employment

The management highly recognises its employees’ contribution
to its business growth and offers career advancement
opportunities for all employees. Recruitment of new employees
will follow a predetermined process, and an employment
contract must be signed between the newly recruited employee
and the Group before commencement of service. All the
promotion, internal transfer and job rotation as well as new
recruitments are handled with no discrimination on race, religion,
gender, age or disability.

Whenever an employee resigns or gets laid off, designated
human resources personnel will perform an exit-interview to
understand the underlying reasons of departure or dismissal so
as to ensure full compliance with the relevant employment laws
and regulations, reduce staff turnover and improve organisation
operation.
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BR HMEREIHRE

The relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on
the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare during the Year,
included Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the laws of Hong
Kong) and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485 of the laws of Hong Kong). We have maintained employee
compensation insurance for all our staff. No staff of our Group is paid
less than the minimum wage specified by Hong Kong laws. Monthly
salary payments and MPF contributions have been made within the
prescribed timeframe for the Year. The Group is not aware of any
material non-compliance with such laws and regulations during the
Year.

1.1 Employee benefits

We understand that employees are our most valuable assets,
and our Group offers fair and competitive remuneration package
to all employees, including basic salary, discretionary bonus,
medical insurance and long service awards. The remuneration
package of our employees is determined by the management
and/or the Remuneration Committee with assessment of the
employees’ or the directors’ performance, experience and
market benchmark. The remuneration policy and packages are
reviewed regularly by making reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Besides, share options may be granted to eligible
employees under the Share Option Scheme. Our compensation
fully complies with all applicable local labour laws, including
minimum wages, overtime hours and other mandatory benefits.
Working hours is stated within the employment contract.

1.2 Work-life balance
The Group highly values the work-life balance of its staff. Five-
day work week arrangement has been provided to allow our
employees to have adequate rest periods. In addition, our
recreation committee would organise different activities, such
as sports games and wine tasting, from time to time to create a
joyful, positive and harmonious working environment and to help
our staff to release their work pressure. Besides, lunch gathering
had also been arranged by our human resources department to
strengthen the bonding between the Group and our employees.

1.3 Health and safety

As employees are our most important asset and resource,
our primary goal is to provide a safe and healthy working
environment for our employees under reasonable and
practicable conditions. Although our operation is predominantly
office-based, we adhere to Occupational Safety And Health
Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations to provide a safe and healthy
workplace in order to protect our employees from occupational
hazards. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with such laws and regulations during the Year.
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We are committed to provide a safe and healthy working
environment for our employees by implementing the following
key measures:

- Providing and maintaining in all workplace under the
Group’s control a working environment which is safe and
which poses no threat to health

- Performing regular checks on fire equipment at the
workplace and attending fire drill annually organised by
respective building management

- Providing sufficient first-aid kits at the workplace

- Carrying out inspection for any unsafe condition at the
workplace and fix it immediately

In addition, to enhance our indoor air quality and the well-being
of all employees, we provide smoke-free workplace for our
employees. Smoking is prohibited in all enclosed areas within
the offices, without exception. With the above measures, there
were no (2016: Nil) work-related fatalities/injury during the Year.

Development and training

The skills, knowledge and capabilities of our employees are the
pillars of the sustainable development of the Group. We believe
continuous learning and training can effectively improve the
quality of our employees and promote continuous improvement
of the Group. To enrich their knowledge for discharging their
duties, we encourage and sponsor our employees to attend
relevant courses or seminars provided by external service
providers. During the Year, our employees have joined various
external training, the training topics of which included updates
on information technologies, operation management, technical
updates and market trends, GEM Listing Rules, accounting
standards and laws and compliance.
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Labour Standards

The Group adheres to applicable labour standards and strictly
prohibits the use of child or forced labour in its operations. Our
suppliers are expected to follow similar standards of labour
practices when collaborating with us. To combat against
illegal employment on child labour, prior to confirmation of
employment, the Group’s human resources staff requires the
job applicants to provide valid identity documents to ensure
that applicants are lawfully employable. Our human resources
department is responsible to monitor and ensure compliance by
the Group of the latest relevant laws and regulations that prohibit
child labour and forced labour. If there is any false presentation
or fraud committed by the employee(s), the Company or its
subsidiaries have the right to immediately dismiss the relevant
employee(s). The Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant rules and regulations on preventing child labour or
forced labour during the Year, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Supply Chain Management

The Group has a fair and open process in dealing with its
vendors. The selection of the supply source is determined in
a fair and unbiased manner. Our suppliers mainly comprise of
(i) hardware vendors who supply hardware, which are mainly
servers, for the Group’s sale of hardware; and (ii) data centre
operators and network system providers who lease out rack
space in data centres and network systems respectively for the
Group’s hosting services.

We generally select our suppliers based on their scale of
business and reputation to ensure the performance of the
hardware or services provided to our customers. Credits will also
be given to vendors who have a green corporate policy for their
products, production and manufacturing process in reducing
wastage and protecting the environment. If those selected
suppliers are found to have made any significant negative
impacts on the environment or the communities in which they
operate, we would consider to terminate the cooperation with
them. For the items commonly used for our daily operations,
we prefer refillable or reusable products instead of single-use
disposable items.

Personal Data Privacy

We are committed to providing excellent customer experience
as we undertake that our services are safe and in compliance
with applicable laws. We adhere to applicable laws and industry
standards regulating health and safety, personal privacy and
product advertising and labelling. It is our objective that our
customers have confidence in our services with sufficient
information provided to them for making informed choices.

We realise that the financial business involves the dealing with
large amounts of personal information or sensitive corporate
data of clients. Protecting our customers’ interest and privacy
is one of our top concerns to present outstanding customer
service. Our employees are instructed to handle customer
information with due care. They may only obtain information
about the customers when necessary. We collect and use
customer information in a responsible and non-discriminatory
manner by restricting the use of customer information to the
purposes consistent with those identified in our contracts with
such customers.
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The Group undertakes to comply with Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws in safeguarding clients’ personal information,
and has formulated relevant guidelines to require employees to
carefully handle personal information and business records of
clients. During the Year, there was no violation of the relevant
privacy laws.

Service Quality

The Group provides flexible, scalable and cost-effective online
front-end trading and back-office systems for trading global
financial products, for instance, equities, derivatives, forex, etc.
to major banks and brokerage firms in Hong Kong. As a leading
financial software developer and service provider, we believe
that product quality is critical to the Group’s reputation and
further development. Currently, the quality control works are
handled by our development team and quality assurance team.

In order to meet the customers’ requirements, the Group has
established a quality assurance team to develop a sustainable
performance-oriented culture with an emphasis on pursuing
continuous improvement rather than adopting a short-term and
project based approach. To ensure that the Group’s systems
meet its customers’ requirements without deficiency, the quality
assurance team is responsible for running various tests on the
Securities Back Office System and Futures Back Office System
in accordance with a standard checklist.

For the Securities Front Office System and Futures Front Office
System, we assist the customers in the market rehearsal
arranged by the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
to conduct testing on server and system connectivity. For
modification/customisation of the Securities Front Office System
and Futures Front Office System, testing works are handled by
our development team. Firstly, the Group conducts tests on an
individual basis. Then the Group may conduct integration test of
software systems in case the modification/customisation works
affect parts of the software systems. For the Forex and Bullion
Front and Back Office Systems which do not connect to any
exchange, products will be tested internally prior to delivery to
the customers.

If there is any defect in any of the above-mentioned tests,
the product will be returned to the development team for
rectification. After the products are installed, a user acceptance
test would be conducted on the Group’s products. Upon
completion of the user acceptance test, the customers would
then sign the user acceptance test form to acknowledge their
acceptance that the software system meets their functional
specifications and performance requirements.

After the installation, we keep communicating with our clients
and reviewing on various communication channels in order
to receive feedback from our customers and handle their
complaints (if any) in time. If bugs are noted, our customers
service department would record the complaints, liaise with the
product development team and ensure the bugs would be fixed
accordingly.

During the Year, the Group was not in violation of any relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group, in relation to health and safety, advertising and labelling
in relation to the services and products provided by the Group.

BRE -HERELIHRS

AEBEGEE TR B AN F486 E(EANEF
(FLER) 1 0)) R BB AR REZT P EEA
B WO EERRES  BREERERE
BEPHEABR NEBLE - RAFE AR
AR RARRAALROX -

REEE

FEBRBRE MTETAR  INEZSDIRDRIE
a0 [AERBABRIT KL A RREEE - 7
BREAXNAUMENR EATIHRZZ RIEE R
o ERBELNM S ET R MR HE
B RAREEREEYRARENRE KT
—SRREMEE - B RAHFAZEER R
HEREEBAEEEEETE-

REATFPENR  AEEEKIEEREE
B REOFSRMKRBAME - @FRET
B FE02 B MR (B R B W2 » BRERAR
SENZRGERE  REEFER  GERE
BB aRRREREFEHREBELFIHERK
REMERZRGETEEAHA -

HRAIAEFRBERRABMER R
BB BRPEEER S RAEEMBR AR
miZEE P ETT AR M ASEZAE - 5 FH
ZRITEYR FRCAABER G ERRAA
HMEX5FELG - ARRANFEEESEIENR
T B ARBETELAR - 2BRAK
B A ge e AT RSMERCHF, - BRI
B BB HREY BN RBOEMT D - &
RTEREAR SN e RRGINERES
BRBZEL - EmSERXNTEP ZAERNES
HEITRIA -

H DA P EREMBRE - EamSREAE
BEAETIEL - EmTRESHANEENER
EITRAPRICIR - TRAPRICAIEIEK - T
Fr&ismERPRUCAER - RS Z
FTAEBERIE LR EL -

ZETRE - RIS THREESBE - WAl
BRBBRRBETER  IEESEPREL
REFRRIZIGER (A0F) - MERIBR - BHAINE
P RRTS BRI SR SR #ETT RO 8 - OB TR A an T 8
B ARERARIRRFIAEE -

RER  AEEYEERBEAEEMERE
mARBHRERELZ D  BENEE - AHA
SEBEAZENTMREARIER -

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

58



59

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BR HMEREIHRE

6. Intellectual Property Rights

The Group relies on a combination of confidentiality procedures
and contractual provisions with its staff and customers to
protect its intellectual property rights.

We have implemented the following key policies and procedures
to ensure the efforts of our software programmers and the
assets of our Group are properly protected so as to create an
environment that our creativity and hard work can be rewarded:

- Only the software files encoded in computer-readable form
for the sole purpose of installation will be provided to our
customers. Human-readable source codes for the software
written and developed by us will not be provided to our
customers.

- Most of the customers who purchase our software are
required to execute a standard sales contract with us,
which includes a clause stating that all elements and
components in the software system together with the
relevant documentation shall remain the property of
the Group, and all intellectual property rights and other
proprietary rights embodied shall vest in the Group.

- All employees of the Group are required to execute
a standard employment contract acknowledging our
policies concerning business conduct, confidentiality and
restrictions in the execution of their duties. Such policies
include the requirements that the intellectual property
rights in all works, materials or designs originated, written
or made by any employee of the Group during the course
of his or her employment with the Group shall vest in and
remain the sole and exclusive property of the Group.

—  The employees of the Group shall not use, divulge or
communicate to any person any of the trade secrets or
other confidential information relating to the business and
operation of the Group or its customers of which he or she
may have come to possess during his or her employment
with the Group.

- In order to ensure that only employees who are responsible
for the development of such software may have access,
the source codes are protected by a source code
management tool with permission setting controls for each
user such that the access to the source code by our staff is
limited.
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The relevant laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
intellectual property rights included the Copyright Ordinance
(Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary
legislations. Under the Copyright Ordinance, copyright gives the
copyright owner the exclusive right to reproduce or issue copies
of the work to the public. It is an infringement for a third party
to do those acts without the consent of or a licence from the
copyright owner. If an infringement occurs, the copyright owner
can bring an action seeking damages or an injunction to restrain
the unauthorised copying. We are not aware of any material
non-compliance with such laws and regulations during the Year.

Anti-Corruption

The Group believes that fairness, honesty and clean practices
are its important commercial assets, and therefore requires all
employees (including Directors) at all levels to strictly adhere to
business ethics to ensure that the Group’s reputation will not
be compromised by acts of dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption.
We have in place a zero-tolerance policy for misconduct, a well-
defined anti-bribery policy, a whistle-blowing policy and channels
for redress. We also request our employees to conform with our
requirements and policies on anti-corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering set out in our staff handbook and
code of conducts. We have no hesitation in taking disciplinary
actions, such as warning of the offense committed either by
verbal or in written form or even summary dismissal, upon any
proven misconduct case.

During the Year, the Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations pertaining to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) enforced by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption.

Community Involvement

We are dedicated to understand the needs of the communities
in which we operate and help those communities in need.
During the Year, charitable donations made by the Group
reached approximately HK$83,000. Besides, we encourage our
employees to participate in social and community events that
promote the interests of the community. In March 2017, our staff
have participated in a flag-selling event for the Hong Kong Single
Parents Association. In addition, in order to raise the awareness
of cyber securities for the public, we have provided a free
seminar to the public organised by the Hong Kong Securities
Professional Association during the Year. Furthermore, in order
to boost the innovation capabilities of our new generation, we
have sponsored the student innovation competition organised
by the Hong Kong New Emerging Technology Education
Association, which amounted to HK$38,000 during the Year.
Our management has been honourably invited to be one of
the judges in the final competition. In honor of our efforts, the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service had awarded the “Caring
Company” to us for three consecutive years from 2015 to 2018.
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9. Environment

9.1 Air and greenhouse gas emissions

As the Group is principally engaged in the service industry
where its nature does not involve any direct production of
exhaust gas (including nitrogen oxides (NO,) and gaseous
sulfur oxides (SO,)) and greenhouse gas, discharge of
wastewater and discharges into land and production
of hazardous waste, there is no direct emission of such
pollutants made by the Group. Although our business
activities do not cause any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources, we still strive to
minimise the adverse impacts of our businesses on the
environment by enhancing our operational efficiency and
implementing eco-friendly measures.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to environmental protection which had a significant
impact on the Group in relation to air and greenhouse gas
(*GHG”) emissions. Since the operations of the Group do
not involve any gaseous fuel consumption and the Group
does not own any vehicles, no significant air pollutants are
emitted.

Energy consumption accounts for a major part of the
Group’s GHG emissions. The usage of electricity is
for maintaining daily office operations and operational
activities including lighting, office equipment and other
miscellaneous items. Total electricity consumption from
our leased office during the Year was 105,224 kWh (2016:
99,192 kWh), representing 1,724 kWh (2016: 1,626 kWh)
per employee.

GHG emissions information for the Year
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Scope 1 &2 ENERDN 58.55 0.96
Scope 3 — Business travel #HE3— ZR 4,03 0.07
Total emissions wyrmE 62.58 1.03
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We recognise that global warming has long term effects on
the earth. Apart from the Group’s existing environmental
protection initiatives (refer to the section headed “9.4 Use
of resources” below for details), we have signed the Carbon
Reduction Charter issued by the Environment Bureau of
the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to support the reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions. Under the charter, we undertake to carry out
activities to identify areas of improvement and conduct
voluntary programmes to reduce possible emissions arising
from our business.

Waste

Due to the nature of its business, the Group has not
made significant impact on the environment and natural
resources and no hazardous waste was generated in
connection with its businesses. For non-hazardous
wastes, they were mainly contributed by the paper wastes
generated by the Group, which would be handled by way
of recycling through the 3-tiered waste separation bins
placed in the Group’s office premises. Due to the service
nature of its business, no packaging materials have been
used by the Group. The amount of non-hazardous waste
generated during the Year was approximately 0.41 tonnes,
representing less than 0.01 tonnes per employee.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to environmental protection which had a significant impact
on the Group, in relation to the discharge into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

Various waste reduction measures (refer to the section
headed “9.4 Use of resources” below for details) have
been undertaken to reduce the wastes in our business
operations.

Water use management

Our water usage arises mainly from water tap and
drinking water. We have no issue in sourcing water that
is fit for such purpose. During the Year, we operated in
leased office premises in Hong Kong of which both of
the water supply and discharge are solely controlled by
the respective building management which considered
that provision of water withdrawal and discharge data or
sub-meter for individual occupant not feasible. To avoid
unnecessary water consumption from daily operation, we
promote good staff behavior by encouraging employees to
always turn taps off tightly so they do not drip and giving
priority to effective water-saving products.
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9.4 Use of resources
9.4.1 Policies on efficient use of resources
We embrace the 4R (reduce, reuse, recycle
and replace) policy in our operations. Our key
environmental protection measures include the
following:

- Ensure compliance with all relevant and
applicable environmental legislations and other
legal requirements;

- Adopt an effective management system to
prevent pollution and reduce the impact on the
environment;

- Optimise operating processes by effectively
consuming energy and water;

- Use of resources effectively to reduce
unnecessary waste generation and encourage
the habit of reuse and recycle where applicable;
and

—  Raise staff awareness regarding environmental
protection by educating our staff for 4R
Environmental Management Model.

9.4.2 Green practices
To better manage electricity usage, we have adopted
different measures to better manage our electricity
consumption. The following measures have been
adopted:

—  Set the temperature of air conditioning in our
offices to an energy-efficient level at 24°C to
26°C;

- Clean the air filters of air-conditioners regularly
to improve cool air flow efficiency;

—  Select the electrical appliances with energy
efficient labels;

- Preset the computers to sleep mode instead of
using screen savers;

- Encourage our staff to switch off lightings and
electrical devices which are not in use;

- If feasible, instead of taking overseas business
trips, conduct video conferencing or use other
electronic communication means to reduce
carbon footprints from flights; and

- Energy saving light bulbs, Grade 1 fridges and

other energy saving electrical appliances have
been used in our leased offices.
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9.4.3 Policies on wastes reduction

Frequent use of electronic communications,
such as sending information, disseminating
notices, reporting on the latest activities, and
receiving suggestions, etc;

Make use of elemental chlorine-free paper;

Encourage employees to use e-mails or notice
board for internal communication;

Use double-sided printing/copying whenever
possible;

Promote a “think before you copy” attitude:
printing only the number of copies required by
sharing documents with co-workers;

For promoting waste recycling, deploy 3-tiered
waste separation bins; and

Arrange authorised recycler to collect toner
cartridges for recycling.

With the implementation of the measures above, we
believe that the objectives of saving energy, reducing
wastes and preserving the environment can be
achieved. We will continue to look for opportunities
to reduce further emissions and wastes on an
ongoing basis in order to minimise the impacts on
the environment and natural resources created by the
Group’s activities.
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The Board herewith presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial trading
software solutions, provision of other IT and internet financial
platforms services, provision of referral services, money lending
business and assets investments in Hong Kong. During the Year,
one of the subsidiaries of the Company held the license in respect
of type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the
SFO. The Group’s provision of property management and property
agency services and provision of design and fitting-out services
were regarded as discontinued operations for the purpose of this
annual report. Details of the principal activities and other particulars
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 6 to 32 of this annual report. Such discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
will be held on Monday, 25 June 2018. In order to determine the
entitlement of the Shareholders to attend the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 20 June
2018 to Monday, 25 June 2018 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company can be registered. To
qualify for the attendance at the AGM, Shareholders must ensure that
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/
F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point,
Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 19 June 2018.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
86 to 87 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2016: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of change in the capital structure of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Capital Structure” in
the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 29 of this annual
report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year
or subsisting at the end of the Year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
10 September 2013 so as to attract and retain the best available
personnel and to provide additional incentive to the eligible
participants under the Scheme. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board
is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to the terms of
the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of
the Company (in such form then existing and subject to adjustment)
to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants or
advisor of the Group, or any substantial Shareholders of the Group, or
any distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners or service providers of the Group. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 10 September
2013 and expiring on the business day immediately preceding the
10th anniversary thereof, i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early
termination provisions contained in the Scheme.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The subscription
price of a share of the Company in respect of any particular option
granted under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option; (i) the average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of an ordinary share of
the Company on the date of grant of the option.
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The total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the listing date
of the Company, being 26 September 2013. The Company may at
any time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and
issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided
that the total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under all the share option schemes of the Company
does not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. The total number of ordinary shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant must
not exceed 1% of the ordinary shares of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the Shareholders and issue of a circular and all
other information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares of HK$0.005 each,
representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the date of this annual report.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed one year from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof.

Save for the placing of new shares of the Company as disclosed
under the section headed “Placing of new shares under general
mandate” on page 29 of this annual report and the Scheme as
disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at the
end of the Year.
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Details of the movements in the share options of the Company

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEEHE

RERRRRIREZ B 2 BREZBFITHTIW

pursuant to the Scheme during the Year are as follows: T
Number of share options
Outstanding
Date of grant and Exercise At Granted Lapsed as at
Name or category of vesting date of Exercise period of price of 1 January during the duringthe 31 December
participants share options share options granted share options 2017 Year Year 4 232
N :g_
BLBRERS _ = +2Az1-7
SRENERER kBEREH RHBERETES BREZTRE -A-H REREH RERXN WA
(HKS per share) Note (@)
(Bk#T) Wit
Executive Directors
HTES
Lam Ching Yee 21 November 2016 21 November 2016 - 0.219% 8,000,000 - (8,000,000) -
20 November 2017
TR Z3-7"Ft-Azt-B I "E+-A-t-HE
ZEtET-AZTA
28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 0.3150 - 4,510,000 - 4,510,000
27 March 2018
“2—+FEZAZT/\R “Z—+F=A-t)\RE
Z3-\§=A-ftA
Lin Ting 21 November 2016 21 November 2016 - 0219 8,000,000 - (8,000,000) -
20 November 2017
HE “IEt-A-t-B E-AE+-A-t-BHE
B o gt =
28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 0.3150 - 4,510,000 - 4,510,000
27 March 2018
“Z—+FZAZT)\R “2—+FZAZ+)\RZE
Z3-\§=AZftA
Non-executive Director
18
Ng Wing Cheong Stephen 21 November 2016 21 November 2016 - 0.21% 8,000,000 - (8,000,000) -
20 November 2017
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e B sy
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B R
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27 March 2018
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20 November 2017
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B I
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Notes:

() The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company immediately before
the date on which the share options were granted was HK$0.3 per share.

(o)  Consideration of HK$1 was paid by each of the grantees on their acceptance
of the share options granted.

During the Year, no share options were exercised or cancelled,
and 40,000,000 share options have been lapsed. Further details
of the Scheme are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS AND
WARRANTS

Save for the options granted under the Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had granted or issued any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 90 of this annual report and in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves available for distribution
of the Company during the Year are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had reserves amounting
to approximately HK$171,544,000 (2016: approximately
HK$193,830,000) available for distribution as calculated in
accordance with statutory provisions applicable in the Cayman Islands.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$83,000 (2016: HK$83,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 June 2017)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee

Ms. Lin Ting

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams (appointed on 19 May 2017)
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Zhong Shi (appointed on 8 June 2017)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (retired on 18 May 2017)

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
in the course of the term of office of a Director.

With effect from 1 January 2018, (i) the annual director’s fee and
annual salary of Mr. Chan Wai Lung was revised to HK$120,000 and
HK$630,000 respectively; and (i) the annual director’s fee of Ms.
Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun
Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi was revised to HK$300,000,
HK$300,000, HK$120,000, HK$90,000 and HK$90,000 respectively.

On 12 February 2018, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, an independent
non-executive Director, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Prosten Health.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director), Ms. Lam Ching Yee
(an executive Director) and Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (a non-
executive Director) has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of 12 months commencing from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2017 (both days inclusive). Mr. Chan Wai Lung has
entered into a service contract with the Company commencing from
his date of appointment as an executive Director and the chairman
of the Board on 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017 (both days
inclusive). Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams has entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from his date of appointment as a
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 to 31 December 2017 (both
days inclusive). Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms.
Lin Ting, Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen and Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams
has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, an independent non-executive Director, who
has entered into a service contract with the Company with a term of
two years commencing from 24 June 2015 to 23 June 2017 (both
days inclusive), has been re-appointed for the period from 24 June
2017 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lee Kwun
Ling, May Jean, an independent non-executive Director, who has
entered into a service contract with the Company with a term of two
years commencing from 26 September 2015 to 25 September 2017
(both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for the period from 26
September 2017 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive). Mr.
Zhong Shi has entered into a service contract with the Company
commencing from his date of appointment as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2017 to 31 December 2017 (both days
inclusive), and he has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive).

All service contracts with Directors are subject to termination, among
others, by giving not less than one month’s written notice.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS
AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES BY THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
on pages 66 to 69 of this annual report, none of the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (i) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEEHE

EEREFBRITHRAERRKRAD - HEKR
REEFTFNESZRAR

RZZE—+tF+_A=+—08 ESREARAEE
THABRAR R REAEMEE (FE AFHFLPE
TRBIEXVER) BB « MBI S ERERF - HEA()
RIEEF RS IEH E35215BE BN ZIEFTIEM
ErMArERSRAR © LiRIBEGEM LM RRIE
5.46E5.67TIRAME AR T MR TR AR
T

Approximate
percentage of

Number of underlying shareholding as at

Name of Director Capacity/Nature shares held/interested 31 December 2017

R=Z—tF

BE BERRN +=HA=+—H

EEnE 54 e HEROHE REMABED L

(note b) (note c)

(Ktstb) (Btzte)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee (note a) Beneficial owner 4,510,000 (L) 0.36
MEME L (M ita) EmfAA

Ms. Lin Ting (note a) Beneficial owner 4,510,000 (L) 0.36
MEL L (Kita) EmBAA

Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (note a) Beneficial owner 4,510,000 (L) 0.36
REFFE(Hita) EmBAA

Notes: Kz -

(@) Each of Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting and Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen
was granted options to subscribe for 4,510,000 ordinary shares of the
Company on 28 March 2017 pursuant to the Scheme. Such options can
be exercised by each of Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting and Mr. Ng Wing
Cheong Stephen between 28 March 2017 and 27 March 2018 at the exercise
price of HK$0.315 per share.

(b) “L” denotes position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.

() The total number of the issued shares as at 31 December 2017 (i.e.
1,260,582,340 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate
percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

@ IREZEE MEFELT  MELLTRIELHLELH
RZE—+F A+ \BERBRENRBEARQR
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EEEIR - ZE—+F=—A-_F+ N \HE-_Z—N\F=A
—t++ A ERRER0.315E TN TEETE A BER
12 -

(o) TLHEARRBRMKAABED 2478 -

© RZE—tEF+ZA=+—-—HEBHTRHAE(HD
1,260,582,340/% i {7 ) st EA R BBV HEAT B 2 LR
o

B EXHEBEEN R-_T—tF+-_A=+—8H"
BEERNARRETETHA ERAR F) S H T ] HE
EE(EE R FESMEEGIEXVE) kG - 18R
o MEEET  BEEEREEFLAEELE
352K B E MR ZAKFTIEM E R MA - SR IEGEM
ETHRBIES46E567TIK(REZETESFRSE
B ZBME AN B R AT EAER AR -

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

72



73

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT

POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2017, the
following Shareholders and persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had, or was deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, as

TERRREMALTRERS - HER
REEFNERRAR

BEEMA R _ZE—tF+-_A=+—8" 775
BEREALT(AEFFEFEHARARABEETRAB)ER
RE R SRARRE AR ) P R SR R R AR IBRE 5
KB 5D 336 IFFL N AN R EIIF ER B LM A

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under IR
section 336 of the SFO:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held/ shareholding as at
Name of shareholder Nature of interest interested 31 December 2017
R=Z—tF
BEBEAERN +=HA=+—H
REEHE ERME RHEE REBNBED L
(note c) (note d)
(Kizte) (Hiztd)
Ever Robust Holdings Limited (note a) Beneficial owner 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
ERERERAR(Hta) BB A
Whole Kind Investments Limited (note a) Interest in a controlled corporation 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
SERABRRRB (Hita) R EE s
Interactive Entertainment China Cultural Interest in controlled corporations 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
Technology Investments Limited (note a)
BIRFBSYE RN B BR AR (Hita) Ry EE
Perfect Growth Limited (note b) Beneficial owner 186,492,340 (L) 14.79
ERERAT(MTD) E=EBA
Lucky Famous Limited (note b) Interest in a controlled corporation 186,492,340 (L) 14.79
Lucky Famous Limited(#7z1b) Ry EE
GET Holdings Limited (note b) Interest in controlled corporations 186,492,340 (L) 14.79
BIERBR AT (M7 SR EE
Leung Kwok Pong Beneficial owner 138,310,000 (L) 10.97

REF

Notes:

BHHEBA

Bet

() These 136,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ever ()
Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever Robust”), which is wholly-owned by Whole
Kind Investments Limited (“Whole Kind”), which is in turn wholly-owned by
Interactive Entertainment China Cultural Technology Investments Limited (“IE
China”). By virtue of the SFO, each of Whole Kind and IE China is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the ordinary shares of the Company held by Ever

Robust.

(b)  These 186,492,340 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Perfect (b)
Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), which is wholly-owned by Lucky Famous
Limited (“Lucky Famous”), which is in turn wholly-owned by GET Holdings
Limited (“GET"). By virtue of the SFO, each of Lucky Famous and GET is
deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the ordinary shares of the Company

held by Perfect Growth.

(c) “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company. (c)

(d)  The total number of the issued shares as at 31 December 2017 (i.e. (d)
1,260,582,340 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate

percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2017

#%%:136,800,000 A 12 7] & i f B IR LB R A F)
(MEFEDHE  ERBFEREERIA(REDR2E
%A MEENmERPEMRRREARAR(E
RAEED2ERE - REESFRAEGRD - 2ERER
TREBRRALAREERERFA I AR ER
ferh A A

% E186,4R2340 B AR A LM ABHERFR QA
([E8 |)#8 » 28/ Lucky Famous Limited ([ Lucky
Famous |) 2 & # A - iMlLucky Famous Bl & SiEiE
BAR[BES])2EHEE - RIZESREIEEG - Lucky
Famous R B & B R AR EERERRE 2 ANAF
EEL B P EHES -

[LIEEARRRIEBR IR -
RZE—EF+-_A=+—BEBTROLE(H

1,260,582,340/% A% {7) At st A R B BEATE 2 LAk
T e



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors are
not aware of any other persons who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 48 to 52 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
(as defined under section 486 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong)) had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams, an independent non-executive Director, is
also a director and a non-controlling shareholder of Innovest Finance
Limited, which is a company principally engaged in the money lending
business in Hong Kong.

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, an executive Director, is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of |E China, a substantial shareholder of the Company, i.e.
Mark Profit Finance Limited (which is a company principally engaged
in money lending business in Hong Kong) and other subsidiaries of IE
China which are principally engaged in assets investments business.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates as defined in the GEM Listing Rules had any
business or interests in a business which competes or is likely to
complete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
during the Year. As at 31 December 2017, the Company did not have
any controlling shareholder.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group as at 31
December 2017 are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 17.4% (2016: approximately 23.3%) in aggregate of
the Group’s consolidated revenue. The top five suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 58.5% (2016: approximately 48.6%) in
aggregate of the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct
staff cost) for the Year. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 4.9% (2016: approximately 7.2%) of the
Group’s consolidated revenue and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 35.8% (2016: approximately 19.3%) of
the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for
the Year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge
and belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) were interested in these major customers or
suppliers of the Group during the Year.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has a diversified customer base with over 100 customers
mainly from Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and Singapore. In order
to maintain relationships with customers, various means have
been established to strengthen the communications between the
customers and the Group to strengthen and expand the Group’s
provision of customer service. In addition, the Group will continue
expanding its sales and marketing team to proactively manage
customer relations, expand its customer base and enhance customer
loyalty.

The Group does not have any supplier of goods or services which
was specific to the Group’s business and which was required by the
Group on a regular basis to enable the Group to continue to supply or
serve its customers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success. The
Group is committed to providing its employees with a safe, pleasant
and healthy working environment. The Group rewards and recognises
its employees by competitive remuneration package and implements
a key performance index scheme with appropriate incentives,
and promote career development and progression by providing
opportunities for career advancement.

In addition, each department of the Group is responsible for
determining the training needs for its employee in its department
and any suggested applicable training courses either arranged
internally or by external service providers shall be submitted to the
senior management of the Group for approval. Knowledge, skills
and capacities of employees are vital to the continuous business
growth and success of the Group. The Group strives to ensure that all
employees will fulfill the relevant job requirements through education,
training, technical and work experience.

Further details of the composition of our employees are set out on
page 54 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant subsequent event after the year ended 31
December 2017.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into a connected transaction during the Year.
For details, please refer to the paragraph headed “Discontinued
operations — provision of property management and property agency
services, and provision of design and fitting-out services” on pages
24 to 25 of this annual report.

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules during the Year, except for the deviation as disclosed under the
section headed “Chairman and chief executive officer” on page 37
of this annual report. Details of the Group’s corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 33 to 47 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float required by the GEM Listing
Rules during the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated financial results and the consolidated
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on pages 198 to 199 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the environment
and enhancing the quality and safety of its working environment. The
Group aims to reduce emissions and use of resources in its operation
through various environmental protection measures, including using
electrical appliances with energy efficient labels, encouraging its
employees to minimise use of resources such as electricity and water,
and promoting the use of electronic communication and recycle
papers among its employees.

Further details of the environmental policies and performances of
the Group are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report which is set out on pages 53 to 64 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and that the risk of non-compliance with relevant
requirements could lead to adverse impact on the business
operation and financial position of the Group. The Board as a whole
is responsible to ensure the Group is in compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
To the best of knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with relevant laws and regulations during the Year. The details of the
Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report which is set out on
pages 53 to 64 of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)
was and is currently in force for the benefit of the Directors.

AUDITOR

With effect from 6 December 2017, PKF has resigned as auditor of
the Company due to its internal reorganisation which resulted in its
change of entity status from a partnership to a limited company under
the name of PKF Hong Kong Limited. Following the resignation of
PKF, PKF Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the new auditor
of the Company.

PKF Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company for the Year,
shall retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment pursuant
to article 176(a) of the articles of association of the Company. A
resolution will be submitted to the coming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint PKF Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BED RS

KERBH (E) BHAEBHARLT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FINSOFT FINANCIAL INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 86 to 196, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined to communicate in our report the following key
audit matters for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Investment properties

The Group’s investment properties measured at a Level 3 fair value
disclosed in Notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements
were determined to be a key audit matter because of the significant
estimation uncertainty resulted from the use of unobservable inputs
and the significant judgement made in selecting the valuation
methods.

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Obtain an understanding of the Group’s procedures and method
of valuation, including any control activities applied, significant
assumptions made and management’s assessment of estimation
uncertainty;

- Re-calculate the valuation made by the management;

- Evaluate the independence and works performed by experts
engaged by the management to assist their valuation;

- Evaluate whether the method of valuation and assumptions
made are appropriate;

—  Test the data used by the management in the valuation;

- Determine whether indication of possible management bias
exist; and

- Evaluate the recognition and measurement criteria used and
disclosure made by management.
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Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss — convertible bond measured at level 3

fair value

The Group’s financial assets designated as at fair value through profit
or loss — Convertible bond measured at Level 3 fair value disclosed
in Notes 4, 6 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements were
determined to be a key audit matter because of the significant
estimation uncertainty resulted from the use of unobservable inputs
and the significant judgement made in selecting the valuation method.

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Obtain an understanding of the Group’s procedures and method
of valuation, including any control activities applied, significant
assumptions made and management’s assessment of estimation
uncertainty;

- Re-calculate the valuation made by the management;

- Evaluate whether the method of valuation and assumptions
made are appropriate;

—  Test the data used by the management in the valuation;

- Determine whether indication of possible management bias
exist; and

- Evaluate the recognition and measurement criteria used and
disclosure made by management.

Impairment assessment of available-for-sale

investments

The Group’s available-for-sale equity investments measured at Level
1 fair value was disclosed in Notes 4, 6 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements. The management assesses whether there is
objective evidence that any available-for-sale equity investments is
impaired. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is evidence that the assets are impaired. This
area was determined to be a key audit matter because significant
judgements are involved when evaluating the existence of the
objective evidence of impairment and the determination of the
impairment loss to be recognised in profit or loss for available-for-sale
investments.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Obtain an understanding of and evaluate the internal controls
over impairment test process;

- Perform on-going review for the existence of objective evidence
that any available-for-sale equity investments may be impaired;

—  Assess if there has been a significant or prolonged decline in fair
value below investment cost;

- Re-calculate the valuation made by the management;

- Evaluate whether the method of valuation and assumptions
made are appropriate;

—  Test the data used by the management in the valuation;

- Determine whether indication of possible management bias
exist; and

—  Evaluate the recognition and measurement criteria used and
disclosure made by management.

Impairment loss of investment in an associate - Four

Directions Investment Limited (“FDIL”)

The Group’s impairment loss of investment in an associate was
disclosed in Notes 4, 9 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements. Losses generated by FDIL and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2017 was considered as an indicator of
impairment by the management. In light of the above impairment
indicator, management determined the recoverable amount of FDIL
with the assistance from an independent external valuation expert.
This area was determined to be a key audit matter because of the
significance of the investment in FDIL as at 31 December 2017 and
management’s assessment of the recoverable amount involved
significant judgements and estimates towards future results of
FDIL’s business and the significant judgement made in selecting the
valuation method.

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Obtain an understanding of the Group’s procedures and
method of valuation, including significant assumptions made
and management’s assessment of estimation uncertainty;

—  Re-calculate the valuation made by the management;

- Evaluate the independence and works performed by expert
engaged by the management to assist their valuation;
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- Evaluate whether the method of valuation and assumptions
made are appropriate;

—  Test the data used by the management in the valuation;

- Determine whether indication of possible management bias
exist; and

- Evaluate the recognition and measurement criteria used and
disclosure made by management.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information which
comprises the information included in the Group’s annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (“Annual Report”) other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard in respect of the other
information we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is TAN Yik Chung Wilson (Practising Certificate
Number: P05103).

PKF Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRRRAMEEARAR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+iE —E-RE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Jokza FET FAT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEK
Revenue e 7 56,885 58,537
Cost of sales SHERAR (15,382) (15,192
Gross profit EF 41,503 43,345
Other income HAUA 9 91 7
Other gains and losses Hivlzm K E 1B 9 (25,146) (990)
Administrative expenses TR (41,962) (41,990)
Finance costs B AR 10 (978) 6,761)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates FEREE A AR (E51R), R F) 22 (5,397) 2,976
Share of loss of a joint venture E(h—faERAEE 23 (19,202) (3,489)
Loss before tax from continuing operations 7 B B A& & ¥ KR T AT E 18 11 (51,091) (6,902)
Income tax expense SRt 12 (3,309) (3,498)
Loss for the year from continuing operations i (5 3 48 &8 & S 75 10 SE (N 548 (54,400) (10,400)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIREER
Profit for the year from discontinued KRB BRI E BRI F N A
operations 13 8,250 20,799
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER),ER (46,150) 10,399
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hib2mE(EE), WA
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HigZrJgeEFHHEEBEMIEE -
to profit or loss:
Fair value (loss)/gain on available-for-sale  A] it H &4 &8 A FEE
investments (F518), M (31,587) 4,796
Impairment loss of available-for-sale A HERE R REESE
investments 25,137 -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMZE(ER), WA
for the year (6,450) 4,796
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FREME(EE) WAL
for the year (52,600) 15,195
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiiaRAt2ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mist FET FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: FE{5&E R (E5E), %R :
Owners of the Company RABHER A (46,503) 2,008
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R A 353 8,391
(46,150) 10,399
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for ELHFEREE(EE) WAHEE :
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZE N (52,953) 6,804
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR A 353 8,391
(52,600) 15,195
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
(Restated)
(F&=751))
(Loss)/earnings per share sR(EE) BA
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) AR REE(BRB)
— For (loss)/profit for the year —FR(EE),EF 17 (3.775) 0.297
— For loss from continuing operations —REFHELCEEBER 17 (4.419) (1.562)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements. Details of dividend are disclosed in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SeMBRLE

As at 31 December 2017 R=ZF—+F+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—B—tF —E-RE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Jokza FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZ - B Rk 18 2,701 1,302
Investment properties WEME 19 18,990 18,160
Goodwill B 20 = -
Intangible assets | EE 21 1,462 3,552
Investments in associates REE NG 2IRE 22 2,960 70,558
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERFZIRE 23 16,905 36,107
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 24 11,173 70,531
Deposits paid for purchases of property, HEEVE  BERREN
plant and equipment ki 3,208 4,285
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEEHTE 57,399 204,495
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables, deposits and ~ Z 5 R H A EWRIE - 54 K&
prepayments SEEC 25 9,851 11,980
Loans receivable M E K 26 26,590 36,420
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEEFABENESREE
profit or loss 27 2,500 18,752
Current tax assets BNERTH T & 2= 108 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 28 148,616 16,459
187,665 83,611
Assets of disposal groups classified as SEAFBIFHENLEHAREE
held for sale 13 - 7,787
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REEEHAT 187,665 91,398
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals HAbERIERIETEA 29 37,047 33,050
Current tax liabilities EEARIE B (& - 2,066
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 30 = 31,700
37,047 66,316
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as 2 8 AFEHENHEHERIAE
held for sale 13 - 2,082
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEHERE 37,047 68,898
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 150,618 22,500
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 208,017 226,995
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & MBIk R

As at 81 December 2017 R=Z—+F+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—t5F —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiiE FHET FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIE S (F 31 243 606
NET ASSETS EEFH 207,774 226,389
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RA R #E
Share capital fig s 32 6,303 5,252
Reserves i 34 201,471 217,574
Equity attributable to owners of KAEHA AEREE
the Company 207,774 222,826
Non-controlling interests SRR RS - 3,563
TOTAL EQUITY DB 207,774 226,389

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) on

26 March 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan Wai Lung
FR1ZRE
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RAEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTEEARE
Retained
Share Investment eamings/ Non-
Share Share options Merger Capital  revaluation  (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Subtotal interests equity
ke BE  REEN/ FER
ey RH%RE B alEE ExdE EffRE  (2HER) gt BRERS ER4E
HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK§'000 HK$000 HKS§'000 HK$'000
T ThnL T TEL ThEL ThL TEL T T T
note 32) (note 41(a)) (note 34(a)) (note 34(b)) (note 34(c))
W) (W) (WEsy)  (FEsy)  (BEsg)
At1 January 2016 R=E-rE-A-H 2,000 34,610 - 8 - - 7872 44560 1,214 45,174
Profitfor the year EfiaH| - - - - - - 2,008 2,008 8,391 10,399
Other comprehensive income EREHRERA -
forthe year:
Fairvalue gan on avallble-for-sde. TR EREHAT
investments D - - - - - 4,79 - 479 - 47%
Total comprehensive income FREpAES
for the year - - - - - 479 2,008 6,804 8,391 15,195
Shares issued (note 32) BEARA () 3252 172,822 - - - - - 176,074 - 176,074
Shares issuing expenses FOELH - (6,790) - - - - - (6,790) - (6,790
Disposal of a Subsidfary LE-FHRBAR
[note 36(0) (H3k36) - - - - - - - - 108 103
Capital contibution fom iR TR
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 2 2
Changeinownershipinterestsin -~ SEBLENE
subsicfries without
change of control {note 37) I - - - - 67 - - 67 3433 3,500
Dividend peid to B3 RE:
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 9,800 (9,800)
Share-based payments Wk H5E
(note 33) (Riitas) - - 2111 - - - - 2,111 - 2111
At 31 December 2016 i
t-A=+-B 5252 200,642 2,111 8 67 4,79 9,880 200,826 3,563 226,389
(Loss)/profit for the year Eh(EE)/ 5 - - - - - - (46,509 (46,509) 33 (46,150)
Other comprehensive loss EREMAERE:
for the year:
Fair value loss on available-for-  THHERENLT
sale investments EEEE - - - - - (31,587) - (31,587) - (31,587)
Impairment loss of available-for- T ERER
sale investments HEFE - - - - - 25,137 - 25,137 - %5137
Total comprehensive (loss) fincome  £R27 (1) /KA&E
for the year 5 - . 5 5 6450 (6503 (32959 1) (52,600)
Shares issued (note 32) BRARG (M) 1,051 20,623 - - - - - 30,674 = 30674
Shares issuing expenses RARGER - (984) - - - - - (984) - (984)
Acquisition of non-controlling ~ WEEBRER
interests - - - - - - - - (1,721 (1,721)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENRAR
(note 36(a)) (HE36(a)) - - - - 67) - - 67) (2,189 2,256)
Share-based payments WRBZRFE
(note 33) (HfiE33) - - 8218 - - - - 8,218 - 8218
Transfer of share options reserve ~ RERBERHER
upon the expiry BRERE
of share options - - @1) - - - 2,111 - - -
At 31 December 2017 R-B-t§
tZR=1-A 6,303 209,081 8218 8 - (1,654 (34512 207,174 - 01,114
The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEFIHI SRR 2 B4R A I TS MR AR EB 7 ©

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ReBeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—REF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBNRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax: BrEiRT(E1B), R F
From continuing operations REAFBICLER (51,091) (6,902)
From discontinued operations REBRIEREFETE 13 8,381 21,783
(42,710) 14,881
Adjustments for: MTINFIEFE
— Interest income —F A (3) (7)
— Interest expense on loan notes —EREBRNBAXZ - 6,546
— Interest expense on other borrowings —HiEEMN R 816 211
— Other interest expense —HiF B 162 4
- Depreciation of property, plant and —¥I% - BEREEITE
equipment 1,920 1,468
— Amortisation of intangible assets — B EEHE 2,090 5,102
— Fair value gain on investment —REME N TEE
properties, net e FRE (830) (160)
— Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets —BE AR AT EE ABE
designated as at fair value through WemEEL A TEERE
profit or loss 1B (W) 577 77
— (Reversal)/provision of impairment loss on  — & 5 JEUL R IE BB 5 18
trade receivables (Bm) (362) 202
— Write-off of other receivables — i SE E fh FE U IR 78 -
— Impairment loss on available-for-sale — A ERENRERSE
investments 28,637 -
— Impairment loss on investment in an —R—EBE AR ZIRERBEBE
associate 9,179 -
— Gain on disposal of an associate —HE—MEE A e 2 W (8,308) -
— Gain on disposal of subsidiaries — HEME QBN (7,588) (17,663)
— Gain on bargain purchase —mEEENE = (185)
— Gain on disposal of an investment property — H&E —IB&R & W2 2 Wz - (112)
— Gain on dilution of interest in an associate — B #ER —EHE = A &) 2 #E2E
2 Wi - (435)
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of —HERHEERE 7 (W),
available-for-sale investments E518 (1,229) 798
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and —HEME - BEMEED
equipment gt 149 42
— Share of losses/(profits) of associates — BB N E) 2 B (MER) 5,397 (2,976)
— Share of loss of a joint venture —EIE—REERRZER 19,202 3,489
— Share-based payments — AR SZ A RIR 8,278 2,111
Operating cash flows before movements LEESRYILET SRS
in working capital 15,455 13,139
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other E 5 NEMEWHIE - BE &
receivables, deposits and prepayments TER B (38 0) 3,482 (1,211)
Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable MR E R A, (3840) 9,830 (10,220)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets BAFEETT ABRE
at fair value through profit or loss SREERD (8 15,675 (5,903)
Increase in other payables and accruals Eoh FE A FUE K FE R B AE N 3,399 10,026
Cash generated from operations CEASMIRS 47,841 5,831
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBNEH (5,846) (5,016)
Net cash flows from operating activities KETREBNIRSNEFE 41,995 815
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEBeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FET FAET
Cash flows from investing activities RETEFMBNRERE
Interest received BRE 3 7
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE ¥ - WE L& (2,103) (596)
Deposits paid for purchases of property, MEBEVE  BEMREINZ
plant and equipment e - (4,285)
Investments in associates REFERE]2IRE - (58,793)
Dividend received from an associate B — R & A m U E 2 B B - 1,616
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERFZI’E - (39,596)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U g M A a) 35 - (25,868)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHTE QR 36 3,424 21,282
Proceeds from deemed disposal REREHE—RHMRBARZ
of a subsidiary FrSR0R - 3,500
Proceeds from disposal of an associate s —fEE SR E) 2 AT 08 59,726 -
Purchases of available-for-sale investments & & a] ff HERE - (26,771)
Disposal of available-for-sale investments HEHEERE 25,500 17,452
Sale proceeds from disposal of RALE—IBREME S
an investment property SHE P15 I8 - 8,312
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing KEFREHNE/ (FTR)MNBESRE
activities F %8 86,550 (103,841)
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBMEBNESRE
Issue of shares BT D 30,674 139,360
Share issuing expenses &1 TRIS (984) (6,790)
Repayment of loan notes BEEREER - (100,300)
New borrowings raised FTIGEE 11,000 41,000
Repayment of borrowings EEEE (42,500) (9,500)
Interest paid for loan notes ERNEREEFE - (6,203)
Interest paid for other borrowings BHMEEZFE (1,016) (11)
Other interest expense paid BT HAF S (162) (@)
Capital contribution from non-controlling M A El JEERAR R 2 T &
shareholders of subsidiaries - 222
Dividend paid to non-controlling [RENE T S 4y
shareholders - (9,800)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing BEEB(ATA) FEHReRE
activities FER (2,988) 47,974
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBSSEWEM(RD)
cash equivalents FEE 125,557 (55,052)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FOReRRESEEY
beginning of year 23,059 78,111
Cash and cash equivalents at the EREERBESEEY
end of year 148,616 23,059
Analysis of balances of cash and ReERESEEYER I
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e KIRI TR 148,616 16,459
Cash and bank balances included in AASBEARIELEEZ
assets of disposal groups classified HEMEREERE RIRITES
as held for sale 13 - 6,600
148,616 23,059
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEHRRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

BETBRELERBENYR

TR ARBEREZDAELBENEBHHE
BRRAS LIRS  BMELTHMELAERR
ERFIRKADRRAEENEGRE
BERRERBNRSRENEE -

TRERAD

activities.
Total
liabilities
Interest- from
bearing financing
borrowings activities
R EEE
FRE%
FTEEE =NEEto
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT
At 1 January 2017 R=-=—tF—-HA—H 31,700 31,700
Changes from financing cash flows: RERESME
Proceeds from new borrowings HEERSEHE 11,000 11,000
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (42,500) (42,500)
Interest paid for other borrowings BT EAMEERNFE (1,016) (1,016)
Other interest expense paid BT EAMF B (162) (162)
Total changes from financing cash flows BER S REBRTE (32,678) (32,678)
Other changes: b
Interest expenses FBFx 978 978
Total other changes HAeb S B)4a%8 978 978

At 31 December 2017

Comparative figures are not required as this is the first year of AR

disclosure.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

R=ZB—tF+=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“the Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 December
2012 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares have
been listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 26 September 2013. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Clifton House, 75
Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong is Office P, 21/F., Kings Wing
Plaza 1, No. 3 On Kwan Street, Shatin New Territories, Hong
Kong with effect from 19 June 2017.

The Company, an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”) are principally engaged in
the provision of financial trading software solutions, provision of
other internet financial platforms, provision of referral services,
money lending business and assets investments. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, one of the subsidiaries of
the Company held the license in respect of type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) regulated activity under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFQO”). During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s
provision of design and fitting-out services was regarded as a
discontinued operation.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and
Interpretations (“HK(IFRIC) — Int”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) (hereinafter
collectively referred to as “Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

—RRFR

E et EERBERARI(TARRDRZE
——F+Z A+ /\BREBEREHESAREEH
SEHEIMK REREERAT - ARHE
RZE—=FNAZ+ BREBBERXSF
BRAR([BZAT)GEMET « KRR Z5E
fif 2% =8 B2 #b 1k & Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands - B —ZE—+ ¥/, A+ 1 H
B ARFINAREEREETELEME
BREBFAYBLHEIR A InES1H211EP

=
ES

RRRR—HREZERRER) REHB AR
(BREAIAEE D IERERESBIZUM
RN R REEMEBRESRTE - RHE
MRS  EEXEBREERE RHEE-FT
—tFT A=+ —HIEFE  ARBHEHB—
BB AR ARRERENENER SR
HEGREI([ 5 RAE DB TF6R (B
BRERRER) XREAPNER - BEZ
E—tHFFT-_A=T—HILFE F&EEZER
R RS RB D WA RER LR EET -

HFAEMBRRIAET(EIT) 2 - BRI
RARRRZINGEEY -

BRBREAEIN  ZEGEVBHRRATET
BEBLIZT -

fmRE%E

SHREH

RAEMBHREDBIBEABESSHMAS([EE
CEAAG ) EH2BEEMBHREELN([F
B BHRELER]) BBEGHEN(ESY
PR RZ2E(E5(ARMBERERESR
Bg) 2B (TXHRBAIBEEMIERELE
A1) - BEEARETRAARESRBEN 2
BREATHEE - ZERAMBRRITHFEHR
FRGEMZEZ LR AI(TGEM_ET#REAN ) 2 # A
BRI -
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Initial application of revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied for the first time in the current year the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 12
HKFRSs (2014-2016)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes.

In addition, the amendments also require disclosures on
changes in financial assets if cash flows from those financial
assets were, or future cash flows will be, included in cash flows
from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (i) changes
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates;
(iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in the consolidated statement of
cash flows. Consistent with the transition provisions of the
amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior year. Apart from the additional
disclosure in the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
application of these amendments has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The application of the other amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE
RBEE(])
EEMEMRERNHITREETER

B RS 2 Al
REBARBGIRFRA T EBME R AREH

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

standards and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

FB MG E LR AT RS RT £ B RERT

but are not yet effective: PN
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ARV WELEN @I A
Eeel
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BBV MELEL  RERPAEAZKE
Customers ' F155%
HKFRS 16 Leases 2 EEMEHRELER  HE?
165
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ARV MELENE REE LS
1755
HK(FRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and BB (BBEMBRE  IINERXHRBRRE
Advance Consideration ' ZRELZEE)
— B0
HK(FRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax EX (BB BHRE IEHEERN T EE M
Treatments 2 ZRELZEE)
— 3%
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets AR MELEN  REEHEHEBE AR
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FIORRBEEERT AEAFZHNEE
Associate or Joint Venture * ERIFEOBRIEFT AR HEIEFE!
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property B G ERFA05R KEMEEE
EHES
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement ERBPBEWMELEL BRONRZZz2oER
of Share-based Payment FORIBETA AR
Transactions '
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial BRMBREED  IRABEBMBHRELER
Instruments with HKFRS 4 FBATRIEET AR FATRIRR A R
Insurance Contracts ' —HEAEBME
EAERIZEIR
SR T A
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with BRMBREEL  HABEAHEZIRINER
Negative Compensation 2 BIRIEET A 2
Annual Improvementsto  Amendments to HKFRS 1 and BRMBREED  BHEVBmEEL
HKFRSs (2014-2016) HKAS 28 ! 2 FENGE FBURLREBGET
(ZZ—mFEE AR ZE28SS AT AN
ZE—RF)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 1 RZE—NF—A—BR 2 &MENFEHRE
B
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 2 RZE-NF-—A—BzERBNFEIRBE
13
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 8 REZTE=Z—F—A B Z2BHARNTERME
e
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 4 RIS EETE 2 B Bsk 2 14 B tA HY 6 JE BRE A 3K
determined

The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations is set out below.

AEEMEZENER - BRIBFIARBERZE

ERHEEZIAT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial

assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group

are:

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are generally measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other financial assets
are measured at their fair value at subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the directors
(“Directors”) of the Company anticipate that the following
potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

Equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at fair value as disclosed in Note 24: these securities
qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS
9, however, the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve as at 1 January 2018 will no
longer be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss under
HKFRS 9, which is different from the current treatment. This
will affect the amounts recognised in the Group’s profit or
loss and other comprehensive income but will not affect total
comprehensive income;

Unlisted equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at cost less impairment as disclosed in
Note 24: these securities qualified for designation as measured
at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 and the Group will measure these
securities at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting
periods with fair value gains or losses to be recognised as other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve. Upon initial application of HKFRS 9, fair
value gains related to these securities would be adjusted to
investment revaluation reserve as at 1 January 2018; and

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be
measured on the same bases as are currently measured under
HKFRS 39.

Impairment

In general, the Directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9
will result in earlier provision of credit losses in relation to the
Group’s financial assets measured at amortised costs and other
items that subject to the impairment provisions upon application
of HKFRS 9 by the Group. However, the Directors expect the
effect would not be significant.

2.

B EL2E (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

2.

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal
versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guidance.

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures, however,
they do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will
have a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognised in the respective reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all
leases being recognised on the statement of financial position,
as the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the
leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised.
The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for Group’s
operating leases as a lessee. As at the end of the reporting
period, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$2,833,000 (Note 39). The
Group estimates those related to payments for short-term and
low value lease which will be recognised on straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss are insignificant.

The Group has not yet assessed what other adjustments, if
any, are necessary for example because of the change in the
definition of the lease term and the different treatment of variable
lease payments and of extension and termination options. It is
therefore not yet possible to estimate the amount of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities that will have to be recognised
on adoption of the new standard and how this may affect the
Group’s profit or loss and classification of cash flows going
forward.

The adoption of this standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the
Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective
date. The Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year
prior to first adoption.

Save as discussed above, all other new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective are
not likely to have significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e |evel 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

®  has power over the investeg;

® is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

* the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

®  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

® any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

* liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

® assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKAS 39, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the
Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then
to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power
to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, the investments
in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates/
joint ventures. When the Group’s share of losses of associates/
joint ventures exceeds the Group’s interest in those associates/
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associates/joint ventures), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associates/joint
ventures.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate/a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate/a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate/a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment
is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate/a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs to disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be an associate/a
joint venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is
classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate/joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate/
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate/joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate/joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate/joint venture on the same
basis as would be required if that associate/joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate/joint venture would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa. There is no remeasurement to fair value
upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate/
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate/a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate/joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate/joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts.

Revenue from sales of hardware is recognised upon satisfactory
delivery and when the ownership has been transferred to the
customers.

Revenue from sales of customised software systems and
platforms and provision of design and fitting-out services are
recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of service completed to date to
the estimated total services of the relevant contract.

Revenue from provision of system customisation and
network support services are recognised on completion of
the customisation and network support work which generally
coincides with the time when the customised software and
network support work is accepted by the customers.

Revenue from provision of software maintenance services,
licensing and hosting fees are recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of respective agreements.

Revenue from referral services, software solutions and platforms
consultancy services, corporate finance advisory services
and property management and property agency services are
recognised when services are rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payment arrangements

Share-based payment transactions of the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). For share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
Share-based payment transactions of the Company
(continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot
be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the
date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the service. The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or
when the courterparties render services, unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “(loss)/profit before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

A disposal group classified as held for sale and
discontinued operation

Non-current assets held for sale

A disposal group is classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that its carrying amount will be recovered through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the
disposal group is available for sale in its present condition. A
disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed of together as
a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above criteria
for classification as held for sale are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary
after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of all individual assets and liabilities in a disposal
group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial classification as
held for sale and until disposal, the disposal group, is recognised
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A disposal group classified as held for sale and
discontinued operation (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised
in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
assets is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale (see above), if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit or
loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:

* the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

* the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

* the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

* how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

* the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

* the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (if any). Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-ZT—+F+—-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are internally-generated.
Alternatively, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets below).

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, at
banks and securities brokers, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss”
(“FVTPL”), “available-for-sale” (“AFS”) financial assets and “loans
and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instruments, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

® it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term; or

® on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

* it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

* such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables; (b) held-to-maturity investments; or (c) financial
assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments
are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment of financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that
are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the
amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured
at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment of financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, deposits, loans receivable
and cash and cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see

accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of

interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been

affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be

objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

* significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

®* preach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-ZT—+F+—-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and
loans receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired
individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and loans receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss. When a trade and loans receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

EXRSTEER(E)

TRT A (&)

THEEE)
EHEEREE)
mETHENSREE(INE 5 EWFE K E

WEFR)ME - BME AL (E 5l 5F 14 18 BUR I R
B e AREEEERERNE - BUFIRA
AHEBRER R 2R AEEFBEUGE
B - A WA T HEEMNERE R BIE
M M&ﬁﬁﬂf%%ﬁﬁ%%ilimﬁﬁ

SUIRE AR EREEM S © CHERR
EERSRAZEEREERZSREERE
BEERFEEIRNEAARRRSREREZFW
ER o

IR ATIENEREEMS @ REEEESHE
AEAZBENERHERRBAUSREENR
TS ERERPFBO G RKB S RERED
Z8 - WHEESBRSTERERARED (R
TXZEFTHER)

SAAEREENS  SREENREEERR
BORERIRINR - 1 5 YA K ERE R
F AR T (B3 B 0 A BB AR FOORL - BB ARV AR
EEBHNBEER - WE S RUFRMERE
FHRA T A E - BN BHERR s - B
& UL Bl 5E BT 35 2 B DR A IR AR ©

A B S AR B ERE « ALBER
H i 2 TM A TER Y B s AN IR E
SRS -

IR AT ENEREEMS @ MRNER
HifE - REBBESERD - MZREEEY
FRERRERZEENEMN - BIEATRER AR
EEEERBEED  EZIREREERER
HMEREENSEAELERADBENBER T
A EVHEBEPRAN o

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

122



123
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading, or (i) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

* it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
or contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as
part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

* such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
accruals, and interest-bearing borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognise its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial
asset between the part it continues to recognise, and the part
it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of
those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between
the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the
part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss
allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and
the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative
fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

U
(i

(i)

or

has control or joint control of the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(o) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i

(i)

(V)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Research and development costs

Careful judgement by the Group’s management is applied when
deciding whether the recognition requirements for development
costs have been met. This is necessary as the economic
success of any product development is uncertain and may be
subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition.
Judgements are based on the best information available
at the end of the reporting period. In addition, all internal
activities related to the research and development of new
software systems are continuously monitored by the Group’s
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The policy for impairment loss on trade and loans receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of the collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. If the financial conditions of debtors of the Group were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional provision for impairment may be required.

Impairment of capitalised systems development costs

Determining whether capitalised systems development costs
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
determined by the value in use of the capitalised systems
development costs. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the capitalised systems development costs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The Group
carries out an impairment review assessment on the capitalised
systems development costs at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where observable market data are
not available, the Group engages independent qualified valuers
to perform the valuation and works closely with independent
qualified valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of certain types of financial instruments. The use of valuation
models and assumptions in valuing these financial instruments is
subjective and requires varying degrees of judgement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty(continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2017 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by an independent professional surveyor
and property valuer (the “Valuer”) not connected with the Group.
The senior vice president of the Valuer is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate qualifications
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties
in the relevant location. The valuations were arrived at the
reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant markets. Further details, including the key assumptions
used for fair value measurement are given in Note 19.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment
that should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
At 31 December 2017, impairment losses of approximately
HK$28,637,000 have been recognised for available-for-
sale assets (2016: Nil). The carrying amount of available-
for-sale assets was approximately HK$11,173,000 (2016:
HK$70,531,000).

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong. Significant
estimates are required in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was priced using a
binomial option pricing model which requires the management’s
estimates and assumptions on significant calculation inputs,
including the estimated life of share options granted, the volatility
of share price and expected dividend yield. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate, which would in turn affect the share-based payment
expense recognised for the period and its corresponding impact
on the share options reserve. Estimates relating to the valuation
of share options are discussed in Note 33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

A subsidiary of the Group is licensed with Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC”) for the business it operates in. The Group’s
licensed subsidiary is subject to liquid capital requirements under
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”)
(Chapter 571N of the laws of Hong Kong) adopted by the SFC.
Under SF(FR)R, the licensed subsidiary must maintain a liquid
capital (assets and liabilities adjusted as determined by SF(FR)
R) in excess of HK$100,000 or 5% of its total adjusted liabilities,
whichever is higher. Management closely monitors, on a daily
basis, the liquid capital level of that licensed subsidiary to ensure
compliance with the minimum liquid capital requirements under
SFFR)R.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group seeks to balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt. For the licensed subsidiary,
the Group ensures it will maintain a liquid capital level adequate
to support the level of activities with sufficient buffer to
accommodate for increases in liquidity requirements arising from
potential increases in the level of business activities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued
share capital and reserves).

The net debt-to-equity ratio as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:
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2017 2016

—EB—+HF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHIT

Debts &% - 31,700

Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY (148,616) (23,059)
Net debt B 55 (148,616) 8,641
Equity i 207,774 222,826
Net debt-to-equity ratio B FREE SR N/ATEH 3.9%
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(@) The carrying amounts of each of the
categories of financial instruments as at the

end of the reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December 2017

6. @I H

(a)

ERTMTARNREHRZREE

p(1 I N

R-_E—tF+=-A=+—H

Financial
assets
at fair value
through
profit or loss
designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Loans and financial
recognition  receivables assets Total
ROVEE
FFABEMN
TREE
HIRER R BXRK AHHE
EE B E SHEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER T T FTEr
Financial assets SREE
Avalilable-for-sale investments AREERE - - 11,173 11,173
Trade and other receivables and & 5 K& E el FE
deposits PARIE® - 11,483 - 11,483
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEFAER
through profit or loss WEeREE 2,500 - - 2,500
Loans receivable RN E TR - 26,590 - 26,590
Cash and cash equivalents REFBRELEEY - 148,616 - 148,616
2,500 186,689 11,173 200,362
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R
A EH
N =R et
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FTHER
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities included in Hit e Ia R ERTERR 2
other payables and accruals eHmasE 19,382 19,382

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SRITH(E)

(a) The carrying amounts of each of the (a) FESMIANKENRZIRHEE
categories of financial instruments as at the mr ()
end of the reporting period are as follows:
(continued)
At 31 December 2016 R-EB—-XE+=ZA=+—H

Financial assets

at fair value through
profit or loss
BATEEFAERN
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
IR BERR FHHE
BE  HAEEER FEYIRIE TRERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FER FET TET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Available-for-sale investments AT H &% E - - - 70,531 70,531
Trade and other receivables & 5 K E IR
and deposits RIS - - 12,095 - 12,095
Financial assets at fair value R AFEEABE
through profit or loss MEREE 3,077 15,675 - - 18,752
Loans receivable EUER - - 36,420 - 36,420
Cashand cash equivalents ~ B& RASEEY - - 23,059 - 23,059
3,077 15,675 71,574 70,531 160,857
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
R
PRAREHE
ERIAE #E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities A==k
Financial liabilities included in other Hi e FIE R gt BERR 2
payables and accruals TRAE 20,861 20,861
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 31,700 31,700
52,561 52,561
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables and deposits, available-for-sale
investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans receivable, cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other payables and accruals and interest-bearing
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

Substantially all the revenue-generating operations of the
Group were transacted in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the functional currency and the presentation currency of
the Group. The Group therefore does not have significant
foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities. Interest-bearing
financial assets are mainly deposits with banks and loans
receivables. Interests on deposits with banks and loans
receivables are principally based on deposit rates offered
by banks in Hong Kong and fixed rates, respectively.
Interest-bearing financial liabilities were interest-bearing
borrowings at fixed interest rates.

All of the Group’s loans receivable are based on fixed
interest rates with original maturities in range of 6 to 12
months (2016: 6 to 12 months). The Group prices these
loans receivable strategically to reflect market fluctuations
and achieve a reasonable interest-rate spread. Interest-
bearing borrowings carried a fixed interest of 8.5%
per annum payable monthly in arrears. The fixed rate
instruments of the Group are insensitive to any change in
market interest rates.
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B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management (continued)

As the Group have no significant variable-rate interest-
bearing financial assets, except for short-term bank
deposits, the Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing financial assets resulted from the
changes in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are relatively low and not expected to change
significantly.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging the significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that
may affect the value of these investments.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. A 10% change represents the
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in equity price.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, with other
variables held constant, the Group’s other comprehensive
loss would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$992,000 (2016: other comprehensive income would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$4,151,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2017. This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

6. €@T

(b)

& M5 RIEE

—tF+=—A=+—ALLFE
(mﬁ)
BXRAREEBEERBEK(E)
mGE b ()

FI% AR I (42)
BRI MR T N A AL E AT

EFEEREE  AEBURAREERS
MEEATEMEMNEESH 2EE - AR
RITFFNE R RE B AR EBEAE
B EEERERNEESHEA R EREE
WEBEAZE

7 52 (8 3R B I 48 ) o L i 0 BB
- EEEeEENRE IE%%ET%

J?E%EK?W?HFMVE& i o

H (B S
2 £5 [ P TE R B AR AR (B AR LB I;JIEH
EALmHQZlKE FIEE - BEREFBEY)
RERFZGHRAIPEZSFREEENT
“?@Uﬂ%ﬂl‘m °

R (B1E B2 Z 7T
AN GHRE M TR B & AR A E e
HERABRERREBRERE - 10% 28 HEE

[ESRAER A RE A IR R BN RORTA
WA A ERE L7t TFE10% - @&

1%%?“ CAREBREHEE T —+F1+=

—t+t—HIEFEZEMEEEIEER
’J b/ AN47992,000 7T ( Z T — N4 ¢
H b2 mEUW A I, 5 494,151,000
BL)  c EXERAAAHEERENR
TEERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price sensitivity analysis (continued)

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, with other
variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would
decrease/increase by Nil (2016: post-tax profit would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,568,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2017. This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

Credit risk management

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors of
the Company closely monitors the overall level of
credit exposure and the management is responsible
for determination of credit approvals and monitors the
implementation of the collection procedure to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

In respect of loans receivable, the management manages
and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and
existing customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. The management assesses the
credit quality of each customer based on the customer’s
background information, financial position, past experience
and other relevant factors. The Group also reviews from
time to time the financial conditions of the customers.

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. At 31 December 2017, the Group has
a certain concentration of credit risk as 2.51% (2016: Nil)
and 7.23% (2016: 25.76%) of the total trade debtors was
due from the largest customer and five largest customers
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SRITH(E)

(b) Financial risk management objective and (b)
policies (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation or high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. Other than concentration of credit risk on
liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the Directors of the Company, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to meet
the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. In the management
of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Liquidity table

The following table detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.

MR EE R EREE(E)

EEREERE(E)

AR SHFABER T ERFEET
PHETASEETRNRT  BRBE
CHEERRER - BRBES(ER%
MEEEFRZRIT) EERBREFRI -
REFSETMEMEANEEEFR

% -
FBE L AR EE

RBETRREETIHARREERKE
B VEREENRSECRBEER
B AmEAEEES  pHERRARE
LRBELERERER BERPESER
B NEBEZEMEREEERR IR
NAREEZEMTNRE MRS EEYK
FoORERSRENBHTE

TERAVAEEIHTESREBENHRTA
MBHA - ZERRDRBEAREERR
NHRPAMZERABARMRASRE

On demand Total Total
or within Over undiscounted carrying
one year one year cash flows amount
RERY AERRE

—FR SR—F MEBHRE AREAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TiER T T FTiER
Non-derivative financial FTEERERE
liabilities
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—tF
+=A=+-A
Financial liabilities included in ~ E-fth (S FIE LA K
other payables and accruals i BRbzeaRE 19,382 - 19,382 19,382
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RF
+-A=+—H
Financial liabilities included in ~ EAbJERT FRIAL K&
other payables and accruals [ ERT 2 aREE 20,861 - 20,861 20,861
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 34,102 - 34,102 31,700
54,963 - 54,963 52,561
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SRITH(E)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) eRTENFEEFE
instruments
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets TREIAEEZAFEEFENSHE
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value: EXZREAE :
As at 31 December 2017
R=Z2—tF+=A=+—-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R E-R E=R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T FHET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE
— Listed equity security — FRAES 9,923 - - 9,923
Financial assets designated as at 3§ 7& AEAFEEFTA
fair value through profit or loss ~ 1EZH & RVEE
— Convertible bond —IBRES - - 2,500 2,500
9,923 - 2,500 12,423

As at 31 December 2016
R-Z—R"E+-A=1+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H E-M F=/ et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAT
Financial assets THEE
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE
— Listed equity security — L TRAES 41,510 - - 41,510
Financial assets held for trading  #{EE &S REE
- Listed equity securities — L TRAES 15,675 - - 15,675
Financial assets designated as at  3§7& AZAFEEFTA
fair value through profit or loss ~ 1E#ZH S RVEE
~ Convertible bond — AR ES - - 3,077 3,077
57,185 - 3,077 60,262

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6. SRMTA(E)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) eI AENFEETEE)
instruments (continued)
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active REBMZEEZEM T A AFEER
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of BRERRZMERETE - EREA]
the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if B MERNELER S X598 &
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 0 TEEE - TERGESEERIEE
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, B MZERERRIZAFERSEEETT
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual HERNERTISX SR - ZISHEER
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s ER - AEBBENSREENTISRE
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial ABERMESEEAE - MWETAEIAFE—
assets held by the Group is the quoted market bid price. W e
These instruments are included in Level 1.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in WEAFREMSERENSHTA(Fi5
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) IMTETR)MAFEBENABERITE
is determined by using valuation techniques. These E o ZEHERNREFNBAERMS
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable HIE(E)  BEEKBEENFEM
market data where it is available and rely as little as o M E—TEAMAFEEMBNAME
possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs BEABASEY ATERESE - AZIA
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the PIABZR -
instrument is included in Level 2.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on M —IEk ZIEE AR A BURI IER IR 1 2}
observable market data, the instrument is included in Level RminEE - BIZIAIAEZ =4
3.
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 of TREWBEZZZ—ELFR_T—XF
financial instruments for the years ended 31 December T A=+ HIEFEREMITARE=
2017 and 2016. B BE) o
Contingent
Convertible consideration
bond payable
ARRESF EIRANRE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT
(note 27)
(fg5E27)
At 1 January 2016 RZE—RF—H—H 2,900 3,331
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss FFABENAFEERS 177 -
Payment during the year FRRFR - (3,331)
At 31 December 2016 and RZZE—R"F+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2017 R-E—+F—HA—H 3,077 -
Fair value loss recognised in A AFEEEE
profit or loss (577) -
At 31 December 2017 R-ZB—tH+=-A=+—H 2,500 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ERMTAE(E)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) eMIAEATEEFE(E

instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, there were no
investments classified under Level 2 and there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

The convertible bond has been calculated based on
discounted cash flows analysis and Binomial Model on
the debt component and conversion option component
respectively, with the most significant unobservable
inputs being (i) discount rate of 12.35% (2016: 12.29%)
and (i) expected volatilities of 68.04% (2016: 68.04%). A
significant increase/(decrease) in discount rate would result
in a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value of the
convertible bond and a significant increase/(decrease) in
expected volatilities would result in a significant increase/

(decrease) in the fair value of the convertible bond.

7. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and
services from continuing operations for the year is as follows:

RIE—+tFN_ZE—RFt+_A=1+—
B SERER I EAE-H mEBE=
Tt ELR T NFF_A=+—H81
FE AP EENEESF - PNE_HFz
M EEEE  MEdEAREHE=

AR ES DIRBIRRESREDITRE
HEBI D REgngEfRs 2 1B R
FTE - EATATERE AR AR E
12.35%( ZZF—754F : 12.29%) X (i) FEHEA
B IE68.04% (=T —734F : 68.04%) © 8
WEMEREF (N SR TRARE
HFONFEEHBEEACRD) N m
BEIEENEREF (TR) BERA
BREFNAFEERREXRE MO

) e

7. W=

RAFEE  AEEREESBELEEB IR
Em RGOS

2017 2016
—E—tE —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Sales of hardware SHERRF 596 780
Sales of technology software systems HE BRI R4 4,714 9,704
System customisation and network support ES NS 6,296 5,864
Software maintenance services MR ERTS 9,666 9,511
Software licensing fee T E 26,549 23,217
Hosting and related services fee AR &7 AR AR S & 3,634 3,616
Other IT and internet financial platforms HEMBHE R BB S R
services income & BRISUA 275 1,226
Interest income on loan financing BEREE 2 F WA 4,519 935
Referral services fee EN RIS E - 2,500
Corporate finance advisory and related XIS R IERRS B
services fee - 330
Dividend income from listed equity securities ETRRARRE S 2 B BUA - 130
Rental income A2UWA 636 724
56,885 58,537
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors of the Company, being the
Group’s chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focusing on the types of goods or services
delivered or provided. The Group has presented the following
reportable segments:

(@) Financial trading software solutions — development,
sale and provision of financial trading software solutions
with the principal products being trading and settlement
systems of financial products for financial institutions;

(b)  Other IT and internet financial platforms services — provision
of e-commerce platforms, other online consultancy
services and provision of IT services and other financial
information;

(c)  Money lending — provision of loan financing;

(d) Assets investments — trading of listed securities and
investing in properties for rental income;

(e) Referral — provision of referral services to source, identify
and refer prospective deal opportunities to interested
parties; and

()  Corporate finance — provision of corporate finance advisory
services.

The Group’s provision of property management and property
agency services and provision of design and fitting-out services
were regarded as discontinued operations which details are set
out in note 13.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies as defined in note 3.
Segment (loss)/profit represents the loss incurred/profit earned
by each segment without allocation of interest income on bank
deposits, sundry income, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain
on bargain purchase, gain on disposal of an associate, gain/(loss)
on disposal of available-for-sale investments, impairment loss on
available-for-sales investments, impairment loss on investment in
an associate, fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, profit guarantee income,
gain on dilution of interest in an associate, share of (losses)/
profits of associates, share of loss of a joint venture, central
administration costs and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, investment
in a joint venture, available-for-sale investments, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets designated as at fair value through
profits or loss, current tax assets and other corporate and
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

7 EBE R

ITEAWHERRHERIRBBENENZ
RFARRERNARETRZLERRA(NE
REBRRAND - IMEERDE R BRIRF
ffr o REBE2PNATAIRE D E -

@) TRXZFEUMEALTE-FHE  HERR
HERIHEMBANE - TBREMAH
TREBEEANEREMR I REER

o

b) HtEAMREEBMESRTARE 1R
HEFTABFE  AMERFEARE LR
HEMBHR IR LM EER

0 fEBE-RHEERRE

o) BERE-BELMERMREWEKER
HEHA

(e T —REER - HERENBEER I
SETAEETNENRE © &

f EEFH-IRHCEPEHERRS

NEBREWESTERYWERIERE AR
AT R EBREEGIEE LI EEETR B
EdeEEanl AR

BENB 2B BREMEIMER < AEE
ZEHBERAAR - HEUER),SafliEE o
EE B/ RRZB - BPWESRRT
FRZHEWA ~ MIERA - HEMBARZ
Wt - AENEREZ WE  HE—HEE QR
ZWa - HERHHERE 2 Was (B1E)
AHHERE ZRERE  R—EBREREZ
KREZRERE - BEERRAFEEF ABRE
MeMmEENATEEER), M  BAR
BN ~ #EN — R E AR 2 a2 et
FEEBE N R (E1R), S8 h - e —FHagn
BB - PRITBACA RIS « itk TR
REBRARAERZFE - AEDBERKF
B EBRIRZ A ©

HRRBERRZRE R—HAERRZE
B AHEERE A MREFEY  BE
REAHEEFABENEREE  AHHIE
BENREMRRRARDEEETIREET A
EITEE  MOHNEETRREZEEE -

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

140



141

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) oEEHR (&)
Segment liabilities exclude current and deferred tax liabilities, EEE@EHH\Q&LL@EEIEE\E FFREEREMA
interest-bearing borrowings and other corporate and unallocated AIRARDEBENREELETER WD
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis. MEETBEZES 1,\
Segment revenue and results from continuing PR ERIFELEEB 2 EE
operations
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results TXEINIR A 2 B &5 2 AN R EW S
by reportable segments: BT
Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets Corporate continuing
solutions services lending  investments Referral finance  Elimination  operations
SRRE  RUEANE
BHER LE%A b3 HS
7R SETARE &8 EERE & LEHEK i St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tén Tén TEn Tén TéEn Tén Tén
For the year ended BZ-E-t%
31 December 2017 tZh=1-A
LFE
Segment revenue AHE
Revenue from external FRINDER 2
customers 51,455 215 4519 636 - - - 56,885
Inter-segment sales” HHEEE - - - - - - - -
51,455 215 4519 636 - - - 56,885
Segment proft/{loss) HEER/ (BR) 20,754 (3,934) 195 (3,314) (3,062) (1,000) - 9,639
Interest income FEMA 3
Unallocated gains and losses ~~ RATMEREE (22,683)
Share of losses of associates  [EREEE A ARE (5,397)
Share of loss of ajoint ventwre  E(S—FASAAEE (19,202
Ceniral adminisiration costs R {TEA (12473)
Finance costs IR (o78)
Loss before tax RitgiE (51,091)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. DEER(E)
Segment revenue and results from continuing PHRERFECEEL 2 EEE)

operations (continued)

Other IT and

Financial internet
trading financial Totalfor
software platforms Money Assets Corporate continuing
solutions services lending  investments Referral finance Elimination operations

SERS  HHEARE
LGRS RERAE e

nE  SRYARH &8 BERE £ i3 i Fhast
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000
T TEL TEx TiEx TEx TEx T TEn

For the year ended BEZE
31 December 2016 T-A=1+-A
H5E
Segment revenue ARG
Revenue from external FINEER 2l
customers 52,692 1,226 935 804 2,500 330 - 58,537
Inter-segment sales” PHHEE - 360 - - - - (360)
52,692 1,586 935 854 2,500 330 (360) 58,537
Segment profi/oss) et/ (BR) 20996 (5.187) 577 (2.567) (4403 (1,399) - 8017
Interest income FEMA 7
Unallocated gains and losses K ARREREE 2208
Share of profits of an associate (G — & A EEA 2976
Share of loss of ajoint ventwre  EE—FASRAIEE (3.489)
Oentral administration costs ~ FFRFTHAKE (9,860)
Finance costs BB (6,761)
Loss before tax BHiER (6,902)
* Inter-segment sales are conducted with reference to the prices charged * D EBEISEE Y2 E MF = H FTUE 2 [Bi&#

to third parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7HER(E
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEEREE
Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets Corporate  Discontinued
solutions services lending  investments Referral finance  operations Total
SRRE  HEARE
BHER REHE BAL
FE  SRYARH f&& EERE ) LERE HE S @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Thn TEn Tén Tén TEn Tén Thn
Asat3tDecember 2017  R=Z-tf
tZA=1-H
Segment assets 28R 12,052 3611 27,079 18,090 190 164 o 62,086
Comoraieand unalocated ~ ATRASEEE
assets 182,978
Consolidated assets GAEE 245,064
Segment liabilities 8% 35,736 611 134 265 2 54 - 36,827
Comorateand unalocated ~ AFRASEAE
liabilities 463
Consolidated fiblties ik 37,290
Asat 31 December 2016 RZE-A
T-A=1-H
Segment assets PHEE 16,011 3484 37,074 33835 646 - 1,187 9,237
Comoraieand unalocated ~ AFRASEEE
assets 203,656
Consolidated assets TREE 295,893
Segment liabilities PHEE 29,593 591 75 210 169 - 2,040 32678
Comorateand inalocated ~ AFRAAEAE
liabilities 36,826
Consolidated liabilties ARG 69,504

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (included in the
measure of segment profit or loss or regularly
provided to the CODM)

2 EER (&’

Hitp o MER (BN EHRETELER
RARMBZz D WBEFE)

Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets Corporate  continuing
solutions services lending  investments Referral finance  operations
EfERRH
ERRSER REHE iEgE
BARE  SRYRRE && BERE W) TREH s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TR TEn Tién TR TEn Tin
For the year ended BEoE-tf
31 December 2017 TZA=t-ALEE
Additions to non-curtent assets (note) REFRaAE() 1,739 - 46 - 7 206 2,368
For the year ended H2o2F
31 December 2016 ToAST-HIER
Addions to non-curentassets note) ~ FEFEREEE(H3E) 1426 3276 - 26,200 8 - 30,967

Note: Non-current assets excluded investments in associates, investment in a
joint venture and non-current financial instruments.

M - ERPDEETERERBERRZRE  R—HA
ERBZEERFERBDERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (included in the
measure of segment profit or loss or regularly
provided to the CODM) (continued)

.

2EER ()

Hipp MER (BN EHRETEZLER
RARMBz2BREFE) (B])

Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets Corporate  continuing
solutions services lending  investments Referral finance  operations
EERNE
SRRABH REEE BiESE
BAng  SRTARE &g BERE Loy fiEdip SRt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEn Tén T TEn Tén Thn
For the year ended BEoE-tf
31 December 2017 TZR=t-ALEE
Depreciation ik 1,261 181 241 - 21 54 1,908
Amortisation of intangible assets EAESH 2,090 - - - - = 2,090
Loss on dlisposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment FENEE 2 3 2 - 139 3 149
Reversal of impairment loss on trade RN ERERRRE
receivables (362) - - - - - (362)
Forthe year ended . s
31 December 2016 ToAST-HIER
Depreciation biE 63 346 6 7 346 4 1344
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEERS 2,170 - - - - - 2,170
Loss on disposal of property, LENE  BER
plant and equipment FENEE - 6 - 3 - - 4
Impairment loss on trads receivables BAEVEREER 202 - - - - - 202
Geographical information EER

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands with the
Group’s major operations located in Hong Kong. Substantially
all of the Group’s revenue from external customers are derived
from Hong Kong. All the non-current assets of the Group are

RAFIAFSEEREMD - MASEEEX
BRAINEBETT - REBEXRBINEFPHBA
Mok EEE - AEBAIERBEES

located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue arising from transactions with any
customers which was individually more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue in both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

9. OTHER INCOME, AND OTHER GAINS

HMWA - REMKE®REE

AND LOSSES
An analysis of other income, other gains and losses from AT AREFELEEBIEMIIA - RHEA
continuing operations is as follows: Wz RIGEE DT :
2017 2016
—E—tE —T—RF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Mzt FHET FAT
Other income: Heb A -
Interest income on bank deposits RITEF BULA 3 7
Sundry income FEEUA 88 -
91 7
Other gains and losses: Hitlh s R 18 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz WE 36 - 2,209
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE R 35 - 185
Gain on disposal of an associate & — e AR 2 WaE 22 8,308 -
Profit guarantee income i MR EUA 6,163 -
Reversal/(provision) of impairment loss & 5 fEUR G IEAY R E K518
on trade receivables BB (BE) 25 362 (202)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A ERERREEE
investments (28,637) -
Impairment loss on investment in an R—HEBE AT ZHREZ
associate SEEEE 22 (9,179) -
Write-off of other receivables TS HL A R I R IE (78) -
Gain on disposal of an investment HE—IBIREME 2 W
property - 112
Gain on dilution of interest in an BER —EBEARZ
associate w2 W 22 - 435
Gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for-  H &R HERE 2
sale investments W, (E518) 24 1,229 (798)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HHEWE « ME LR EREE
equipment (149) (42)
Net fair value loss on financial assets BAFEEFABENSREE
at fair value through profit or loss 2 NHEEEEFRE (3,418) (3,226)
Net fair value gain on investment WEWMEN N EEKRSFEE
properties 19 830 160
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets 15 F A1k A FEET AEB
designated as at fair value through WEmEEC A FEE
profit or loss (F518), M 27 (577) 177
(25,146) (990)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as
follows:

10. B #E R A<

AT AR BFELEEBNIBRANDN -

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mist FET FHTT
Interest expense on loan notes EXRERFEHAE - 6,546
Interest expense on other borrowings HiEEF SR 30 816 211
Other interest expense HHMERXZ 162 4
978 6,761
11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. BRF A EE
Loss before tax from continuing operations has been arrived at KB TR T AT E B IR T
after charging: RIS -
2017 2016
—E2—+HF ZE-RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Mt FTHET FHT
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEB & 500 420
Amortisation of intangible assets (note a) & E# 4 (Miita) 2,090 2,170
Depreciation of property, plant and M - B KRB ITE (i)
equipment (note b) 1,908 1,344
Operating lease payments in respect of AR ETHE A
rented premises 2,437 3,756
Employee benefits expense (note ¢): EBREMAEZ (MsEe) :
Salaries and other benefits ﬂ(ﬂ?&ﬁfﬁﬂ%ﬂ 27,185 28,635
Contributions to retirement benefits RRENET B R
scheme 729 814
Share-based payments A7 S2 5 R IE 33 8,278 2,111
Total employee benefits expense, EERFIFAZ 8%
including directors’ emoluments BIEEEMS 36,192 31,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

12.

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2017, amortisation of intangible
assets amounting to HK$2,090,000 (2016: HK$2,170,000) was

included in cost of sales.

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2017, depreciation of property,
plant and equipment amounting to HK$151,000 (2016: HK$142,000)
was included in cost of sales and amounting to HK$1,757,000 (2016:
HK$1,202,000) was included in administrative expenses.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2017, employee benefits expense
amounting to HK$8,482,000 (2016: HK$8,422,000) was included in
cost of sales and amounting to HK$27,710,000 (2016: HK$23,138,000)

was included in administrative expenses.

1. BRBLATE 18 (&)

TEE

@ BE-Z-—EHF+-_A=+—-HLEFE FA
HEKAZ BV EE#H/52,090,0008 7T (ZF

—7N4F 1 2,170,000/87T) °

) BE-_Z—+E+-_B=+—RHILEE Y%
M R EEOITERF151,0008 L (=T —~
F 142,000 7T )T ASEERK A - A 1,757,000
HBIL(ZZ—7NF 11,202,000/ 7)) st ATTHFIS ©

© BEZZ—tF+ZA=+—RHLFE &
BEMASZHAE8,4820008 T(=FT—NEF :
8,422,000 7T ) 5T ASHE KA ¢ 178 27,710,000
Bt =Z — /N 1 23,138,000/ 7T ) st ATTHRH

%o
/8
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FREHRAX
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FAET
Continuing operations BREEER
Current — Hong Kong BNER—F
— Charge for the year —FANFHE 3,777 3,918
— Over provision in prior years — BT E B E (105) 17
3,672 3,901
Deferred s 31 (363) (403)
3,309 3,498
Discontinued operations BARIEREEK
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &
- Charge for the year —FRER 131 1,451
— Under provision in prior years —BEFERETR - 17
131 1,468
Deferred RE 31 - (484)
131 984
Income tax expense FrS iR > 3,440 4,482

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit arising in or derived from

Hong Kong for both years.

MER - BENGHGRER B E L LRI
R ETFEARTL 4 M LA 16.5% T R EHR AHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

12.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to (loss)/profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as

follows:

FrE®im > (&)

FARBZHAESZE
18),EMEH AT HE

Ban sk W ERR AT (8

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
BRECeEn DRIEREEYR #@st
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE—4F | ZERF | ZB-tE | Z2F | ZB—tF | I 1F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET TEL THET TEL TR TEL
(Loss)/profit before tax BEiAI(EB),/ B (51,001) (6,902) 8,381 21,783 (42,710) 14,881
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax 12 &BHIGHFIE16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) B ZHIE
(ZF—~F :16.5%) (8,430) (1,139) 1,383 3,594 (7,047) 2,455
Tax effect of expenses not AANBRAL 2 BT E
deductible for tax purpose 8,209 2,661 - 16 8,209 2,677
Tax effect of income not taxable /BRI 2 iG55/ &
for tax purpose (2,742) (943) (1,252) (2,650) (3,994) (3,493
Tax effect of temporary REERLERERL
differences not recognised HETE 42) 24 - 3 (42) 27
Tax effect of tax losses not ABERTIAEEL
recognised Hsye 2,360 2,760 - - 2,360 2,760
Tax effect of tax losses utlised B EFAFIARIE 2 Hi%
6% = (29) = - = (29)
Tax effect of share of results of ~ JE{EEEE N AIEE 2
associates HETE 891 (491) - - 891 (491)
Tax effect of share of results ~ [EIE—HAERARIEEY
of a joint venture HETE 3,168 576 - - 3,168 576
(Over)/under provision in prior B EE (HBERE),/
years BETRE (105) 17) - 17 (105) -
Others Eitr - 96 - (96) - -
Income tax expense for the year FRFTEFHY 3,309 3,498 131 984 3,440 4,482
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the share of tax HEZZT—+F+A=+—HILEFE A
attributable to associates amounting to HK$98,000 (2016: [FEEEEE A TEE?TEJ BRI AR

HK$1,008,000) was included in “Share of losses of associates”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(@)

On 1 December 2016, the Group and Sino Vision
Worldwide Holdings Limited (formerly known as DX.com
Holdings Limited) (“Sino”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which Sino purchased and the
Group sold all issued shares of Central Pearl Investments
Limited (“Central Pearl”, which directly owned 100% of Full
Profit Property Services Company Limited (“Full Profit”)) at
a consideration of HK$20,000,000 (“Central Pearl Group
Disposal”). Upon completion of the Central Pearl Group
Disposal on 1 December 2016, Central Pearl and Full Profit
ceased to be 51% indirectly owned subsidiaries of the
Group. Details of Central Pearl Group Disposal are set out
in note 36(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

On 23 February 2017, the Group and Billion Centrium
Group Holdings Limited (“Billion”) entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Billion
has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Group
has conditionally agreed to sell the Group’s entire
51% interest in Wise Link International Limited (“Wise
Link”) at a consideration of HK$9,800,000 (“Wise Link
Group Disposal”). Upon completion of the Wise Link
Group Disposal on 28 April 2017, Wise Link, Profit Sun
International Investments Limited and Billion C & C Limited
(collectively, the “Wise Link Group”) ceased to be 51%
indirectly owned subsidiaries of the Group. Details of
Wise Link Group Disposal are set out in note 36(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the Central Pearl Group Disposal and
Wise Link Group Disposal, the provision of property
management and property agency services and the
provision of design and fitting-out services were regarded
as discontinued operations.

The Group decided to cease its corporate finance advisory
services and on 13 October 2016, the Group and an
independent third party purchaser entered into a sale
and purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group
conditionally agreed to dispose of its entire equity interest
being the entire issued share capital of Brilliant Corporate
Finance Limited (formerly known as “Nine Rivers Corporate
Finance Limited”) at a consideration of HK$2,300,000,
subject to adjustment according to the sale and purchase
agreement. Following the lapse of the sale and purchase
agreement, the Group has decided to re-commence its
provision of corporate finance advisory services business.
The Group is recruiting qualified staff to re-commence this
business, and the results of operations of this business
segment previously presented in discontinued operations
are re-classified and included in income from continuing
operations for all financial periods presented.

& M5 RIEE

—tFTZA=t—RLEFE

13. R LEREXEK
@ M-T—AE+-A—0 AEESHE

BFR 2% A BR 2~ &) (BT FE DX.comiZ A% A iR
NED ([ DI B - Bt #
HEWBERAEBEBHESZRREBRA
A([R248]  BEEFEBEERMERBER
AR ([BHE])100% /% E) FTE B 31T
f& 1D - X {& 20,000,000 T ([ & &%
EHEEHE]) - #:%—ﬁ¢+—ﬂ—a
FEEELEEETNKE ERKE
TE%$%I%&%%&%&%ZW%
AR BEAEAEELEEHEFIHIR
IR e IS IRE M E36()A

RZE—+F_A=+=0 xEEH
BREBEZEBRERAR([ERDIIVE
B - Bt ﬁ¢aﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁW%
EAEBEBKHRELEENEER
BERAE([EE])HEE51%#Em

KRB 59,800,000/ L ([EEEETES

B  BEKEHEFER -_T—tFN
AZ+NAZKE  BR  BBREEEKER

BERABRDRREPRGATEBERAR (4
S %EID%TE%$EIW&Hﬁ
51% M Z M8 2 %Elﬁﬁ$
ﬁZ%IﬁFTAW$ﬁ§W&%U

EREREBRHEEE N EEERTES
TH - REYEEE R ERERBS LR
HEFTREEREERBERIELEE
f%o

NG B R TE AR TR A1 ¥ B R
% BRZZE—RE+A+=B4A5EH
—EBAUE=FERILEEHZ &
It - AEEE A KERE EEE 2 IR
(BNRM I EBR AR (FITE i
EBBEBRAR])NEIBEBEITRA) -
{8 752,300,00058 7T * I A]iRIEE = #
FETUAE - REERBRRE  A%EH
ﬁmi%%%ﬁﬁ ¥V AR

o AEBIFRIEA AR ABEHMAKAER
f R HARISER - BARDRLE
MBS 2TMZER D PEEEEST
EBHATEWAMAFTZ 5 FTE B R HRE 45
IBISE TS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. DR UEREXFE(E)

(continued)

AT RFABRIEERENEE

The results from discontinued operations for the year are as

follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue Wz 4,160 18,900
Cost of sales SHERAR (2,891) (5,555)
Gross profit EF 1,269 13,345
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note) HEME A AR (M) - 15,454
Other income E Al A - 61
Administrative expenses TTBAX (476) (7,077)
Profit before tax from discontinued TR B B AR I E A TS HBR B AT
operations gl 793 21,783
Income tax expense FrS A 5 52 (131) (984)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRE DRI E TR
income for the year from AR EERA L
discontinued operations 662 20,799
Profit and total comprehensive JEMRFARE BRI EEER
income for the year from KE A R 2R ALREE
discontinued operations attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZEDN 337 12,568
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A 325 8,231
662 20,799

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount represented the i - EHE =T —tF+=-A=1+—H Jtif ZetE
gain on Wise Link Group Disposal (note 36(a)). For the year ended Tﬁéﬁﬁ’ilﬂjgiﬁzL&m(W 536(a)) - HE—
31 December 2016, the amount represented the gain on Central Pearl T-R"FTZA=+—HILFE - EZ %ETE?%
Group Disposal (note 36(d)). EE N E F18 2 W (7E36(d) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-ZT—+F+—-A=+—HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. B L RE XK (E)
(continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued LWTERZZE—+tFR_E—X"F+=A

operations classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2017 =+ AN EAREEENE R IELEEBH
and 2016 are as follows: BERBENEERR

2017 2016
—E—tF —ERE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y% - B & (FE18) - 100
Trade and other receivables, deposits B o5 MEMBRGIE ek
and prepayment FE FUE - 1,087
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY - 6,600
Assets of disposal groups classified PEABELHENHEARNEE
as held for sale - 7,787
Liabilities AfF
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 REMEWRIE R EGTER - 2,040
Current tax liabilities BNEAFIIE B & - 42
Liabilities of disposal groups SPEABELHENEEARNARE
classified as held for sale - 2,082
Net assets directly associated with the HEHEANEZEECEERE
disposal groups - 5,705

The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations for the

UTAERERIEEEBEE 2 ASREF

year are as follows: 2
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Operating activities K TRED N/ATEHA 10,090
Investing activities HEEE N/ATEHA 16,439
Financing activities RO TEED N/ATEHA (22,500)
Net cash inflow REREFE N/ATEH 4,029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. BRI RE XK (E)
(continued)
2017 2016
—E—+5F —E-RF
(Restated)
(5&=5))
Earnings per share: BRER :
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share), EAXRREE(ZREW) -
from discontinued operations RE DRI EETR 0.643 1.859
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from REBRIEEEBNESRERREEZF K
discontinued operations is based on: FTETERATSE :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to owners RAEHEB AERFA
of the Company from discontinued operations & 4% |- 48 & 2 75 8954 Fl 7,925 12,568
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Number of shares BOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in  Fist EEREARRFIME -
issue for the purpose of calculation of basic BRI TE RIS
earnings per share (note 17) (PfF5E17) 1,231,802,888 | 676,231,440
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in St B SREERF TS
issue for the purpose of calculation of diluted BEITE %ij]l]%qzﬂ%(
earnings per share (note 17) (Pf5E17) 1,231,802,888 | 676,231,440
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors of the

Company were as follows:

14. EEM &

ARRENKENEREFOMEOT

Salaries,
allowance Contributions
and other Share- to retirement
benefits Discretionary based benefits
Fees inkind bonus  payments scheme Total
e 2HR BIER
he HtEWEAN BERL  URGXZA HE 5 ko
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Tin TR Fhr FhR THR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BEZ-ZT-+f
TZA=1-HLEE
Executive directors WTES
Mr. Chan Wai Lung’ BERELAe 68 2n - - 11 350
Ms. Lam Ching Yee? HEgELL? 240 - - 358 - 598
Ms. Lin Ting? HEXT? 240 - - 358 - 598
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams? BEALE 74 - - - - 74
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen* REHL A 240 - - 358 - 598
Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung WER T E 72 - - - - 72
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 2EILT 72 - - - - 72
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wait REAREES 27 - - - - 27
Mr. Zhong Shi' EELL 4 = - - - 4
1,074 M1 - 1,074 11 2,430
Year ended 31 December 2016 BEZ2 "%
T-A=T—RIEE
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee? MEERT T2 125 - - 423 - 548
Ms. Lin Ting? MER T2 125 - - 423 - 548
Mr. Lawrence Tang® Lawrence Tang 7t 4£° - 631 - - 9 640
Mr. Li Hoi Kong? FEALE - 1,164 - - 14 1178
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen* REHL A 83 334 - 423 5 845
Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo’ B 173 - - - - 173
Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung WERLE 60 - - - - 60
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 2EILL 60 - - - - 60
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wat? REAREES 60 - - - - 60
686 2,129 - 1,269 28 4,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

! Mr. Chan Wai Lung and Mr. Zhong Shi were appointed on 8 June 2017

2 Ms. Lin Ting and Ms. Lam Ching Yee were appointed on 23 June 2016

8 Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams was appointed on 19 May 2017
4 Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen was appointed on 26 August 2016
5 Mr. Lawrence Tang retired on 22 June 2016

6 Mr. Li Hoi Kong resigned on 21 September 2016
7 Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo resigned on 26 August 2016
8 Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai retired on 18 May 2017

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, certain
directors were granted share options, in respect of their services
to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the consolidated financial statements for the years are disclosed

above.

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no chief
executive officer of the Company has been appointed and
accordingly no emolument was paid to the chief executive officer

of the Company.

None of the Directors of the Company has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2017

(2016: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office

(2016: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

None of the directors of the Company (2016: three directors) is
the five highest paid employees during the year, details of whose
remuneration (as being the directors of the Company) are set
out in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the five (2016: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director of the Company are as follows:

15. EEME

BEARRER(ZT—RF  Z2EF)AK
FEZAARSHMEER  ARREENHE
BN XM RFEERAR(ZE—R
F:MB)FARAEFENE = M EEB A
EHBWT

2017 2016

—B—tF —E-RE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Salaries and other benefits e REAMET 5,822 1,850
Discretionary bonus BIEIEAT 2,014 424
Share-based payments A7) 52 5 R T8 800 -
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIRAEFFT B R 90 36
8,726 2,310

The number of highest paid non-director individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

BEREFNFEEALTZMEN F THIHE :

2017 2016
—E—tF | —TAF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 AH

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 70 22,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 2,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 £3,000,0007 7T 1 -
5 2

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals of
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil).

HE-Z—+HF+-A=+—BILFE &&
By EAAEEEMNALRSHMALNE
MBS - ERIMASR AR EE R ZE K
BB (=T —RNF @) -

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

156



157

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

16. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016, nor has any dividend been proposed

since the end of the reporting period.

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

16. IR 2

ARARBE_Z—tHFR-_FT—XRE+-A
=t— Etﬁrlﬁ/ﬁﬁikaﬁ/ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ' E
HEHREE B EEEZRIRN ETARE -

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. 8RR (EB) BA
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share REENESRERREE(ER) BFTHRIA
for the year is based on the following data: TEURATE
2017 2016
—E—tF —ERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AATEEANEEER
owners of the Company (B518]), %A
From continuing operations REFECEER (54,428) (10,560)
From discontinued operations RE BRI E T 7,925 12,568
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of AQ &7 B A E(RF R
the Company (E518), = (46,503) 2,008
2017 2016
—E—+E —E—RF
Number of shares [:gviE 2 ¢E]
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in EVL#M’_HXEZKOEETE )/ B
issue for the purpose of calculation of basic - BT AR NI T E 8
(loss)/earnings per share 1,231,802,888 676,231,440
Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares asa B BB HERY /B 7L 3@ A%
result of the share options granted (note (a)) BB 2 (Wi )) - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in ?fﬂ”iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%(ﬁ 518, B
issue for the purpose of calculation of diluted C BETE @R INETE
(loss)/earnings per share 1,231,802,888 676,231,440
Note: B
(@  The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the year does @ Jr HAFEZEREE(BER), /BT ERSR
not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding share RAIZEMARITEBEREESER  ARARSERE
options because the adjusted exercise price of those share options is ZRABTEERSRROREE-S—tF L=
higher than the average market price of the shares for the years ended T—XRF+=A _‘T' BIEFE 2 M EGER

31 December 2017 and 2016 which is regarded as anti-dilutive.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ¥ - MENRE

Computer
equipment
and Furniture Leasehold
software and fixtures improvements Total
EREER HE
B FERRESE MELE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THER TER TER TER
31 December 2017 —Z—+t§+-H=1+-H
At 1 January 2017 RZT—+F—H—H
Cost BKAR 16,573 462 1,339 18,374
Accumulated depreciation ESEiE (15,456) (386) (1,230) (17,072)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,117 76 109 1,302
At 1 January 2017, net of RZZ—+t5—H—8"
accumulated depreciation GRETE 1,117 76 109 1,302
Additions NE 827 393 2,225 3,445
Disposals HE (69) @7 (53) (149)
Classified from held for sale DEERFENE 11 - - 1
Depreciation expense WEHRX (831) (166) (911) (1,908)
At 31 December 2017, net of RZZE—+H+=A
accumulated depreciation =+—B TREHNE 1,055 276 1,370 2,701
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+-A=1+—H
Cost AR 17,037 512 2,573 20,122
Accumulated depreciation ESEi (15,982) (236) (1,203) (17,421)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,055 276 1,370 2,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - MENRE(E)

(continued)
Computer
equipment
and Furniture Leasehold
software and fixtures  improvements Total
BRI R HE
B/ BRREE MERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FER FER TET
31 December 2016 —E2-xE+=ZA=1+—H
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—X"F—H—H
Cost (BN 16,744 550 1,514 18,808
Accumulated depreciation Z2itE (14,589) (306) (993) (15,888)
Net carrying amount RESE 2,155 244 521 2,920
At 1 January 2016, net of RZZE—R"E—HA—8"
accumulated depreciation MBR2EITE 2,155 244 521 2,920
Additions RE 576 - 20 596
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35)  WEE— R E A A (F3E35) 4 - 39 43
Disposals HE )] ) (33) 42)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HEHE QA (i 7E36) (456) (53) (138) 647)
Classified as held for sale (note 13) HEARFELE (H13) (99) - () (100)
Depreciation expense TERZ (1,060) (109) (299) (1,468)
At 31 December 2016, net of RZZE—RF+=A
accumulated depreciation =1+—8 IKRRHNE 1,117 76 109 1,302
At 31 December 2016 RZF—A"FtZA=1—H
Cost AR 16,573 462 1,339 18,374
Accumulated depreciation ESpiiE (15,456) (386) (1,230) (17,072)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,117 76 109 1,302

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

Lt - BERRERBERBERERAT

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per FRITE

annum:

Computer equipment and software: 20% to 50% BB R 20%%50%
Furniture and fixtures: 20% to 50% RMBREE 20%%£E50%
Leasehold improvements: Over the lease terms HEMZEES U EFH AL

159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FHET FET

At fair value BATEER
At the beginning of year NG 18,160 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — AR B A &) 35 = 26,200
Net gain from fair value adjustment N EEFHRWEF 9 830 160
Disposal HE - (8,200)
At the end of year RER 18,990 18,160

The Group’s investment properties are held in Hong Kong under
medium-term leases and are leased to independent third parties
under operating leases, further details of which are included in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 December 2017 was HK$18,990,000 (2016:
HK$18,160,000). The fair value has been arrived at based on
a valuation carried out by independent qualified valuers not
connected with the Group. The fair value was determined on
a market value basis with the direct comparison approach
by reference to valuation performed by independent qualified
valuers.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are
included on page 197.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties measured
at the end of the reporting period is categorised as Level 3 of
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 and details of their
movements are disclosed above.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 December 2017 and 2016:

AEBZBREMEREBRIETMEERSE
WHATFRLEHER TN ZBIE=T]  #E— 5
BER A M BRRMEEI ©

RZZE—+FE+-A=+—H  AEEKLREY
¥ 7 N FE(E A18,990,000/8 7T ( T —754F ¢
18,160,000/ 7C) - A BED KA ERNEE
WERE 2B A BRGEMEL 2 EEE
B RFEENZ2EBYAERGEMELZ
HEFMAMEEELRET -

BRAKREREMER ZE - SHBHNE197
DV EEER
RBERRFEZARERENE Z A HEE
TR BRREE BN B REENF1SRAEE
MR FEERRE=F  HEBFIFM LT
WE -

TRINFAEERENER T —LFR_-F
—ANFTZA=T—RZAFEEFEER

Fair value measurement categorised into

AVEEFESES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

=& -t F=R et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

TET TET TET FEr
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z—tF+=A=t—H

Commercial properties )itk sES - - 18,990 18,990
As at 31 December 2016 RZE—"E+=ZA=+—H

Commercial properties itk uES - - 18,160 18,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 10. REWE(E)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) NEEEEHR(E)
During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, there BEZZ—tFR= :*/_\EJF_E =+—H
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 HFE  F—HEF_FAFEBEFE2HL
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3. mER . F= &WI%L?\Y%&
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the FTREERMEDBEARE = FIREYEHEL
key input to the valuation of investment properties categorised FEHASEBMAOT
into Level 3:
Valuation Significant Range or weighted
techniques unobservable inputs average
fEERE M BERTUEE@AZE HESMEFIIE
Commercial properties Direct comparison method Adjusted unit rate of Approximately HK$40,500 to
ElEEZES BEELEOE saleable area HK$73,600 per square foot on
(HK$/square foot) saleable area basis
EREELCHARENE REAERAE  BFARY
®OBIT,ERR) 40,5007 70 273,600/ 7T
A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjusted unit rate of ERAEBCHEEBIREEAEBIE N
saleable area in isolation would result in a significant higher/ G BETIEEE 2 N L BEANELES
(lower) in the fair value of the investment properties. (FRIK) -
20. GOODWILL 20. &
HK$'000
FAET
Cost RS
At 1 January 2016 RZT—RF— 2,625
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HE B2 F)( W‘I%) (1,873)
At 31 December 2016 and R-E—XR"F+ZA=+—H
at 31 December 2017 E=—Z2—tHF+=-A=+—H 752
Accumulated impairment loss ZitREER
At 1 January 2016, at 31 December 2016 R-EB—RF—A—H ZZB—XRF
and at 31 December 2017 +-A=t+—HBR=Z—tF+=-A=+—H 752
Net carrying amounts REFE
At 31 December 2017 R=Z2—tF+=A=+—-H -
At 31 December 2016 RZTE—RE+_A=+—H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

20. GOODWILL (continued) 20. & (4E)

Impairment testing on goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following cash-generating units (“CGU”):

o Referral business; and

* Property management and property agency services
business.

The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of CGU is
as follows:

R BRI B
REBAHEBZHECHREETNIRESESL
B (ReEESM])

o ENERH R

o MEEERMEMERBES

DERESRSELEM 2 HBHRMFEN T

2017 2016

—E—tHF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

Referral business AT - -
Property management and property agency YHEEERYEREBERGERS

services business

Referral business

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the goodwill of
HK$918,000 was derecognised upon the completion of disposal
of a subsidiary (note 36(b)).

Property management and property agency
services business

The recoverable amount of the property management and
property agency services business’s CGU was determined
based on a value-in-use calculation which used cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management covering a 18-month period, and a pre-tax
discount rate of 15.00% per annum. The discount rate used
reflected the risks specific to the CGU. The key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculation were those regarding the
discount rates, the budgeted revenue and budgeted expenses
during the forecasting periods, which were determined
by the management based on past performance and the
managements’ expectations for the market development. During
the year ended 31 December 2016, the goodwill of HK$955,000
was derecognised upon the completion of Central Pearl Group
Disposal (note 36(d)).

LV
BHE-ZT-—XF+-A=+T—BIEFE
918,000/ 7T 2 BN TR HE — R E Q7
(F7E36(0)) 1£ 42 | EFERR ©

YR EE R MERIR IR K

MEETERYEREREER 2 RSELEN
ZABESENRETCRAEEERET @ ZHE
ANEAZREREBANENETEEEL
HSEE - REHEA18(E A HRK - LERE
TR ATAL IR & 15.00% © AT A A9 AL 3R R R R IR
CELBMPFENER - EABEEXNER
R ABEBATEABEMIRE  BERERTE
BT HOER  ZEBREIHEEEREBEAR
BREBEHMBERNEHET -HE-ZT
—RNE+ZA=Z+—HLEFE RELEEH
B E - R IE R EE 955,000 7T (M5
36(d)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. B EE
Property
Systems agency
development service
costs* contracts* Total
YD YIERE
BB R AN R &4 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET TR TR
31 December 2017 —2—+t&+_A=+—H
At 1 January 2017, net of RnZZE—tF—HA—H"
accumulated amortisation BR RETEESH 3,552 - 3,552
Amortisation expense B HR S (2,090) - (2,090)
At 31 December 2017 R-F—tF+-A=+—H 1,462 - 1,462
At 31 December 2017 R_E—+F+_A=+—8
Cost XA 7,711 - 7,711
Accumulated amortisation RETHESH (6,249) - (6,249)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,462 - 1,462
31 December 2016 —2-XE+_A=+—H
At 1 January 2016, net of RZE—RF—H—H"
accumulated amortisation bR Rty 5,722 2,932 8,654
Amortisation expense B HRST (2,170) (2,932) (5,102)
At 31 December 2016 RZF-—AR"F+ZA=1+—H 3,552 - 3,552
At 31 December 2016 R-Z—RF+=-A=1t—H
Cost (DN 7,711 2,932 10,643
Accumulated amortisation RETHESY (4,159) (2,932) (7,091)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 3,552 - 3,552
* The balance was included in non-current assets * ERRET AIERBAE
# The balance was included in current assets # LA A RENEE
Intangible assets of internally generated development costs NI E LR AN EF S EERENBHR
represented all direct costs incurred in the development of BT BN o BRI B AN LA T
new software systems. The software development costs are PR EHAPUE A I B AR RS o
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 4 years.
Intangible assets of property agency service contracts t’f@%{{ﬁﬂﬁﬁé\l%’gE@ﬁﬂ;ﬁ@hiﬁﬁﬁ#uyﬁﬁE|
represented expected revenue generated from engaged BRI 2 MEREREA MEARKZS - B
property agency service contracts at the date of acquisition. The MERIBEANESRERERREE AME
amortisation of property agency service contracts is provided RIBIRGE S L EEELEE - BE_ZT—~
at the time when the property agency fee is recognised as FE+-_A=+—HIIEE  MERBAYHZE
revenue in the statement of profit or loss. The intangible assets FEED B -
of property agency service contracts were fully amortised during
the year ended 31 December 2016.
At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the management considers R-E—F+ER—ZE— FE+-_A=+—8 "
there was no impairment on intangible assets since the **fi@%;% BRI RS EEBEEREEE -
recoverable amounts exceed their carrying amounts. WMEREERERE -

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REFE AR ZRE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FAT
Share of net assets EIhEEFE 3,120 56,485
Goodwill GEES 9,019 14,073
12,139 70,558
Provision for impairment BB RHE (9,179) -
2,960 70,558
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
At the beginning of year NG 70,558 19,862
Cost of unlisted investments in associates B N2 IE ETIRE AR - 48,800
Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit and other  fE{5 Ut BE% (E51E) 4 FI &
comprehensive (loss)/income Hip2m(E18), WA (5,397) 2,976
Dividend received 2% B - (1,515)
Gain on dilution of interest in an associate BN —EBE AR 2R W
(note 9) (FF5E9) - 435
Decrease in interest in an associate R R R Z SR (1,604) -
Disposal HE (51,418) -
Provision for impairment on investment in RSN EIRE 2 RERE
an associate (note 9) (PfI5E9) (9,179) -
At the end of year RER 2,960 70,558
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

REEE SR RNRE

22. RBFE R T 2 RE (&)

HIRFHBT -

BERERLY
Form of Place of Group’s
business incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by a
Name of entity structure operation interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
MR/ rEEZ HERAH H -
BEsE ERGRYS  SEny ERER o] NABE  TEER
Four Directions Investment Limited  Incorporated British Virgin Islands 26.87% Ni 26.87%  Investment holding of subsidiaries
(‘FDIL") (note (a)) L (“BVI") z which are principally engaged
Four Directions Investment Limited KBRUKES (2016: 23.29%) (2016: i) (2016: 25.17%) in the provision of information
(TFDIL) (BizE () ((KBRa#E]) (ZF—7%F: (ZF7F: (ZErEF: technology, smartphone
23.29%) %) 2517%)  applications development
and digital marketing and the
development of information
technology applications
TERBREEARBRENT
HEREARE  HTEHEN
REARBERERHERE
ol N
Ultimate Elite Investments Limited  Incorporated BvI Nil Nil NIl Investment holding of subsidiary
(‘Ultimate Elite’) (note (b)) L EERUHE z Z T whichis principally engaged
Ultimate Elite Investments Limited (2016: 40.00%) (2016: Ni)  (2016: 40.00%) in property investment and
([Ultimate Elite ) (izE(b)) (ZB—7%E:  (ZE7F:  (ZErE: investment holding
40.00%) z) 4000%) FERFNERARRERRY
MERAIMRE R

The Group’s associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

FDIL and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing services
in relation to information technology, smartphone applications
development and digital marketing and the development of information
technology applications.

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial
information in respect of FDIL and its subsidiaries:

22. REE QR 2 RE (&)

ffaE -

FDIL R HF @A R E B FRHEAMBR R B4
FREMEARE  HFEHURERBER
T2 PR AR -

TRAPFDILEERB AT 258 BEREE

2017 2016
—E—+fF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Current assets RENEE 26,722 44,779
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill IRBEE(TRIERSE) 3,515 7,405
Current liabilities mEaE (18,625) (13,061)
Net assets BEFE 11,612 39,123
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: 7N BB &N G2 a2 $1Ak -
Proportion of the Group’s interest AEERER 2 A 26.87% 25.17%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, AEBEEBEARZEEEE
excluding goodwill (TeEEe) 3,120 9,847
Goodwill and fair value adjustment on acquisition g EE 2 B RN THEERE 9,019 11,125
Provision for impairment on investment in an associate A —EE# & R BIRE ZFIEEE (9,179) -
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in FDIL AEBENFDILZ % 2 FREE 2,960 20,972
2017 2016
—EB—+F —T—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Revenue for the year FRUEE 26,316 42,778
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EIR),SEF (27,543) 7,499
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FREHE(EE) WALRE (27,511) 7,499

On 5 December 2016, the Group and the vendor entered into a sale
and purchase agreement pursuant to which the vendor has agreed
to sell and the Group has agreed to acquire 40% of the issued share
capital of Ultimate Elite at the consideration of HK$48,800,000.

On 28 August 2017, the Group disposed of its entire 40% equity
interest in Ultimate Elite at a cash consideration of HK$59,726,000,
after adjustments in accordance with the terms of sale and purchase
agreement, resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$8,308,000. Upon completion of the disposal, Ultimate Elite ceased
to be the associate of the Company.

R-ZE—XRNEFE+_ARA  AEERBEHTLT
BEEWE - Bt BEHACRABELERAEEER
B g & Ultimate Elite 2 40% B % 1T A - REA
48,800,000/ 7T °

RZZE—tFNAZ+NB  ZEEURER
859,726,000% 7T (1R1E B B & 2 16K T AR
1% ) H & HUltimate Elite 89 2 2840% % 1 - &
A & IR 25 498,308,000 T - M E MK E
Ultimate Elite ™8 AR A Bl & A F] °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—ZT—+F+-_A=+—HIFE

23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 23. R—REERRZRE
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Cost of unlisted investment in a joint venture R—H&ERE 2 IELTRE 2R 39,596 39,596
Share of post-acquisition loss and other FEAE Ui 12 5 18 I E fh 2 E &5 18

comprehensive loss (22,691) (3,489)
16,905 36,107

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the AEBEERTRRERARFBOT -

reporting period are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

RERERLA
Place of Issued and Group’s
incorporation/ fully paid up effective Held by the Heldby a
Name of entity operation share capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
Rilzwye BEIR rEEZ AR h-EHE
EReH [y BERA ERER BE NABE  IEER
Sky View Investment Limited BV US$1,100 49% Nil 49%  Investment in Rolaner International
(“Sky View") HKBRLHS 1,100F T T Limited (‘Rolaner’)
REREBRAT (2016: 49.00%) (2016:Ni)  (2016: 49.00%)  #Rolaner International Limited
(IRE)) (ZB2—05RE: (2B RE: (ZBRE: (TRolaner)) 7% &
49.00%) Z) 49.00%)
Sky View is an investment holding company and its main asset is RKEDREERAR  MEZTZEERRFS
investment in Rolaner, a company incorporated in the Cayman Rolaner(—fERFE B ETMK I 2 BR AR
Islands with limited liability. Rolaner indirectly entered into a 2 1% & o Rolanerfl# 5] L& ’]kﬁﬂ il BE
contractual arrangement on control and be able to consolidate WK R N Tl B ImEREE AR - £& R 8
the financial statements of an operating company. The principal ZI%%W%%&%—E?%E}EH&TT%%E@
business of the operating company is operating the mobile B ZEARTEARKNBEEEERITE
application Mei Li Shen Qi (2EE##25), one of the largest online BANEGTE — TAEESTERAPKN
community and e-commerce platforms with more than ten BEFEBTEE -
million users for medical beauty industry in the People’s Republic

of China.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 23. RA—EEE AR ZRE (&)
(continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRAPREATSEREE -
information in respect of Sky View:
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current assets MENEE 410 419
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill FRBEE(TRERE) 34,089 73,268
Net assets BESE 34,499 73,687
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest HAREFRAE NG
in the joint venture: ZHR
Proportion of the Group’s interest NEE R 2 ) 49% 49%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint AEBEELEERRZEEFE
venture, excluding goodwill (TBRiERE) 16,905 36,107
For the period
from 5 January
2016 (the date of
incorporation) to
31 December
2017 2016
BZE—RF
—AAH
(R BE)ZE
N3
ZZ2—tF | +tZA=t—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER Far
Revenue for the year/period F/Hmdkas - -
Loss for the year/period F/BREE (39,188) (7,121)
Total comprehensive loss for the year/period F/ N EEBAE (39,188) (7,121)
24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24 AIHHERE
2017 2016
—E—tF —FRF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Listed shares in Hong Kong, at fair value BBz EmkG - BATEERE
(note (a)) (i 5E (@) o 9,923 41,510
Unlisted fund investment, at cost (note (o)) FEEMERKRE BRI D) - 3,500
Unlisted equity investments, at cost (note (c)) FELEMBRAKE - A HIEE () 1,250 25,521
11,173 70,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)

The fair values of listed securities are based on current closing
prices in the Stock Exchange.

The unlisted fund and equity investments are measured at cost
less impairment at the end of the reporting period because the
range of reasonable fair value estimate is so significant that the
Directors of the Company are of the opinion that fair values
cannot be measured reliably.

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the gross loss in respect of
the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in the statement
of other comprehensive income amounted to HK$31,587,000 (2016:
gross gain of HK$4,796,000), of which HK$25,137,000 (2016: Nil) was
reclassified from the statement of other comprehensive income to the
statement of profit or loss for the year.

The unlisted fund investment represented investment in a private equity
fund which was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, an impairment loss of available-for-sale
investment of HK$3,500,000 was recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the unlisted fund
investments with carrying amount of HK$17,000,000 were redeemed
and an aggregated amount of loss of disposal of available-for-sale
investment of HK$3,548,000 was recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the unlisted equity
investments with carrying amount of HK$24,271,000 (2016:
HK$1,250,000) was disposed of and a gain of disposal of available-
for-sale investments of HK$1,229,000 (2016: HK$2,750,000) was
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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24. AIRHERE(E)

FHES 2 AT EE TR AT S
e

PR R - B A TR AR R 2 B R
X - ARREERALE DT EED T4
SRR - B LTS R AR
CEEE

o

@ REE-_Z—+tF+_F=t—BILEE A#
AREE T EI8E 2 F£1831,587,0008 T (= F
— 7N 1 E4,796,00058 7T ) R E AL 2 ERA K
R - HF25137,0008 T(ZF—RF : 8)F
NEEMEEARARENDERBSEE -

) FLEMESREENCHEHSEMALZILE
iR 7RE - BE_Z—+F+-F=1+—
BIEFE - Al &8 & 2 7 8 & 183,500,000
BETORESRER BE_T—X~F+=A
=+—HIFE - B ERKREEA17,000,0007%#
TTZEMESERE  MESATHESRENE
1B48583,548,00078 LA B 2 R IR ©

© BEZZT—+F+-_A=+—HILEE BHE
5 124,271,000 7T (ZZ — 754 : 1,250,000
L) ELETIRAERE - B1,229,0008 L (=F
— 7~ 02,750,000 ) 2 HEAMHHERE 2
WS ENIBERER ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

25 B REMEWRIE ek

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS N FRIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Trade receivables B 5 EWKIA 5,067 8,590

Interest receivables from money lending BEEB 2 YN B

business 208 357
5,275 8,947
Allowance for doubtful debts RIS - (202)
5,275 8,745
Other receivables E e GRIE 67 43
Deposits and prepayments e RIENFIE 4,509 3,192
9,851 11,980

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the invoice date and net of allowance for

doubtful debts, at the end of the reporting period:

T RRER ARG REREFEREINE
ZIEWRIEN IR & BRH R D AT -

2017 2016

—E—tE | —TAF

HK$’000 HK$’000

T TR

0-30 days 0Z30H 3,544 7,557
31 - 60 days 31260H 840 645
61 - 90 days 61290H 281 149
91 - 120 days 91£E120H 204 5
Over 120 days FaiB120H 198 32
Total et 5,067 8,388

The Group generally allows an average credit period of not more
than 30 days to its trade receivables customers and based on
the negotiations between the Group and individual customers.

No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there was

no recent history of default.

REE—RUHEE ZREFIEL TP FET
B30 REEH - mAKERER T PR

ETF - EHRKFIAL TGS

REH A RBEZ B SRS KR Z TR

MEP - REHETHR R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 25.
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(continued)

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below
for aged analysis) which are past due at the end of the reporting
period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance
for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Age of trade receivables that are past due but
not impaired

EZREMEBWRIE ZERTE
ARRE (&)

REBFAR EXEEZNBERRS B2
B S RAEGRIE (R T XRE DT BERRERR
B EARZEFRAZERERLBEAZEHIN
R BRI AR R AT UL [B] o 2N 5% B30 8 %
SR AR o

7

EEMERRENE 5 R FURIRE

2017 2016
—ZE—+F ZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHIT
Overdue by: SEH
1-30 days 1230H 840 645
31 - 60 days 31£60H 281 149
61 - 90 days 61£290H 204 5
Over 90 days HiE90H 198 32
Total st 1,523 831
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIRBHEEH
2017 2016
—E—+5F —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHT
At the beginning of year RE) 202 -
Reversal/(provision) of impairment loss B 5 EBGRIER R EEE
on trade receivables Be,(BE) (362) 202
Recovery of trade receivables previously WEBAFEMENES
written off JFEW R IE 160 -
At the end of year RER - 202
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

26

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(continued)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
(continued)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
end of the reporting period. The Group has assessed the credit
quality of the trade receivables by using internal assessment,
taking into account the repayment history and financial
background of the trade customers. The concentration of
credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and
unrelated.

Interest receivables from money lending business
A maturity profile of the interest receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the remaining contractual maturity
date and net of allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

25. EZ R EHMBWRE - BERA

AR (&)

RIEREZE (R)

EEEZREZENSKOE - REEZER
HEYGRERSIMHEE 2 BHEHREH R
MEEERZHAEE - AEEKLEREF R
FRERCEEUHE ST - BB ET
EEFRUIENERER - ARNTPERE
REERE  FAEESTRBRAR -

BEEE ZBRFE
FEW R SARIE R R A KO 51 B (B RERBE)
REHRNOBBHERDT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —EREF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHBxT FET

Due within 3 months HA3{E A R E|HA 208 127
Due after 3 months but within 6 months PA3{E A 12 =618 A W E|H - 230
Total wEt 208 357

The interest receivables arising from money lending business are
neither past due nor impaired.

EEEBES 2 BKH S L AR BHIRE -

LOANS RECEIVABLE 26. ERE R
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—XF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Loans receivable from money lending business & & %7~ fEI & 3k 26,590 36,420

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans receivable so as to minimise credit risk. The granting of
loans is subject to approval by the management, whilst overdue
balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability.

AEBB A E R AREE 2 BRERER BRI
B EUREREEERR - REBHER
REEREHLE - MBI ER A E B Al i B
MEHETTIRRT
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

27

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

As at 31 December 2017, the loans receivable are unsecured,
charging on interest rates ranging from 8.5% to 10% per annum
(2016: 8% to 13% per annum) and are repayable with fixed

terms agreed with the contracting parties.

A maturity profile of the loans receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the remaining contractual maturity

date is as follows:

H A

26. EIRER(E)

RZBE—+F+A=+—0H  BRERRE

N FENEREREI0E(ZF—R

F8EEIBE)FE - WRLRFTATTHENE

ERREER -

EREFRIEFAA DR H AR IRE RS
BRERANT

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Due within 3 months PA3{E A R EHA 11,900 -
Due after 3 months but within 6 months PA31E A& =616 A R EIE 900 8,500
Due after 6 months but within 12 months A EYEEE-ES PAFPIAE 13,790 27,920
Total wEt 26,590 36,420
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 27. RAFEEFTAEEZNERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2017 2016
—Z—tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FHET
Financial assets held for trading FEEEamERE
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LMRAFS
(note (a)) (FizE(a)) - 15,675
Financial assets designated as at fair value EERRATEEF ABEN
through profit or loss SREE
— Convertible bond (note (b)) — AR ES (M (D) 2,500 3,077
2,500 18,752
Notes: PEE -
(@)  The fair values of the equity securities held for trading were determined (@ HIFEERABLEZAFEBENBREREZRTS
based on the quoted market prices in an active market. iz S EMmMETE °
(b)  As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of the convertible bond, a ) MZZE—tHF+_A=+—08 Xa2¥EA

three-year zero coupon rate with principal amount of HK$2,500,000
(2016: HK$2,500,000) had been determined. The debt component was
calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis and the conversion
option component was calculated using the Binomial Model. A loss
on fair value change of HK$577,000 (2016: gain of HK$177,000) was

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2,500,000 7T (ZZ — /<& : 2,500,0007 7T ) #)
—FHTEESXRTRRESFNATEEDET -
BEBHSHIRAUBRBESTRESNTE - MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

29

30

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group,
deposits placed with securities brokers and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less which
carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.07%
(2016: 0.01% to 0.90%) per annum.

e MR RN

—tFTZA=t—RLEFE

28. RERIREEEY

RekReSEBYEEAEBBEENRS 7§
MR B HE Lz TR RERITER - %%
MHRITERER =@ ASKARNEE - TS
FFFE0.01%ZE0.07%(=ZF—XF : 0.01%E
0.90% )& °

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. Hft BT RRIA R EET K
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Receipts in advance TR F A 17,467 14,043
Customers deposit B 11,337 9,021
Other payables and accruals EAth FE A FRUE K FERTSRE 8,243 9,986
37,047 33,050
INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS AND 30. st EfeEREERE
BORROWING FACILITY
Interest-bearing borrowings were fully repaid during the year. AEEERFERNBHERE - T—AR"Ft+=
The balance as at 31 December 2016 included the aggregated A=+—8" Z%ﬁﬁ?@%&lmiﬂ$8 5@
principal amount of HK$31,500,000 which was interest-bearing 5B 2 R4 4%831,500,0008 7T © B EEIA N
at fixed rate of 8.5% per annum, unsecured and repayable AR—FNEE -

within one year.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not engage in
borrowing facility. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a
short-term borrowing facility to the extent of HK$50,000,000, of
which HK$31,500,000 had been utilised by the Group.

R-T—tF+_A=+—8 FEELEE
,\mﬁﬁ RZZE—XF+ZA=+—H ' &
£ B 5 2 Hi {8 & 8 £ 50,000,000 7T » EH A
31,500,000/ L B EARE BB
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31.

The movement of deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

BERBRERFAZZEBIT

Accelerated

Intangible tax
assets depreciation Total
hilIEzS
BREE BIEFE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FET FAET
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—RF—HA—H 1,428 65 1,493
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) REZEFTA(EE12) 842) (45) (887)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE—RF+-A=+—H
at 1 January 2017 F—ZT—+&—HF—H 586 20 606
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) PRI A(FE12) (345) (18) (363)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZT—tHF
+=BA=+—H 241 2 243

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$55,204,000 (2016:
approximately HK$41,503,000), subject to the agreement by the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available for
offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z—-%

—tFTZA=t—RLEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. kA
Number of Share
shares capital
BB EE [N
Notes HK$’000
it FHT
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 January 2016, ordinary shares RZE—R"F—A—H §REE
of HK$0.0005 each 0. ooo55%ﬁzjt‘ AR 20,000,000,000 10,000
2016 Share Consolidation NERMNDE G b) (18,000,000,000)
At 31 December 2016 and RZIE-X"E+ZA=+—-HEK
at 31 December 2017, ordinary —Z2—+t¥+=ZA=1+—-8"
shares of HK$0.005 each SRMEE0.0058 T2 EER 2,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHE
At 1 January 2016, ordinary RZZE—R"F—A—H SREE
shares of HK$0.0005 each 0.0005/ 70,2 &A% 4,000,000,000 2,000
Placing of new shares [ @) 800,000,000 400
2016 Share Consolidation TR EROEH (b) (4,320,000,000) -
Rights Issue A% () 240,000,000 1,200
Placing of new shares B & #TA% (@) 144,000,000 720
Issue of Consideration Shares BITRERG (e 186,492,340 932
At 31 December 2016, ordinary R-ZE—RF+-A= + El
shares of HK$0.005 each BIEEC.005B L E 1,050,492,340 5,252
Placing of new shares fe & 3T 4] 210,090,000 1,051
At 31 December 2017, ordinary RZE—+H&+=-A=+—-H"
shares of HK$0.005 each SREE0.0058 T2 EER 1,260,582,340 6,303
Notes: |;ﬁ%£ .
(@) On 27 January 2016, an aggregate of 800,000,000 new shares (a) RZZT—R"F—HA=+tH ' 4£%£800,000,000/%

of HK$0.0005 each of the Company were issued under a general
mandate granted to the Directors at a placing price of HK$0.05 each.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 18 April 2016,
the share consolidation was approved with effect from 19 April 2016 in
which every ten (10) issued and unissued existing shares of HK$0.0005
each were consolidated into one (1) share of HK$0.005 each. The
authorised share capital of the Company became HK$10,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 consolidated shares, of which 480,000,000
consolidated shares were issued and fully paid (the “2016 Share
Consolidation”).

F T {E0.00058 T2 AR A R EARER T
BR7 —MREERER0.06B T2 IEERT -

BEARFABEAZZ—A"FEA+NBETZ
REFRAEG ERB EBREAR - RHEH
BEMETHR T —NENA+ARER K
&+ (10) % B A% E {E0.000578 7L 2 B 317 R &
FTRBROAEMHA—()REREMEO0.005% T
Z B o AR REEE R A E 510,000,000
It 9 £2,000,000,000 B A Bf B D - E
480,000,000 & BFAR 1D B BT RAE ([ =T —X
FERHEGED °

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

176



177

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

33

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

Notes: (continued)

() On 24 May 2016, an aggregate of 240,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.005 each were allotted and issued on the basis of one (1) rights
share for every two (2) ordinary shares of the Company issued and held
on the record date at a subscription price of HK$0.324 per rights share
(the “Rights Issue”)

(d)  On 1 September 2016, an aggregate of 144,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.005 each of the Company were issued under a general mandate
granted to the Directors at a placing price of HK$0.15 each.

(e) On 27 September 2016, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire 16,538,000 issued ordinary shares of China
Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“CPN”, a company listed on GEM,
Stock Code: 8361) from Perfect Growth Limited (as vendor, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GET Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM,
Stock Code: 8100) at the consideration of HK$35,498,817, which
would be satisfied by the allotment and issue of 186,492,340 ordinary
shares of HK$0.005 each of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”).
Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
12 December 2016, the transaction including the issue of Consideration
Shares was approved. The Consideration Shares were issued on 16
December 2016.

) On 20 February 2017, an aggregate of 210,090,000 new shares of
HK$0.005 each of the Company were issued under a general mandate
granted to the Directors at a placing price of HK$0.146 each.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 September 2013 as to
attract and retain the best available personnel and to provide
additional incentive to the eligible participants under the
Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
consultants or advisors of the Group, or any substantial
shareholders of the Group, or any distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company.
The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any options shall
be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to their contribution or potential
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
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32. lRA(48)

33

i ()

) MZZT—RFRAZ+MA - & F£240,000,000/%
SR (E0.0058 7T 2 k() B Ik N ek B e
AMEQMRAA R B EHITERRER — ()RR
1 2 HE SRR HARAR70.324/8 T 2 RIBE R
BREBAT(MERD) -

d RZZT—XFNA—H - & ££144,000,0000% F %
E{HO0.005BTT 2 A A RPN ERERTFTESZ
— R ER0A5B T 2 B EBRT -

© RIZE—XRFAAZ+EH AEEEDZER
BRAR(—MMRGEM LM Z AR+ BRDARSR -
8100) 2 2 EMB AR ERBR AT (EAES)
AV EEE  BETREERRKERERAR
(THhEERASL]  —MAGEMLETZ AR &
8% - 8361) 216,538,000 % C 217 L@ A%
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AR (TRERD D ER - BEARARBRER=Z
—ANFTZA+ZBRTZARRARREIAE
RBrEBRBR  ABXS (BEBITRER
7)) BEE - RERNER=ZZT—X"FE+=A
+NBET
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AREEO.005B T2 AN A RIFRH ERER TES
2 —RRERERR0.1468 T2 BLE EETT -

BT

RE-T-=FAATEBBIARE AR
AR OIS B (T5HE1) + AR 3| R B IS
AT - LREHBAA BB REREE)
528 -

RIBFTE - ARREF A2 EBIERRE
B ERIR L BIRAE T EAES (TREBIFR
B EE AEEEHALBERIAEEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BIRESTEI(E)

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue upon
the date of which the shares are listed and permitted to be dealt
in the Stock Exchange. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any
time by approval of the Company’s shareholders provided that
the total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share options schemes of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit. Subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders, the aggregate number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time
to time. No options may be granted under the Scheme or any
other share options schemes of the Company if this will result in
the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
for the time being. Where any further grant of options to a
participant under the Scheme would result in the shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by shareholders of the Company in general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors
of the Company (excluding any independent non-executive
director who is the grantee). Where any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective associates
would result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to such person
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million, such grant must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.
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EBRMARZE R 22 #TRN10% © 10%2
ERRATRERS AR A RIBCRHLEE #T - HERIRRT
B MARRIHAE BT EIR M Z AR
PR SETTIE RS S T EAT 2 R AR I A2 -
SHREAARNIERN LRER 22 #ITR
110% ° FEGARRBRERIER - RIBFTE
KA RBEMEAMF IR EMERTEZAE
BAEEITER S T ET 2 AR AR AAR
NMSBBARR TR EEHITRMN30% © MiRE
B AR BT AR R R B R A
REHERBZIERE - AN SBIL R DB -
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B2 BBITBRAZ1% - WiREEIA—22
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HBBEABRRER -
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BE) ZE M+ @A 8 - WA RaEE
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AR EAMERESSEAEEATELZ
FTEBRE(RERTE  BEHRRITER
BRiE) BATERE BT R FRHITZRMEE
BEAARE BTN Z01% - BAEBR
5,000,000 7T - Al EBE HIEREEHAR
ClE i

ENSRMBEERERAT | 2017E £

178



179

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days inclusive of the date of the offer. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine which
shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option with
a remittance in favour of the Company within such time as may
be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days
from the date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
Directors of the Company and notified to a participant and shall
be at least the highest of: () the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option; (i) the average closing prices
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s share on the date of grant of the option.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring on
the business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary
thereof i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares (representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date this report). As at the date of this report, no
options have been granted under the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at
the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 1 year from the date of grant.

There is no performance target which must be achieved before
any of the options can be exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

& M5 RIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

during the year:

33. BB ERTEI(E)

AN AFENET IR T WARTTE 2 A

2017 2016
—E—tHF ZE—RF

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options exercise price share options
INFEFIFITEE BREZHE | NEFHITERE Mg 2R

HK$ HK$

BT BT
At the beginning of year ~ RE#] 0.2196 40,000,000 - -
Granted during the year FR®E L 0.3150 105,010,000 0.2196 40,000,000
Lapsed during the year G5 0.2196 (40,000,000) - -
At the end of year RER 0.3150 105,010,000 0.2196 40,000,000

No share options have been exercised and cancelled for the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil). 40,000,000 (2016:
Nil) share options have been lapsed during the year ended 31

December 2017.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017

REBE_Z—+F+_A=+—RHILFE #
BEBERECTEREH(ZE—REFE &) -
REBEEZE_Z—+F+_A=+T—RHILFE

2

o

40,000,000 (ZF—RF  E)BERES X

RERE HIR R ARTT I A 2 TR B M AT AR

un

T

BE_Z+F+_A=+—HIFE

Exercise price of share option

Number of share options (HKS$ per share) Exercise period
BREHE BRETEE(ERER) 1T
105,010,000 0.3150 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018

—E—+tHE=A=-+NBE
—E-NE=ZA=1++tH

Year ended 31 December 2016

Number of share options

Exercise price of share option
(HK$ per share)

&

2%

—NFT_A=T—HIFE

Exercise period

ERESE BT E (FRETT) ot
40,000,000 0.2196 21 November 2016 — 20 November 2017

The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2017
had a weighted average exercise price of HK$0.3150 (2016:
HK$0.2196) and a weighted average remaining contractual life

of 0.24 year (2016: 0.89 year).

ZFAFtT-AZt+—HE
T EFt+—A=+A

RZZE—tF+_A=+—BHHERTEZER
N1 TE (B B0.31508 T (Z T — K& ¢
0.2196/87T) * RIMNEFHFBFH A0.24F
(ZZ—RF : 0.89F) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of the share options granted for the year ended
31 December 2017 was HK$8,278,000 (2016: HK$2,111,000),
and was recognised as share-based payment during the year.
The fair value of share options granted during the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using a Binomial Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following

table lists the inputs to the model used:

33. BB ERTEI(E)

HE-_Z—+tF+_A=+—HILFERH
2 B E N FBIE A8,278,0008 T( —F— X
F 02,111,000/ 7T) + WHFRFER AR D
YNRB - HEE—+FERT—RFt+=
A=+—BHLEFERLZBREAFEEBKE
BT R R IR I 1 e 2 AR R R R ) B BRE
Az RA R - TREIIFTAEA ZB@A
HUE -

2017 2016
—E—t% —TNE

Fair value of share options and
assumptions
Grant date and measurement date

Fair value at the date of grant (HKS)

Closing share price at the
date of grant (HK$)
Exercise price (HK$)
Expected volatility (%)
Expected life of option (year)
Expected dividend yield (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility.
Expected dividend yield is based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially

affect the fair value estimate.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

BREATEERRBRR

BB RFTE R

EHBA#RHz A FEECET)
EHB#Z B W ECET)

TEEGET)
FEHAH B (%)

B EEHREE(F)
TEHIR B R (%)

2 R T (%)

Annual Report 2017

28 March 2017 | 21 November 2016

—E—tF AN
=A=+NHRH +—HA=+—8
0.0795, 0.0526,
0.0787 0.0529
0.3150 0.2110
0.3150 0.2196

69.50 67.28

1 1

0.61 0.49

TEHURE) OARIBE LR BEE - TREIR B ET)
REAERSETE - TEBAMB ZEF 5
HAVEBERITELEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

34. RESERVES 34. #E
(a) Share Options Reserve (a) BRERE
Share options reserve arises on the grant of share BREHEEHEDREBS RS AR HEER
options to eligible participants under the Scheme. Further AR E & o B AR STRTRIE 2
information about share-based payments is set out in note — A ERF M FESS
33.
(b) Merger Reserve (b) EffRAE
Merger reserve represents the difference between the EHREEARTR-_ZE—=ZFN\A
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in T+ N\BASHELmmETEHR(EH])
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its LATR B SR E R8Iy - RHEVE B A AR
subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation to rationalise RMBEITRGD 2 MEEZSERANEEZE
the group structure in preparation for the listing on B o
28 August 2013 (the “Reorganisation”).
(c) Capital Reserve (c) EXfFEE
Capital reserve as at 31 December 2016 arises from the ZE-RE+ZA=T—HBZENEHES
dilution of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary on 12 May AEER_Z-RFRATZAEENE
2016. NEEREL o
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. WEBK B 1 7
On 16 March 2016, the Group acquired the entire equity RZE—RF=ZA+H AEEKEEFE
interest of China Universal Limited at a cash consideration of PR AmElz 2 abRxiE - IR &R (E R25,900,000/%8
HK$25,900,000. JC °
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of China PEBEEE  EFEERARAIRANEEREE
Universal Limited as at the date of acquisition were as follows: ZRAFEBERAT
HK$'000
FAT
Investment properties (note 19) LEWE(HFE19) 26,200
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y% - B &R (EE18) 43
Trade receivables and prepayments E 5 W IE R IE R 81
Bank balances RITAE R 32
Customers deposit and accruals EFEES RIERTHUA @71)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRATEBEFEZATHAIEERFE 26,085
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition (note 9) g 2 Z BB B W (M5E9) (185)
Satisfied by cash LAR B 25,900
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
China Universal Limited is as follows:

35. W RBH B 2 7 ()

ERARBEEERARZASREANAOT

HK$’000

FAT

Cash consideration paid BERERE 25,900

Bank balances acquired FrEE A Z SR1THAE &R (32)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included T ARERHELNRSREZR S

in cash flows used in investing activities MR EEYRT T 25,868

The fair values of trade receivables as at the date of acquisition
amounted to HK$77,000 which approximated the gross
contractual amounts. None of these receivables have been
impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can
be collected.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$147,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense within the administrative expenses
in the statement of profit or loss for year ended 31 December
2016.

Since the acquisition date, China Universal Limited contributed
HK$724,000 to the Group’s revenue and HK$596,000 to the
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2016. Had
the business combination taken place at 1 January 2016, the
revenue and the loss of the Group for the year from continuing
operations would have been approximately HK$58,386,000
and HK$9,117,000 respectively. The Directors of the
Company consider this “pro-forma” numbers to represent an
approximate measure of the performance of the combined
group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference point
for comparison in future periods. The Directors believe that
the acquisition represents a good investment opportunity in
properties for the Group, will generate stable rental income to
the Group and improve the Group’s operating performance in
the future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEME QT
(@) On 28 April 2017, the Group disposed of its entire 51% @ RZZE—EFEAZ+NR xEERE
equity interest in Wise Link Group at a cash consideration HREBEEN 2 E51%E - IRERE
of HK$9,800,000. 9,800,000/ 7T °
HK$’000
FHER
Net assets disposed of: FIHEZEERE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB LB 75
Deposits and prepayments e RN FIE 19
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTEE 6,376
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 R EMPER IR A KR BT FIR (1,828)
Current tax liability BNERFIIE B & (174)
4,468
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A R (2,189)
Release of capital reserve 2 £ G- Wi (67)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 13) HEMRB ARz W (KiFE13) 7,588
9,800
Satisfied by cash LAIR & (B 9,800
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BRTEEBEE R MESEEBYR
in respect of the disposal of the Wise Link Group is as NFREZ PHTIAT -
follows:
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration received BWELZ B RE 9,800
Cash and bank balances disposed of FrE 2 Re RIRTTHES (6,376)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included ~ R AREEEFAENIRERE
in cash flows from investing activities ZHRENRESEBYRNFE 3,424

EnemRrEnRaRAT 2017558 184



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. HEMEB AT (E&)

()  On 26 January 2016, the Group disposed of its entire 95% ) RZZE—ARF—AZ+~HB AEEHE
equity interest in ChinaQFii Company Limited (“ChinaQFii”) EERNFTEBERBPERAR([HHB
at a cash consideration of HK$2,400,000. BB 2 2EHB%KE  BENRES

2,400,000/ 7T, ©

HK$’'000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: FTHEZEERE
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y% -~ B K& (HFE18) 18
Goodwill (note 20) P& (M15E20) 918
Other receivables H fth el RIE 14
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 139
Accruals JERT IR 1)
1,088
Non-controlling interests IR 103
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 9) HEME AR 2 s (FiEE9) 1,209
2,400
Satisfied by cash LAIR € (B 2,400
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BRLETEBLRAECIRENIRSESE
in respect of the disposal of ChinaQFii is as follows: PIRAFEZ DA -
HK$’'000
FAT
Cash consideration received EE 2R eRE 2,400
Cash and bank balances disposed of & 2R & RIRTTHH (139)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included ~ EitAREEZSHFAMESRE
in cash flows used in investing activities Z2HReRB2FEMRAFE 2,261

185 Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2017



36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

©
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

On 31 May 2016, the Group disposed of its entire equity (c)
interest being the entire issued share capital of Sky Luck
International Limited (“Sky Luck”) at a cash consideration

36. HEMB LR (&)

REZ—RFRRB=1T—H0 AEHELE
HRREBBRBER AR ([ XE] 22 E
Az (BIE2HEHTRA)  ReNE

of HK$3,400,000. 73,400,000 7T, ©
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: FTHEZEERE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) WE - BE KA (FEE18) 439
Trade and other receivables, deposits and B 5 REMEWIE -« 12E RIENFIE
prepayment 1,054
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITHEER 927
Accruals FERT IR (20)
2,400
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 9) HEMB AR 2 WS (F1EE9) 1,000
3,400
Satisfied by cash LAIR (B 3,400

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of the disposal of Sky Luck is as follows:

AHEREZRELRESEBMRNF
BT -

HK$’'000

FAT

Cash consideration received BRE 2 RERE 3,400

Cash and bank balances disposed of & 2 & RIRTTHEH (927)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included it AREEZSHFABESTE

in cash flows used in investing activities 2HReRBEEBMRAFE 2,473
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. HEMEB AT (E&)

(d) On 1 December 2016, the Group disposed of its entire d RZZ—RFTZA—RB KEBHEH
equity interest being the entire issued share capital of REZZ 2R A ER(BNEE BT
Central Pearl at a cash consideration of HK$20,000,000. f&7A) - 3] &K {E 420,000,000 7T °

HK$’000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: FTHEZEERE

Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y% -~ B K& (HFE18) 190
Goodwill (note 20) P& (M15E20) 955
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayment B RWHIE - e RIBNFIA 773
Cash and bank balances R e MIRT TR 3,452
Accruals JERT IR (15)
Current tax liability BNEATRIE B & (809)
4,546
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 13) HE—RNB AR 2 W (MFE13) 15,454
20,000
Satisfied by cash LAIR € (B 20,000
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ERHEEZ RS NBESEBYRATEEL

in respect of the disposal of Central Pearl is as follows: ST -
HK$’'000
FAT
Cash consideration received BRE 2R RE 20,000
Cash and bank balances disposed of & 2 & RIRTTHE#H (3,452)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included it AREEZSHFABESRE
in cash flows used in investing activities Z2HReRB2FEMRAFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

37. TRANSACTION WITH NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

On 12 May 2016, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, namely Wise Link, allotted and issued shares
to an independent third party at a cash consideration of
HK$3,500,000, resulting in a dilution of the Group’s interest
in Wise Link from 100% to 51%. The effect of changes in
ownership interest in Wise Link on the equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2016 is summarised as follows:

37. EFERER RS

RIZE—RERAA+ZH  ARFTZEERE
B /B A B %5 4B LA 3,500,000 7T 2 & KRB A
— 2B E=FRBERBETRG  ERAEE
REBEZETE100%HEES1% - HEZZ
—RNF+_A=+—RHLLFE NEEZME
RSB H AR RIRREERE FERE
PUNNE

HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest B FEIE R 2 AR
disposed of (3,433)
Consideration received from non-controlling BUGEERRERE 2 RE
shareholder 3,500
Changes recognised on disposal within equity Rzt N SRR 228 67

38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at specified rate and capped
at HK$1,500 per month per person. The only obligation of the
Group with respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The total contributions payable to the MPF Scheme by the
Group amounted to HK$746,000 (2016: HK$908,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2017, which were recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

38. RIKEFIFTE

AEBRIBEB L F486BRHEATEE A
O ATELRAEREERIANMERE
RtEI([BEEE)) - @RSFTHEERARN
SEEEDHFAE  AXTARINESH
B RIERESAERA - BERERERS
AIIEE LR AR IR BAZARK
ERRB1,5008 T - NEEHLETE S FT &IZA &
g —BERFLRESF &R TATRER
AR - WED L RHK A ARBIRARRER Z
FERHEEK -

HE_ZT—+F+-A=1+—HBILFE  £&
(7] 58 18 & 51 8 JE 15 1O SR 48 58 /5 746,00078
TT(ZZ—7R4% : 908,000/7T) * EREm&
NTER ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &#HZ_—F

—tFtZRA=t—HLFE

39. COMMITMENTS

Operating lease arrangements

(@)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 19) under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms of two years. The terms of the leases also require
the tenants to pay security deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

39. &I
BT
(@) fEBBEA
AEMRRESAETHEELREY
2 (f319) - WEWLME TR AM

F o HERKTRELFPAXNMNRESE ©

RImERAR - REERIBEEER Z A
L EHER TSR 2 RRRIE

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: THERWFIEBRENT
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Within one year —FR 482 636
In the second to fifth years inclusive —EERTF(REEEME) 184 458
666 1,094

As lessee (o) 1EREFMEA

The Group leases its office premises under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office premises are negotiated
for terms ranging from one to three years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEBRBKEHELHERENAE
X -PREVENEEERRANF —E=
o

PEREHAR - AEERET AT REE S AT
BER TP MR KRR GIERE R4
BT

2017 2016

—E—tE —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHxT FAT

Within one year —FR 1,655 2,235
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEFRAF(REEEMTE) 1,178 2,785
2,833 5,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEFR S
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Bira MR EME D PIREEIN - NEE
statements, the Group had the following related party REEZZ—+tFR T —R"F+ZA=1+—
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2017 and ALEFEEUTHEARS
2016:
(@ Transactions with related parties (a) EARFEFEITHNRS
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Subsidiary of an associate: —HBE QB ZWE AR
— Rental expenses (note) — e (M) 84 -
Note: The rental expenses were paid based on the underlying lease Mzt e HIRIEEREE RE T -
agreement.
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the b)) AEEEFZERASME
Group:
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Salaries and short-term employee benefits & & 5 il 8 &7 2,419 4,084
Post-employment benefits EERKET 11 28
2,430 4,112

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 14.

The related party transactions above do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.

LRERET RS W B EE

BREEHIE — S BENME14 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. AP T 2 AR R &
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RBEBARBEAARR T 2B RNEK 2 E R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: Nk
2017 2016
—E—tE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB R R ZFE 20,939 20,939
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Other receivable, deposit and prepayments HbEWETE « e RIENEZIE 664 280
Amounts due from subsidiaries UL BB A R FRIE 136,123 246,054
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 79,889 341
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEEAE 216,676 246,675
CURRENT LIABILITIES REaE
Other payables and accruals HAth FE A 5B K B AT ROE 196 1,568
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERHINE A R ZIE 30,356 12,215
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE - 31,700
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES FEEEHRE 30,552 45,483
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 186,124 201,192
NET ASSETS EEFE 207,063 222 131
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R #E
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 E1#H A FE(L R
Share capital f& < 6,303 5,252
Reserves (note) e (P E) 200,760 216,879
TOTAL EQUITY FESAAEE 207,063 222,131
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved RRABIZWBRARERZZE—NF=H
and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 March 2018 and THANBEEESHERBETBIANUTA
signed on its behalf by: TREEE
Chan Wai Lung Lam Ching Yee
BR1ZEE MHEE
Director Director
Ea EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4. KD F 2 AR R R (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

Note: Bff3E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARRBEZBENT
Share
Share Special options  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R R E HRIfRE BRERAE 2B Mt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
TERT FER TER TERT FER
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(HizE(a)) (M=E(b)) (BitaE(c))
At 1 January 2016 RZE—RF—-HA—-H 34,610 20,938 - (19,180) 36,368
Profit and total comprehensive FREHREERA BT
income for the year - - - 12,368 12,368
Shares issued BETR 172,822 - - - 172,822
Shares issuing expenses MR FEITRZ (6,790) - - - (6,790)
Share-based payments (note 33) LARS 9 32 5 5038 (Fft 5E33) - - 2,111 - 2,111
At 31 December 2016 RZF-R"F+=A=+—H 200,642 20,938 2,111 (6,812 216,879
Loss and total comprehensive FREBELZEBEEE
loss for the year - - - (53,036) (563,036)
Shares issued BEITRG 29,623 - - - 29,623
Shares issuing expenses BRHBEITREZ (984) - - - (984)
Share-based payments (note 33) LARSR 3 A5 5RIA (P 7E33) - = 8,278 = 8,278
Transfer of share options reserve PR AR R R e
upon the expiry of share options RIS - - @,111) 2,111 =
At 31 December 2017 R-B—tF+=B=+—8 229,281 20,938 8,278 (57,737) 200,760
Notes: Bz -
(@)  Share premium arose from the issue of shares at a price greater than (&) BOFEEERSABRMEEZBRETROBE
the par value of the shares and can be utilised for future bonus issue. A N A] FBVER SRAT PR 344 T ©
(b)  Special reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the (b) 45 Bl & 35 A8 15 = 48 BT W B8 2 Infinite Capital
shares of Infinite Capital Ventures Limited acquired pursuant to the Ventures Limited B0 2 A B ERBBA A 5
Reorganisation, over the previous nominal value of the Company’s TN EERR (D 2 B BT 2 B R E N =
shares issued in exchange therefore. E
(c)  Share options reserve arises on the grant of share options to eligible (© FERREGE D ARBZ T MA AR EERE
participants under the Scheme. Further information about share-based BREmMES - BEURM X NRIBE & —Ff
payments is set out in note 33. IEEFAHEE33 o
(d) At 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of reserves available for d RKR-Z—+F+-_A=+—8 A#tEA2aK

distribution to shareholders of the Company was HK$171,544,000
(2016: HK$193,830,000).

RIEH DR 2 E BB A171,544,0008 T (=2
—7N4F © 193,830,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

42. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

43.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

The comparative statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016
has been re-presented as an operation previously presented in
discontinued operations was ceased to be classified as held for

sale (note 13(b)).

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

42, LB EEE

HRERINR LR EXB 2 MEENBOHR
RFEHE (HEE13(0) - BEZE—RF+Z
A=+—BLFERRERRREMEEBA

REEHMET

43. XRBEEMB LB 2FHE

ARBEEZMBARZFHEHIIMT

follows:
Place of Issued/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
MR, g#f7/ RARES
£1 by R Bmbhl TEER
Brilliant Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% (indirect)  Advising on corporate finance
(formerly known as “Nine Rivers
Corporate Finance Limited”)
BACEHEBRAF 90 5,000,000 7T 100% (k) B E MBS
(FIREI AR ERRAR])
China Universal Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Property investment
EHBRAA 0 1008 7T 100% (%) MEHE
Dealmatch.com Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of referral services
and provision of administrative
support to the Group
BFEERAF Bt 100/ 7T 100% (i) REUENRBRAASERME
TS E
DSE Cayman Limited (“DSE”) Cayman Islands Us$10.73 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
DSE Cayman Limited([DSE ) HEHES 10.73% 100% (k) REER
Eagle Networks Company Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
EEREERAT ERERES E 100%(fH8)  REER
Finsoft E-Commerce Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of internet financial
platforms
EFEFEERARAT B 100/ 7T 100% (%)  REEMESRTE
Finsoft Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Money lending
EFERERDA 30 10078 7T 100%(fE#)  fBE
Finsoft FinTech Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
ER ¢ RMRIRE AR AT B 1007 7T 100% (%) wEEK
Finsoft Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect) ~ Securities investments
EHIRE (BE)BRAA 3 10078 7T 100% () EHFRE
Finsoft Investment Limited BVI US$100 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
Finsoft Investment Limited RBEZHS 1003 7T 100% ()  "REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FeMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. AR EEMEA B 2F15(&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Place of Issued/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ML BRfT/ AARES
=L T HERBRA BRLH FTEER
Finsoft Investment Management Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of corporate
Limited investments and management
services
EREERERAA AR 1007 7T 100%(fE#) RECFRERERRB
Gracious Queen Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative
support to the Group
Gracious Queen Limited EREXHS 1% 100%(fE)  MAEERETHE
Golden Spade Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% (indirect)  Securities investments
EBRREBRRT B 18T 100%(f#%) EHFRE
iAsia Online Systems Limited BVI Us$10 100% (indirect)  Development, sale and provision
of financial trading software
solutions
DME ERGERLA EBELRS 103:7T 100%(f#) R HERRESRR I
1 IES
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited BVI US$10,000 100% (direct)  Investment holding
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited EBEZHE 10,000%7T 100%(E#%) HEER
One Rich Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
—EREBRRTA EEEREHS 1%L 100% (%) REER
Prance Solutions Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Development of software
solutions
EmBHARAT RERLES e 100%(f8%) RERERRATER
Wealthy Link Technology Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Development of financial trading
software solutions
BENMBEERDA e BT 100%(f8#%) RELBIIBREBAATR
Well In Technology Development Hong Kong HK$1 100% (indirect)  Development of mobile
Limited e-commerce platform
BENRERERLA e 18T 100%(fE#) HEBBEFEBTA
Winrange Investments Limited BV US$100 100% (direct)  Investment holding
BERERRRNA EBERHS 100%7T 100%(EH) REER
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERHBIARFEESRABEANEBEENEE
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affected HEBEEEEFENARFMNBAR - AAFA
the results or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of EEZRA BHNTHMMBARZFE 8<%
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors of the FHERBRITE -

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above principal subsidiaries of the Group were RNEB LA EEH B R B FEMAKS,BRAL
incorporated/established with limited liability. BBRAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fr & MW R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—Z—+F+=-A=+—HILFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to the
subsidiaries of the Group which have material non-controlling
interests (“NCI”) at the end of the reporting period. The

43. KRR EM B AR 215 (&)

TRV RS RN EEEAEAIIERE
= ([ PFEb R DM ERRINER - TXZ2
52 AHERE RAR RIEM A RIREHEZ

summarised financial information presented below represents S -
the amounts before any inter-company elimination.
DSE Wise Link
DSE BE
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-—A~
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tF | ZE2-RF | ZB—tF | Z2—RF
NCI Percentage R = A D L N/ATE F 75% | N/ATEMA 49%
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FHERT FAET
Current assets MENEE N/ATEHA 1,800 | N/ATEH 5,787
Non-current assets IEMEBEE N/AREH 20,971 | N/ATER 87
Current liabilities mEaE N/ATRE A (213)| N/ATER (2,068)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE N/ATEH - | N/ATEHR -
Net assets AEFH N/ATEH 22,648 | N/ATER 3,806
Carrying amount of NCI IR AR (B N/ATEHR 1,698 | N/ATERA 1,865
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M ¥R MGE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=-ZF—+F+=-A=+—HILLFE

43. KRB E BB LR 2FH15E(E)

(continued)
DSE Wise Link
DSE Ba

Period from Period from Period from

1 January 1 January 12 May

2017 to 2017 to 2016 to

29 March 28 April | 31 December

2017 2016 2017 2016

—E-REF

ZE-tF —E2—t% | AFA+=AZE

—A—HZE —A—HZE ZE-REF

—E—+E —E—tF +—-A

=A=t+AA MA=+N\H =+—H

Hir —E-REF i HAfE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHT TERT FHT

Revenue Uzx - - 4,160 10,561

Profit for the period HREH 379 2,134 662 16,800

Total comprehensive income ZHEM AL 379 2,134 662 16,800

Profit allocated to NCI DT IR R T 28 160 325 8,231

Dividend paid to NCI TR T IEERERR S - - - 9,800
Net cash flows (used in)/from &SN (FR) EEH

operating activities RenE T8 N/ATiE A ©81)| N/ATER 10,090
Net cash flows (used in)/from &S (FTR) ELEH

investing activities Rene T8 N/ATiE A 8,479 N/ATEA 16,439
Net cash flows from/(used in)  BYERBIEA,/(FTH)H)

financing activities Rene T8 N/ATiE A 2,960 N/ATE A (22,500)
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
i/ E 331

31 December 2017 —ZE—+F+=-A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREYEE

Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group

wE Rz B REE AL R

Shop No. 53 & 56, G/F., Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Commercial Centre,
Fullview Garden,
No. 18 Siu Sai Wan Road,
Hong Kong

B/ TEE185E BES hHITEE 100%
ER{tEERES

53 &% 5655 &

Shop No. 54 & 57, G/F., Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Commercial Centre,
Fullview Garden,
No. 18 Siu Sai Wan Road,
Hong Kong

B/ P2 E 18R BES hERTEE 100%
EREEESES

54 &% 575548
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements/prospectus,

is set out below.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMEBEE

AEERNBEREAMBRFEZEEREE BER
SR (R E B TIBRERVBRR A

R HIUT -

RESULTS E4
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1+-BiLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
-t of -3 ZERF “T-RF —E-mE —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL TAET THEL FiER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BECEER
Revenue Yk 56,885 58,537 49916 51,334 33,155
Cost of sales SHERAK (15,382) (15,192) (12,352) (10,954) (9,243
Gross profit £F 41,503 43,345 37,564 40,380 23,912
Other income HElA 91 7 53 219 66
Other gains and losses Hib iz REE (25,146) (990) (5,394) (337) 167
Administrative expenses GEET (41,962) (41,990) (37,590) (26,224) (14,634)
Finance costs BB (978) (6,761) (8,685) - -
Share of (losses)/profits BRI E AR (EB),/
of associates piedil (5,397) 2,976 (125) 6) (1)
Share of loss of a joint venture [EfE—fAaerfERE (19,202) (3,489) - - -
Listing expenses il - - - - (8,064)
(Loss)/profit before tax FeBAl (B1R), /R (51,091) (6,902) (14,177) 14,032 1446
Income tax expense FiERET (3,309) (3,498) 2,729) 2,713 (2,018)
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBELEEBER
continuing operations (518) /&7 (54,400) (10,400) (16,906) 11,319 (572)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ~ B&IHE&%HK
Profit for the year from REBRIHEEETHE
discontinued operations F &R 8,250 20,799 637 - -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FORTHE YEAR  F (&) /%7 (46,150) 10,399 (16,269) 11,319 (572)
(Loss)/profit for the year EEFER(ER),/
attributable to: wR
Owners of the Company AREHEEA (46,503) 2,008 (15,896) 11,319 (571)
Non-controling interests IFERER 353 8,391 (373) - (1)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFEMBGEBE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BE  BENFERES

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E-tF ZERE —Z-1f —Z-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAT TAT TET THET
Total assets BEBE 245,064 295,893 184,610 82,772 62,155
Total liabilities BERSE 37,290 69,504 138,836 22,505 13,208
Non-controlling interests IR - 3,563 1,214 - -

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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